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About This Report

Content

The SAP Integrated Report 2022 presents our annual financial, social, and environmental performance
in one integrated report (“SAP Integrated Report”) available at www.sapintegratedreport.com.

We report on our contribution to the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and embedded the
recommended disclosures of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), of the
SASB standards, and of the World Economic Forum (WEF) stakeholder capitalism metrics.

Basis of Presentation

Our combined management report is prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code
and the relevant German Accounting Standards. The combined management report is also a
management commentary complying with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Practice Statement Management Commentary.

The report encompasses SAP SE and all subsidiaries which we control and, hence, include in our
consolidated financial statement according to IFRS. Joint arrangements and associates are not
included in the sustainability reporting. Any further deviations for the sustainability reporting are
specifically mentioned in the respective chapters. Our executive management has confirmed the
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting.

The social and environmental data and information included in the SAP Integrated Report is prepared
in accordance with the GRI Standards. This indicates that a report contains a comprehensive picture
of its material topics and related impacts, and how these are managed. We apply the GRI principles
(sustainability context, stakeholder inclusiveness, materiality, and completeness) for defining report
content. We also report on SDGs identified as material to our strategy.

Greenhouse gas data is prepared based on the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

Data

All financial and non-financial data and information for the reporting period is reported utilizing SAP
software solutions and sourced from the responsible business units.

The reporting period is fiscal year 2022. The report encompasses SAP SE and all subsidiaries of the
SAP Group. To make this report as current as possible, we have included relevant information
available up to the auditor’s opinion dated February 22, 2023. The report is available in English and
German.

Independent Audit and Assurance

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft has audited our consolidated financial statements and our
combined management report. Information relating to the non-financial statement included in SAP’s
management report has been audited with limited assurance by KPMG. Additionally, KPMG has
provided assurance on selected sustainability information in accordance with the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000, a pertinent standard for the assurance of
sustainability reporting. The Independent Auditor's Report and the Assurance Reports of KPMG for the
non-financial statement and selected sustainability information are available in the /ndependent
Audlitor's Report section, the /ndependent Assurance Practitioner's Report and the Assurance Report
of the Independent Auditor regarding Sustainability Information section.
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Concept and Realization

This report was designed by SAP and created with SAP S/4HANA software and the SAP Disclosure
Management application.
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Letter from the CEO

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

It's hard to summarize the year 2022 in a few words — as the pandemic continued, the world also
faced new and unexpected challenges, such as the terrible war in Ukraine, that hugely impacted all of
our lives. We have faced conflicts and geopolitical tensions, climate change, the energy crisis,
inflation, and volatile markets. Yet, once again, we have seen solidarity in times of crisis — people
coming together to provide support to those in need when it mattered most. Despite the ongoing
uncertainties in the world, SAP has remained in a strong position.

2022 marked the 50th anniversary of SAP, which we celebrated together with our customers, partners,
and colleagues across the world. Five decades ago, our founders set out to redefine business
software and in doing so, forever changed the way the world runs. Their innovative thinking,
pioneering spirit, and drive laid the foundation for the rise of SAP — and they are still the basis for our
success today, as we are carrying their legacy forward to drive positive change for our planet and its
people — something that has never been more relevant or important than today.

Our hearts remain with the people impacted by the war in Ukraine. As announced, SAP has stopped
all sales in Russia and Belarus, and we are in the process of a total withdrawal from these markets.
For 2023, while business wind-down continues, our focus is on further reducing the remaining SAP
footprint in Russia. We hope for the swift restoration of peace and will continue to help those affected
by this war.

7/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

The last year was a stark reminder that no one business, government, or society can tackle the
greatest challenges of our time alone. For that, a change is needed, and technology plays a key role in
finding solutions to our global challenges.

Over two years ago, we embarked on our transformation journey to move SAP towards a cloud
company. This, together with our vision to enable every organization and every industry to become a
network of intelligent, sustainable enterprises, is perfectly aligned with the challenges our customers
face. From increasing speed and agility, building transparent and resilient supply chains, and
recording, reporting, and acting on sustainability, our solutions provide the value our customers need:

— With RISE with SAP, we enable organizations to become agile, intelligent enterprises.

— With the SAP Business Network, we connect millions of companies, allowing organizations to
benefit from connected networks.

— With our SAP sustainability solutions, we enable organizations to truly operate sustainably.

Looking at our financial numbers, we met all of our outlook metrics in 2022. Our strong full-year 2022
results at a glance:

— Cloud revenue continued to be our main growth driver, increasing by 24%?.

— Current cloud backlog increased by 24%*.

— Total revenue grew 5%?.

— IFRS Operating profit was flat, while non-IFRS operating profit decreased by 7%?.
— Free cash flow was €4.35 billion.

2022 was a volatile year on the market, with technology stocks particularly hard hit. Our shares were
not immune from this overall trend. Our share price decreased 22.8% in 2022, below the DAX, which
lost 12.4%, but better than the NASDAQ 100, which decreased 33% over the course of the year. We
want our shareholders to participate in our success. Therefore, we have proposed an annual dividend
of €2.05 per share?, an increase of approximately 5% over the prior year's regular dividend.

Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS) decreased 7 points year over year to 3 in 2022, hitting the lower
end of the revised outlook range. SAP's Employee Engagement Index decreased 3 percentage points
to 80%, a continued high level of engagement at the low end of the revised outlook range. The
software as a service-industry scores overall have declined over the past few years of the pandemic.
SAP continues to get feedback about needed improvements around pricing increases, licensing
structure, product-related topics, support, service and stability of account team relationships. This type
of transparent feedback and accountability helps provide us with the information to better focus
investments and further improve our customer relationships. SAP’s retention rate was 92.3% (2021:
92.8%). Further, the proportion of women in management increased to 29.4% (2021: 28.3%) and we
also reached 35% of women in the workforce. Net carbon emissions continued to decrease, at 85
kilotons in 2022, down 25 kt year over year.

In addition to driving our ESG goals internally, we also take our wider social and environmental
responsibility very seriously:

— In total, SAP donated more than €4.2 million to support Ukraine in cooperation with organizations
such as UNICEF, UNHCR, and the German Red Cross. This includes our employee donation
campaign which became SAP’s largest employee donation campaign to date.

— SAP extended its partnership with UNICEF through Generation Unlimited (GenU), focusing on
employability. The partnership also supports SAP Educate to Employ, a new program educating

1 At constant currencies
2 Pending approval of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
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youth in need on soft skills, foundational knowledge, and SAP skills to enable a pathway to a
successful career in the SAP ecosystem.

— Together with partners, we launched the TRANSFORM Support Hub offering virtual pro bono
consulting opportunities worldwide, connecting SAP employees to social enterprises.

Net-net: We believe that together with our customers, colleagues, and partners around the world, we
can turn the world’s greatest challenges into opportunities for a prosperous and greener future. 2022
was one of the most important years in our history. As we head into 2023, we are committed to further
optimizing and improving our business. We are deepening our focus on delivering lifetime value to
current and new customers in the cloud and on high-growth opportunities where SAP can lead.
Across SAP, we are laying the foundation for SAP’s ongoing success, expanding our position as the #1
Enterprise Application company on the planet, powered by our leading platform.

Finally, | want to express my deepest thanks for your continuous trust in SAP. | certainly look back on
2022 with pride and gratitude for the many ways SAP’s teams around the world are making a
difference. I'm very much looking forward to 2023, and the great achievements our over 100,000
colleagues will continue to deliver as we pursue our vision to enable every organization and every
industry to become a network of intelligent, sustainable enterprises.

Sincerely,

Christian Klein

CEO, SAP SE
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SAP Executive Board

Christian Klein
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Joined SAP: 1999
Appointed to the Executive Board: 2018

Current Executive Board term expires: 2025
Nationality: German
Year of Birth: 1980

Other board memberships:
Supervisory Board, adidas AG, Herzogenaurach, Germany

Sabine Bendiek
Chief People & Operating Officer, Labor Relations Director

Joined SAP: 2021

Appointed to the Executive Board: 2021
Current Executive Board term expires: 2023
Nationality: German

Year of Birth: 1966

Other board memberships: Executive Board, Bitkom e.V., Berlin, Germany;
Supervisory Board, Schaeffler AG, Herzogenaurach, Germany

Luka Mucic
Chief Financial Officer

Joined SAP: 1996

Appointed to the Executive Board: 2014
Current Executive Board term expires: 2023
Nationality: German

Year of Birth: 1971

Other board memberships:
Supervisory Board, HeidelbergCement AG, Heidelberg, Germany
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Dr.-Ing. Juergen Mueller
Chief Technology Officer

Joined SAP: 2013

Appointed to the Executive Board: 2019
Current Executive Board term expires: 2024
Nationality: German

Year of Birth: 1982

Scott Russell
Customer Success

Joined SAP: 2010

Appointed to the Executive Board: 2021
Current Executive Board term expires: 2024
Nationality: Australian

Year of Birth: 1973

Thomas Saueressig
SAP Product Engineering

Joined SAP: 2004

Appointed to the Executive Board: 2019
Current Executive Board term expires: 2025
Nationality: German

Year of Birth: 1985

Other board memberships:
Board of Directors, Nokia Corporation, Espoo, Finland

Julia White
Chief Marketing & Solutions Officer

Joined SAP: 2021

Appointed to the Executive Board: 2021
Current Executive Board term expires: 2024
Nationality: U.S. citizen

Year of Birth: 1973
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Investor Relations

Multiple Crises Dampen Markets

After more than one and a half decades, the era of cheap money came to a faster and more drastic
end in 2022 than originally planned. This was mainly attributable to Russia’s war in Ukraine with all its
consequences for the world economy, notably in the form of sharply rising energy and commaodity
prices and unusually high inflation. Companies, national economies, and stock markets alike found
themselves facing difficult adjustments and uncertainty. This was exacerbated by aggressive interest
rate hikes by the world’s central banks that repeatedly triggered fears of recession and generally
curbed appetite for risky investments such as equities. While this was particularly evident in previously
highly valued technology stocks, many other stock indices also suffered significant losses amid high
volatility. In the end, however, SAP stock development diverged from the general negative trend for
technology stocks thanks to the Company’s strong performance. The SAP stock, with an annual
decline of 22.8%, finished the year higher than the NASDAQ 100 (-33.0%), which had its worst
performance since the 2008 financial crisis. The DAX declined 12.4% for the year and stated its
weakest performance since 2018. With a market capitalization of €118.5 billion at year end, SAP was
once again the second most valuable company on the DAX.

SAP Stock Affected by Market Sentiment

Having started the year at €124.90 (1, see graphic below), the Xetra closing price on
December 30, 2021, SAP stock largely followed the global downward trend in the technology sector,
marking its high for the year early on at €124.82 (2).

Publication of our annual results (3), could not reverse this trend, despite exceeding the forecast
which had been raised several times, bringing instead a daily loss of 6%. The market had hoped for a
better free cash flow projection for the year. Our subsequent announcement of a renewed dividend
increase (4) was lost on the weak overall market as well due to the outbreak of war in Ukraine. In
March (5), investors reacted negatively to the news of SAP CFO Luka Mucic’s departure from the
Company in 2023.

Our first-quarter figures for 2022 (6) later reaffirmed strong growth in our cloud business, yet SAP
stock declined 2.0% in response to investors criticizing the low profit margins related to our
investment activity. Though it quickly recovered the ex-dividend markdown of €2.45 in May (7), SAP
stock then suffered another setback at the end of June, losing 3.6% on the heels of a negative analyst
report that saw potential demand risks in the software sector due to the manifold crises.

Our half-year results published in July (8) showed strong growth in cloud key figures, once again
underpinned our growth strategy. SAP stock nevertheless slipped 2.8% in a heterogenous market
environment before eventually rebounding the following day with an increase of 4.4%.

Over the remainder of the quarter, SAP stock more or less mirrored the movement of the DAX. At the
end of August, the appointment of Airbus’ CFO Dominik Asam (9) as future SAP CFO and successor
to Luka Mucic lifted the share price slightly in a weak overall market. This was followed by further dips
and a yearly low (10) of €81.06 in September, but SAP stock rallied back to eventually close the gap
to the benchmark indices. Among other things, it benefited from improved sentiment for the
technology sector overall as well as for SAP shares.

Continuing to display this relative strength through October, SAP shares gained further momentum at
the end of the month following a positive analyst report and solid results for the third quarter (11),
which set SAP stock further apart from the overall market. Surprisingly good U.S. inflation data
stimulated the bull market in technology stocks in November, pushing SAP stock past the €100 mark
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for the first time since April. It reached an interim high of €107.68 before then realigning itself to the
overall markets, albeit weighed down by a negative analyst report suggesting SAP'’s strict cost control
could jeopardize the achievement of its medium-term targets. Then, in the middle of December, the
central banks dashed nascent market hopes about interest rates, putting renewed pressure primarily
on technology stocks again. SAP stock was not immune and lost all the ground it had gained vis-a-vis
the DAX. The stock ultimately closed the year at €96.39 (12), down 22.8% for 2022 overall.

SAP Stock Versus Major Indices (December 31, 2021 to December 30, 2022)

percent === SAP Stock (Xetra) === DAX 40 Performanceindex (Xetra) === NASDAQ 100 Index
105
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Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May June July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec.

1. December 30, 2021 Closing price €124.90 7. May 19, 2022 Ex dividend, €2.45 per share

2. January 5, 2022 Annual high 8. July 21, 2022 Financial results Q2 2022

3. January 27, 2022 Final results Q4 / Full year 2021 9.  August 31, 2022 Dominik Asam named new CFO

4. February 24, 2022 Dividend announcement 10. September 23, 2022 Annual low 2022

5. March 18, 2022 CFO announcement 11. October 25, 2022 Financial results Q3 2022

6. April 22, 2022 Financial results Q1 2022 12. December 30, 2022 Closing price €96.39

Continuous Engagement with the Investment Community

SAP continued its engagement with the investment community in 2022. Throughout the year,
members of the Executive Board of SAP SE and the Investor Relations (IR) team discussed our latest
strategy, its execution and business development, and how SAP was helping customers meet the
many challenges faced by companies today, with institutional investors, analysts, and private investors
worldwide.

The IR team, together with senior management, held more than 230 meetings in 2022 to maintain the
dialogue with investors and analysts, including one-on-one phone calls, video conferences, and road
shows. Members of the Executive Board and the IR team significantly increased its presence at
conferences, attending more than 25 conferences across an expanded geographical mix. In May, we
hosted the Financial Analyst Conference as a part of our Sapphire event in Orlando, Florida, USA.
Once again, SAP held the 2022 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM) virtually without
physical presence.
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We continued our dialogue with investors focusing on environmental, social and governance (ESG)
topics, providing them with insights into our sustainability policies and products. SAP’s leadership in
this area has been recognized by leading sustainability rating organizations.

SAP representatives engaged with retail shareholders at virtual events. The IR team and the Treasury
team also maintained regular communication with the debt investor community.

We provide a wide range of information online about SAP and its shares. Our communications
channels include our Twitter feed @sapinvestor and the quarterly SAP INVESTOR magazine.
Shareholders can reach the IR team directly by telephone hotline and by e-mail at investor@sap.com.
We also publish an overview of the latest analyst consensus on the Investor Relations Web site.

In addition, we provide a Webcast for all key investor events at which members of our Executive
Board speak, and we post all relevant presentations on the Investor Relations Web site.

Key Facts About SAP Stock/ISAP ADRs

Listings
Germany Berlin, Frankfurt, Stuttgart
United States (ADRs) New York Stock Exchange

IDs and symbols

WKN/ISIN 716460/DE0007164600
NYSE (ADRs) 803054204 (CUSIP)
Reuters SAPG.F or .DE
Bloomberg SAP GR

Weight (%) in indexes as at 12/31/2022!

DAX 40 8.47
Prime All Share 6.95
CDAX 8.28
HDAX 7.38
TecDax 9.81
Dow Jones STOXX 50 2.17
Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50 3.48

! Source: Société Générale

Return on SAP Common Stock — WKN 716460/ISIN DE007164600

Percent, unless otherwise stated

Initial investment €10,000

Date of investment 12/31/2012 12/31/2017 12/31/2021
Period of investment 10 years 5 years 1 year
Value as at 12/31/2022* (in €) 15,882 10,315 7,717
Average annual return 4.7 0.6 -22.8

Performance comparators
DAX 40 Performance —

total return index 6.2 L5 -12.3
NASDAQ100 index 15.2 11.3 -33.0
REX Genere?l Bond — 0.7 15 _12.8
total return index

S&P 500 Cqmposne — 12.7 10.0 _14.4
total return index

S&P North American 178 13.4 _31.8

Technology Software Index

Source: Bloomberg
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Return on SAP ADRs — 803054204 (CUSIP)

Percent, unless otherwise stated

Initial investment US$10,000

Date of investment 12/31/2012 12/31/2017 12/31/2021
Period of investment 10 years 5 years 1 year
Value at 12/31/2022* (in US$) 12,838 9,184 7,365
Average annual return 2.5 -1.7 -26.4

Performance comparators

S&P 500 Composite —
total return index

10.4 7.5 -19.4

NASDAQ100 index 15.2 11.3 -33.0

! Source: Bloomberg

Dividend of €2.05 Proposed

It is our policy to pay a dividend totaling 40% or more of IFRS profit after tax.

At the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of
SAP SE will recommend a total dividend for fiscal year 2022 of €2.05 (2021: €2.45). Note the prior
year dividend included a special dividend of €0.50 to celebrate SAP’s 50th anniversary. Excluding the
special dividend, the dividend increase is 5%. The payout ratio would be 140% (2021: 53%, excluding
special dividend 43%).

0,50 2,05
1,85

1,10 1,10 115

M 0,85 1,95
0,60

046 0.50 050 050
036
028

0,70
0,15 0.20

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Capital Stock Unchanged

SAP's capital stock as at December 31, 2022, was €1,228,504,232 (2020: €1,228,504,232). It is issued
as 1,228,504,232 no-par shares, each with an attribute value of €1 in relation to capital stock.
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Shareholder Structure

Applying the definition accepted on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, which excludes treasury stock from
the free float, as at December 31, 2022, the free float stood at 83.3% (December 31, 2021: 85%). The
decrease in free float is due to an increase in treasury shares as a result of the recent share buyback
programs.

Institutional
Investors*

United Kingdom /
Europe (ex Germany) Ireland
16 % 13 %

Founders
Retail / Not identified 21 % 12 %

. Rest of Treasury
North America 24 % Germany 6 % World 3 % 5%

*43% of institutional investors are classified as ESG investors.
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Report by the Supervisory
Board

Dear Shareholders,

In the following, we would like to inform you about the work of the Supervisory Board in the fiscal year
2022.

Collaboration Between the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board of SAP SE discharged the duties imposed on it by the
law and by the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. It advised the Executive Board on an ongoing
basis with regard to the running of the Company and it scrutinized and monitored the work of
management.

The Supervisory Board received regular, full, and timely reports from the Executive Board, both from
members in person and in written documents. The Supervisory Board was also in regular exchange
with senior internal officers through its various committees. This ensured that we were always up to
date, even between meetings, on the Company’s strategy, planning, business performance, risks, risk
management, compliance (in other words, adherence to laws, to the Company's Articles of
Incorporation, and to internal policies), and on transactions of special significance for SAP. In its
reports, the Executive Board also informed us in particular where business deviated from plan or
target, and why. We questioned and probed the Executive Board’s reports to satisfy ourselves that the
information it gave us was plausible. The Executive Board fully met our requirements when it came to
providing information.

In addition, the Supervisory Board chairperson and the CEO were in continuous contact, which meant
the Supervisory Board chairperson was always apprised without delay of all important events that
were significant for assessing SAP's situation and progress or for the management and governance of
the Company. Moreover, the chairperson of the Supervisory Board and the CEO regularly discussed
matters related to SAP’s strategy, business performance, risk position, risk management, and
compliance.

All management transactions requiring approval by the Supervisory Board whether by law, the Articles
of Incorporation, or the Supervisory Board’s list of transactions requiring its consent were presented to
us in the proper manner and we carefully examined and discussed same with the Executive Board
prior to approval.

Supervisory Board Meetings and Resolutions

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board of SAP SE held four ordinary meetings and three
extraordinary meetings at which we deliberated and resolved on all matters of relevance to the
Company. Due to the ongoing contact restrictions and other safety measures imposed on us as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we continued to partly conduct our plenary meetings and
Committee meetings, which are normally held as physical meetings, in 2022 as video conferences or
as hybrid sessions, where some members attended physically and the remainder online. We also
adopted nine resolutions by correspondence vote. The following table provides an overview of the
individual members’ attendance at the Supervisory Board's plenary sessions and committee meetings
in the year under review. This report also contains a table that shows which meetings of the
Supervisory Board and its committees were held as a physical meeting, as a video or telephone
conference, or as a hybrid session.
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Meeting Participation of SAP SE Supervisory Board Members During Fiscal Year 2022

Plenum Committees All Meetings

Supervisory Board Members Meetings Participation Meetings Participation Meetings Participation Ragticipationlin

%
Prof. Dr. h. c. Hasso Plattner (Chairperson) 7 7 14 12 21 19 90%
Lars Lamadé (Deputy Chairperson) 7 7 14 14 21 21 100%
Manuela Asche-Holstein 7 6 11 11 18 17 94%
Aicha Evans 7 6 14 13 21 19 90%
Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost 7 7 10 10 17 17 100%
Margret Klein-Magar 7 6 20 20 27 26 96%
Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova 7 7 14 14 21 21 100%
Peter Lengler 7 7 18 18 25 25 100%
Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li (from 5/18/2022) 2 2 11 11 13 13 100%
Bernard Liautaud (until 5/18/2022) 5 3 6 4 11 7 64%
Dr. Qi Lu 7 6 10 10 17 16 94%
Gerhard Oswald 7 7 14 14 21 21 100%
Christine Regitz 7 7 21 21 28 28 100%
Dr. Friederike Rotsch 7 7 18 18 25 25 100%
Heike Steck 7 7 21 21 28 28 100%
Helmut Stengele* 7 7 n/a nla 7 7 100%
Dr. Rouven Westphal 7 7 23 23 30 30 100%
Gunnar Wiedenfels 7 6 21 19 28 25 89%
James Wright 7 7 25 25 32 32 100%

1 Currently not a member of any Supervisory Board committee

The Supervisory Board and its committees also regularly convened wholly or partly without the
Executive Board as necessary to deliberate on matters that pertained to the Executive Board, required
internal discussion among Supervisory Board members alone or did not require the Executive Board's
presence, or to facilitate discussion between the Supervisory Board or its respective committee and
the auditor without the Executive Board present. This was the case in two of the plenary sessions and
in six committee meetings in 2022. In addition, the shareholder representatives and the employee
representatives independently discussed individual agenda items as required prior to the adoption of
resolutions in plenary sessions. The Supervisory Board addressed the following key topics during the
year:

Russia’s War Against Ukraine

Like the rest of the world, SAP's Supervisory Board members were shocked, shaken, and dismayed by
the events that unfolded in Ukraine in 2022. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board have liaised
closely from the outset to discuss the impact of the war on SAP employees in Ukraine and on
business activities there, as well as the implementation of sanctions. At the beginning of the war, the
Supervisory Board was updated weekly on the latest developments. Though SAP implemented all
sanctions levied against Russia, and additionally stopped all sales in Russia and Belarus effective
March 2, 2022, it was still criticized publicly by the Ukrainian government. The Supervisory Board
therefore held an extraordinary meeting on March 25, 2022, at which the CEO updated us on his talks
with German and other European government representatives and the Deputy Prime Minister of
Ukraine concerning this matter. In addition, the Executive Board explained to us the measures SAP
had taken toward an exit of operations in Russia and the options available for the way ahead.
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Numerous Supervisory Board committees focused on this topic as well: at the People and Culture
Committee’s meeting at the end of March 2022, the Executive Board member responsible for HR
matters reported on the status of SAP’s exit from Russia and how the Company was supporting
affected employees and their families in Ukraine. The Audit and Compliance Committee discussed
the risks that Russia’s war against Ukraine posed for SAP. The exit process initiated by the Executive
Board had to be continually adapted to the ever-stricter sanctions and Russia’s corresponding
countermeasures. In each of our ordinary meetings in April, July, and October, we had the opportunity
to review the implementation of the Executive Board's chosen strategy for an orderly exit and to
support the Executive Board in its efforts. The Go-To-Market and Operations Committee likewise
examined the exit approach in its April meeting and thereafter reported on its deliberations to the full
Supervisory Board. When implementing the exit measures, SAP had to observe complex legal
requirements, particularly when it came to the termination of customer and employee contracts. In the
October meeting, we were informed that SAP’s exit from Russia would be largely but not fully
completed by the end of the year.

Corporate Governance

The Supervisory Board and its Personnel and Governance Committee dealt in-depth with corporate
governance topics in the reporting year. The Supervisory Board chairperson held discussions with
investors as early as the beginning of March 2022 on the topics of strategy and corporate governance.
The Supervisory Board's focus was on efforts to take account of the views of our institutional investors
concerning the independence of the Supervisory Board chairperson, and to comply with the new
recommendations of the updated German Corporate Governance Code (“GCGC"), which came into
effect on April 28, 2022.

When the Personnel and Governance Committee met on February 9, 2022, in preparation for the
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on May 18, 2022, and the proposed reelection there of the
Supervisory Board chairperson for his last term in office, it deliberated on the creation of a Lead
Independent Director (“LID”) role on the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board subsequently
approved the creation of this role in its meeting on February 23, 2022, and Friederike Rotsch was
appointed SAP’s LID effective May 18, 2022. While the role of LID is still rather uncommon in
Germany, the Supervisory Board'’s introduction of same further strengthens the independence of the
SAP Supervisory Board. For more information about the role and powers of an LID, see the Corporate
Governance section of SAP’s Web site and the Corporate Governance Statement for 2023. One of the
first activities of our new LID was a Corporate Governance Roadshow in September 2022 at which
Friederike Rotsch met with 17 SAP investors and members of a shareholder association to talk about
governance and supervisory board-related topics and share ideas for reworking executive board
compensation systems. She reported on the results of this Roadshow to the Supervisory Board in
October. As a further measure to strengthen its independence — the Supervisory Board chair having
previously also stepped down as chairperson of the Personnel and Governance Committee in 2021 —
a shareholder representative newly elected to the Nomination Committee was appointed chair of that
Committee pursuant to a Supervisory Board resolution of February 23, 2022.

In its meeting on July 27, 2022, the Personal and Governance Committee focused on the new GCGC
recommendations and resolved to propose that the Supervisory Board introduce a “qualification
matrix” for the Supervisory Board and amend the profile of skills and expertise by including expertise
on sustainability. The Supervisory Board adopted this proposal by way of a circular correspondence
vote in August 2022 in preparation for its October 27, 2022, meeting, at which the Supervisory Board
examined the new GCGC recommendations and SAP’s implementation of them. Following this
analysis, the Supervisory Board then adopted, in agreement with the Executive Board, the annual
declaration of implementation of the GCGC. The Supervisory Board also dealt with the topic of
independence at our October meeting under the agenda item Corporate Governance. Based on the
findings from our own examination, we determined that all shareholder representatives were
independent in the meaning of the GCGC and were therefore to be named as such in the Corporate
Governance Statement. \We also resolved on what we believe to be the appropriate number of
independent shareholder representative members, and determined that the Supervisory Board has an
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appropriate number of independent members in the meaning of the GCGC, also when the
shareholder structure is taken into account.

In its ordinary meetings in April and July 2022, the Personnel and Governance Committee updated
the list of transaction categories for which the Executive Board must obtain the Supervisory Board's
prior consent. The Supervisory Board then enacted the prepared changes by way of correspondence
vote in August. The Supervisory Board at this time also decided to set itself the goal of always having
at least two women on the Executive Board on a voluntary basis, over and above the statutory quota.
In this connection, the diversity concept for the Executive Board was adjusted accordingly.

Sustainability

Sustainability is becoming an increasingly important topic in many areas of business, including
corporate governance. The current version of the GCGC published on April 28, 2022, includes a
recommendation that company management consider sustainability-related factors in their corporate
planning. Sustainability is already deeply anchored in SAP’s corporate strategy, and from the
Supervisory Board's point of view, this is proving to be a great advantage for the Company. SAP
achieves its sustainability objectives in two different ways: by enabling companies to pursue their own
sustainability strategies by way of SAP products, and by leading by example and striving for
sustainability in all of its own business operations. In 2022, the Supervisory Board devoted
considerable time discussing SAP’s sustainability objectives and the increased demands placed on
sustainability-related tasks. In addition, ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) issues were
addressed by various committees from different perspectives: By the Audit and Compliance
Committee notably in connection with sustainability reporting, the audit of sustainability metrics, and
the monitoring of cybersecurity matters; by the Personnel and Governance Committee in the context
of sustainability targets relevant to Executive Board compensation; by the Technology and Strategy
Committee with respect to sustainability-related products and software as well as IT security; and by
the People and Culture Committee in addressing sustainability as it relates to social issues. Given this
range of sustainable corporate management at SAP, which provides for coverage of all areas by
several committees, the Supervisory Board has waived the need to set up a committee dedicated
purely to ESG or sustainability matters. The Supervisory Board likewise dealt with SAP’s sustainability
strategy and consulted the Executive Board on their goals, targets, and implementation. To this end, in
our meeting on October 27, an external expert expounded the growing significance of sustainability in
the corporate world and outlined the tasks of a supervisory board in this regard. Following this report,
SAP’s Chief Sustainability Officer explained the two elements of SAP’s sustainability strategy to us,
namely: to lead by good example and strive to avoid waste and emissions as much as possible while
at the same time enable other companies to pursue their own sustainability strategies with the help of
SAP technologies. We were also updated on SAP’s current lineup of sustainability products at this
meeting. In December 2022, the members of the Supervisory Board had the opportunity to further
deepen their sustainability know-how in the course described later in this report (see the “Training and
Professional Development” section below).

Executive Board Compensation

In the course of our regular deliberations on Executive Board compensation and our continuous
review of the current compensation system, we came to the conclusion that there is a need to further
develop the compensation system. In fiscal 2022, we therefore worked intensively on revising the
Executive Board compensation system, which is to be submitted to the Annual General Meeting in
May 2023 for approval and take effect at the beginning of fiscal 2024. We did so in close collaboration
with an independent consultant on compensation, taking special account of external feedback from
investors in our deliberations. The groundwork for this new system was carried out by the Personnel
and Governance Committee, which dealt extensively with this topic in all of its four ordinary meetings
and developed the principles of the new compensation system together with the independent
consultant on compensation and further experts both internal and external. The Committee reported
regularly to the plenum on the status of the project and consulted with the full Supervisory Board on
fundamental issues. In addition, the Committee chair, in her capacity as LID, gathered feedback on
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specific structural considerations for the new system from the investors she met at the Corporate
Governance Roadshow in September. The Supervisory Board and its Personnel and Governance
Committee then took this feedback into account in their decision-making and development of the new
compensation system. At its meeting in October, the Supervisory Board discussed at length the new
compensation concept as presented to us, comparing its parameters with those customary in
executive board compensation in Germany and elsewhere. Concluding the discussion, we approved
the proposed concept, based on which a detailed compensation system was then drafted. The
plenum subsequently approved the detailed draft by correspondence vote in December 2022 on the
recommendation of the Personnel and Governance Committee.

At our ordinary Supervisory Board meeting on February 20, 2022, we adopted the resolutions required
under the current Executive Board compensation package for fiscal 2021 and 2022. We first
determined performance against the defined target for the short-term incentive (STI) 2021, and then
set the performance targets for the STI 2022. In addition, we resolved the individual allocation amount
for the 2022 tranche of the long-term incentive 2020 (LTI 2020). Finally, we evaluated the
appropriateness of the Executive Board members' compensation for 2022, and in each case found it
to be appropriate in terms of amount, structure, objective criteria, and reasonable and appropriate in
relation to the Company's circumstances, including its profit and outlook. We referred in this regard to
a certificate obtained beforehand from an independent compensation consultant.

For more information about the STI 2021 and 2022, the LTI 2020, and the other elements of the
Executive Board compensation, see the Compensation Report.

Other key topics addressed at our meetings in 2022 notably included the following:
Extraordinary Meeting in February

At our extraordinary meeting on February 5, 2022, we dealt with SAP’s communication with the
financial markets. We were concerned about the negative market reactions to our quarterly results of
late and therefore discussed the reasons for such reaction as well as future changes to SAP’s
financial market communication.

Meeting in February (Meeting to Discuss the Financial Statements)

In the plenary session on February 23, 2022, we received an Executive Board report on business in
2021 and adopted the budget for 2022 after discussing same extensively with the Executive Board. In
addition, we turned our attention to the SAP SE financial statements and the consolidated financial
statements for 2021 The Supervisory Board approved the audit and gave its consent to the financial
statements and the consolidated financial statements for 2021 as well as the compensation system as
presented to us. We endorsed the Executive Board's proposal concerning the appropriation of
retained earnings for 2021, in accordance with the Audit and Compliance Committee's
recommendation to us, and subsequently passed the proposed resolutions for the SAP SE Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders on May 18, 2022. In particular, this included approving the proposal
to the Annual General Meeting concerning the election of an auditor for 2022 and 2023 taking the
upcoming change in auditor into account, and the adjustment of Supervisory Board compensation.
The decision on the recommendation regarding the election of the auditors was preceded by a review
by the Audit and Compliance Committee of the proposed auditors' independence, qualifications, and
quality of work. In addition, the Executive Board gave us an overview of the Company’s equity
investments in 2021 and SAP’s donation activities.

Extraordinary Meeting in March

On March 18, 2022, we agreed with Luka Mucic to end his Executive Board appointment contract
prematurely with effect from March 31, 2023.

Meeting in April

The focus of our meeting on April 14, 2022, was SAP’s profitability in its various areas of operation, the
forecast operating margin, and planned investments.
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Meeting in July

When we met on July 29, 2022, the Executive Board reported on the significant developments in the
second quarter and gave an account of the current difficult macroeconomic situation. We also
consulted with the Executive Board on the status of important projects with respect to specific
products and improving SAP’s performance. An ongoing cross-Company portfolio check had revealed
that SAP’s Litmos business, an established learning and education platform, partially overlapped
some of SAP’s other offerings. We therefore approved, on recommendation of the Finance and
Investment Committee, the proposed sale of the Litmos business to Francisco Partners, a tech-sector
investor based in the United States. The Executive Board then outlined its strategy for collaborating
with the venture capital firm Sapphire Ventures in relation to the SAP-financed Sapphire Ventures
funds, and explained the significance of these investment funds for the Company’s development. On
recommendation for the Finance and Investment Committee, which had looked in-depth at SAP’s
venture capital investment activities, we consented to the establishment of a new Sapphire Ventures
Fund VIl of US$1.25 billion and approved a fund-of-funds investment of US$100 million for the
Sapphire Ventures Fund IV. In addition, we increased the size of the Audit and Compliance Committee
from six to eight members effective August 1, 2022, and to that end elected two further Committee
members.

Meeting in October

At our meeting on October 27, 2022, the Executive Board first reported on business performance in
the third quarter. It also submitted the analysis requested by us of the performance of SAP S/4HANA
Cloud, public edition, and explained its plans for expanding the Company's marketing strategy and
sales activities for this area.

Resolutions by Correspondence Vote

We adopted, besides the above resolutions, a number of resolutions by correspondence which the
relevant Committees had deliberated on in advance and recommended to us, as follows:

January: Approval of the appointment of regional presidents for the EMEA South (Europe, Middle
East, and Africa) and MEE (Middle and Eastern Europe) regions. Also in January, we consented to
the acquisition of SAP’s long-time partner Taulia, headquartered in San Francisco, USA.

February: Approval of the Corporate Governance Statement for 2022.

April: Resolution on management's response to a countermotion regarding an item on the agenda
of the Annual General Meeting on May 18, 2022.

May: Resolution on the appropriation of retained earnings as amended, and resolution to change
the composition of the Supervisory Board committees at the conclusion of the 2022 Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

July: Approval of SAP’s planned share buy-back program of up to €500 million.

August: Resolution on the appointment of Dominik Asam as new Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
effective March 7, 2023.

December: Resolution on adjustments to the Executive Board members’ portfolios effective
January 1, 2023, necessitated by the departure of SAP's current CFO, Luka Mucic at the end of
March 2023 and the assumption of his portfolio by his successor, Dominik Asam.
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Format of Meetings in Fiscal 2022

Committees
Personnel Go-To-Market
and Audit and Technology People and Finance and and
Plenary Governance Compliance and Strategy Nomination Culture Investment Operations

Total‘number of 7 4 11 6 4 5 11 4
meetings

Thergof physical 0 0 2 I 0 0 0 0

meeting

Thergof hybrid 4 3 o 52 2 0 1023 4

session

Thereof

telephone/video 3 1 0 0 2 5 1 0

conference

! Thereof one joint meeting between the Technology and Strategy Committee and the Audit and Compliance Committee
2 Thereof two joint meetings between the Finance and Investment Committee and the Audit and Compliance Committee
3 Thereof one joint meeting between the Finance and Investment Committee and the Technology and Strategy Committee

The Work of the Supervisory Board Committees

The committees made a key contribution to the work of the Supervisory Board in 2022, notably by
preparing relevant agenda items and resolutions for Supervisory Board meetings and by regularly

reporting on their deliberations in general and on their decisions taken. The following committees

were in place in the year under review:

— Personnel and Governance Committee, Audit and Compliance Committee, Finance and
Investment Committee, Technology and Strategy Committee, People and Culture
Committee, Nomination Committee, Go-To-Market and Operations Committee

Each of the aforementioned committees was active in 2022. For more information about the
Supervisory Board committees, particularly their respective composition, tasks, and responsibilities,
see the Corporate Governance Statement and the Corporate Governance section of SAP's Web site.

Besides the matters described above, the committees focused primarily on the following topics in
2022:

— The Personnel and Governance Committee held four regular meetings in the reporting year. In
particular, the Committee, in fulfillment of the tasks assigned to it, extensively prepared and
discussed in advance the deliberations of the Supervisory Board and its resolutions on the new
Executive Board compensation system. It also approved two loans for officers of SAP who hold
procura powers. At its meeting in February, it did preparatory work on the Supervisory Board’s
proposal to the 2022 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders with respect to the adjustment of
Supervisory Board compensation. It also deliberated on the draft Supervisory Board report for the
financial year 2021, SAP’s competitive position, and the Executive Board's customer relationship
management (CRM) strategy. When the Committee met in April 2022, it reviewed the composition
of the Supervisory Board committees that was envisaged after the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders on May 18, 2022. On July 27, 2022, the Committee conducted its regular review of
pension payments made to former Executive Board members and deliberated on the creation of a
formalized process for the feedback of the Supervisory Board vis-a-vis Executive Board members.
In addition, it updated the target number of women on the Executive Board and the diversity
concept. It was resolved that SAP should voluntarily keep to its target of having two women on the
Executive Board. The Committee additionally dealt, at both its April and July meetings, with the
search for a successor to SAP’s CFO Luka Mucic, who would be leaving the Company in
March 2023. Even between meetings, the Committee members were in continual contact with the
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personnel consulting firm that had been enlisted for this purpose, and conducted interviews of
potential candidates. The Committee chairperson reported on the status of the candidate search in
the meetings of the full Supervisory Board. Finally, in August, the Committee initiated the proposed
resolution by the full Supervisory Board on the appointment of the new CFO. The focus of the
October 2022 meeting was once again the aforementioned feedback process and its
implementation. In addition, the Committee deliberated on the process for cultivating and
shortlisting internal talents who were considered potential successors to Executive Board positions.

— The Audit and Compliance Committee held 11 regular meetings in 2022 — two of which jointly with
the Finance and Investment Committee and one jointly with the Technology and Strategy
Committee. Said schedule included one short telephone conference per quarter to vote on the
quarterly reporting, and one session per quarter to address regular and topical agenda items. In its
meetings, the Committee also had the opportunity to engage with the auditor without the Executive
Board present, which was an integral part of the meeting agenda. The Committee comprehensively
prepared the resolutions of the Supervisory Board for all topics assigned to it, as described above.
Regular agenda items included the course of business in the respective quarter, the accounting
processes, the preparation of end-of-quarter closings, and the quarterly reports due for publication.
In addition, the (new) Committee chairperson was in regular contact with the auditor. Other
recurring meeting topics included the monitoring of SAP’s risk management system, internal control
system, and compliance system (including specific compliance issues, the status of corresponding
SAP-internal investigations, and case-related collaboration with authorities), and cybersecurity. In
its February 2022 meeting, the Committee prepared the Supervisory Board's resolutions on the
financial statements of SAP SE and the Group for 2021 in the run-up to the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders, which were adopted at the audit meeting. Other material topics dealt
with by the Committee beyond the regular meeting topics in its ordinary meetings and those
described in the “Sustainability” section of this report included quarter-specific matters and the
compensation system for SAP’s Sales organization. Further, the Committee monitored the progress
of selected lawsuits involving SAP. The Audit and Compliance Committee also received regular
updates on activities relating to the change in auditor for SAP’s financial statements and
consolidated financial statements, particularly progress reports on the onboarding of the new
auditor. In addition, the Committee continually monitored the quality of the current and future
auditor and the management report. To this end — in addition to evaluating satisfaction surveys for
the previous year’s audit by the current auditor — the Committee obtained and referred to regular
reports from the auditor on its internal quality assurance standards and to any material findings
from internal quality audits, external quality controls, and peer reviews, and from any investigations
conducted by the government or regulators into the auditor's audits. The Committee discussed the
audit focus for 2022 with the auditor at its meeting in July. As reported in more detail below, the
Committee also held two joint meetings with the Finance and Investment Committee in February
and December 2022 to discuss the Group annual plan for 2022 and the preliminary Group annual
plan for 2023. The joint meeting with the Technology and Strategy Committee in July focused on
the results of the assessment by NIST (National Institute of Standards and Technology, a
department of the U.S. Department of Commerce) and the progress of certain internal audits. The
auditor attended all Audit and Compliance Committee meetings except for the joint meetings with
the Finance and Investment Committee and the Technology and Strategy Committee, and reported
in depth on its audit work and on its quarterly reviews of selected software and cloud agreements.

— The Finance and Investment Committee held six regular meetings and five extraordinary meetings
in 2022, and outside these meetings it passed two resolutions by correspondence. It held a joint
meeting with the Audit and Compliance Committee in February and again in December 2022, and
a joint meeting with the Technology and Strategy Committee in December 2022 as described in
more detail below. In an extraordinary meeting in January 2022, the Committee approved the
acquisition of a minority interest in Icertis, a contract lifecycle management specialist based in the
United States. It also discussed the planned acquisition of Taulia, an American working capital
management firm, at length and ultimately resolved to recommend the acquisition to the
Supervisory Board. In the joint meeting with the Audit and Compliance Committee in
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February 2022, the members of both Committees discussed the annual budget for 2022 and voted
in favor of recommending its approval to the Supervisory Board. At the Finance and Investment
Committee meeting on the same day, the new head of the Investor Relations team introduced
himself, provided an overview of the core topics in his remit, and presented his strategic concept.
When it met in April, the Committee and the Executive Board discussed selected investor relations
and capital market topics, strategic business plans for various product areas, plans for future
collaboration with SAP partners, and potential divestments. The Executive Board also reported on
the major investments planned and on its analysis of employee efficiency. During the Committee’s
first meeting in July, it deliberated on the sale of the Litmos business as described above. At its
second meeting in July, the Committee dealt with Investor Relations matters and engaged in a
detailed discussion about the efficiency of SAP’s development organization. The Executive Board
also presented its new strategy for investing in the venture capital sector in collaboration with the
Sapphire Ventures team. After extensive consultation, the Committee resolved to recommend that
the Supervisory Board approve the set-up of a new fund for direct investments totaling

US$1.25 billion and a further venture capital fund for fund-of-funds investments totaling

US$100 million. The Committee also resolved, by way of correspondence, to recommend the
Supervisory Board's consent to a share buy-back program worth €500 million and approved the
extension of existing bilateral bank loans. In the October meeting, the Executive Board updated the
Committee on investor relations and treasury topics, explained its plans to streamline the portfolio,
and presented its regular report on the success of the Company's recent acquisitions. Beyond this,
the Committee and the Executive Board discussed management efficiency and competency, and
examined process optimizations in the cloud. In addition, the Committee reviewed its own activities
and the format of its meetings, with a view to good corporate governance. At its two extraordinary
meetings held on December 12 and 13, 2022, the Committee was apprised of planned
improvements to selected business areas and drafted a resolution to recommit funds previously
dedicated in July 2022 for Sapphire Ventures fund-of funds activities. In December 2022, the
Committee held a second joint meeting with the Audit and Compliance Committee, at which the
Executive Board presented the preliminary Group annual plan for 2023. This meeting was held in
preparation for the Supervisory Board meeting in February 2023, at which the full Supervisory
Board resolved to approve the Group annual plan for 2023.

— The Technology and Strategy Committee held six meetings in 2022, which included one joint
meeting with the Audit and Compliance Committee and one joint meeting with the Finance and
Investment Committee. The Committee discussed the outlook for key technology trends in the
software industry in the years to come and SAP’s corporate and product strategies. The Executive
Board explained SAP's midmarket and customer experience strategies to the Committee members
at its February meeting, where the two bodies also discussed the specific requirements resulting
from the rapid growth and expansion of medium-sized customers. In April, the Committee turned
its attention to artificial intelligence and “data to value” — the act of deriving business value from
data — placing particular focus on the integration of data sources in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. In July 2022, the Executive Board updated the Committee on the strategic
plans for process intelligence and automation and explained how SAP Signavio solutions would be
used to expand SAP’s opportunities in the business process optimization space. At the joint
meeting with the Audit and Compliance Committee, also in July, the Committee was updated on
progress in the areas of enterprise vulnerability management and asset management. When it met
in October 2022, the Committee examined SAP’s innovation strategy as regards business
transformation, business network, and sustainability. At their joint meeting in December, the
Technology and Strategy Committee and the Finance and Investment Committee deliberated on
the efficiency of SAP’s development organization and were given an overview of SAP’s current
development processes and tools by the Executive Board.

— The People and Culture Committee met five times in the reporting year. The focus of its February
meeting was on strategic personnel planning as relate to the “the future of work” concept and the
evolution of skills. The Committee was presented in this regard with a detailed overview of the past
and expected demographic development of the SAP SE workforce, and discussed the skills and
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expertise the Company would require of employees in the future. In addition, the global head of
Diversity and Inclusion introduced herself to the Committee, following which the Committee looked
at the career development of employees in expert functions and discussed the refining of SAP’s
leadership culture introduced the year before. Performance management was a key topic of the
July meeting, where an initiative to promote appreciation and respect at the Company was
presented. The Committee then reviewed the progress made in this initiative and the feedback
received from employees in this connection at its October meeting, where it also looked at
investments in headcount and the compensation budgets for 2023. The Committee held an
extraordinary meeting in November where it and the Executive Board looked in-depth at the talent
development process the Company was pursuing in the SAP S/4HANA area. The two bodies
addressed three specific aspects in this regard: improving the quality of the recruitment process,
training and upskilling staff, and promoting the performance culture at SAP.

— The Nomination Committee met four times in 2022. In February 2022, it deliberated on proposed
successors for the departing Supervisory Board member Bernard Liautaud. Following
corresponding interviews and careful evaluation of the competencies of all persons under
consideration, it resolved the nomination of Jennifer Li as further candidate for election to the
Supervisory Board by the Annual General Meeting on May 18, 2022. The Committee came to the
conclusion that Jennifer Li had the best qualifications to succeed Bernard Liautaud and that her
other mandates outside SAP would not prevent her from performing her duties as a member of the
Supervisory Board and making valuable contributions to the work of the SAP Supervisory Board.
The Committee also met on July 27, 2022, where it discussed succession planning on the
Supervisory Board, particularly for the position of chairperson, and agreed that the search for
suitable candidates should continue to be conducted both within SAP and outside the Company.
As in the past, the Committee enlisted the help of a renowned personnel consulting firm for this
purpose. In its meeting on October 27, 2022, the Committee members discussed the status of the
candidate search and the initial results submitted to it by the consulting firm. At the Committee’s
meeting in December, the personnel consultant presented a short list of candidates, which the
Committee discussed in depth before deliberating on the next steps in the search.

— The Go-To-Market and Operations Committee likewise met four times in the reporting year. At the
February meeting, the Committee was informed of the cloud revenues generated in 2022 versus
the year before, apprised of the current cloud backlog growth, and presented with the Executive
Board's current strategy to accelerate growth in the cloud. In April, the Executive Board presented a
new strategy for technology and sales that addressed how SAP would position its technologies in
the market going forward and the role SAP Business Technology Platform would play in this. In
July, the Committee was updated on SAP’s competitive situation and, based on this information,
discussed with the Executive Board what strategic decisions would result from this. The two bodies
then deliberated on how SAP cloud solutions could be run more efficiently in key strategic
business areas. The October meeting focused on the transformation of the Cloud Success Services
(CSS) area, which had been triggered at the beginning of 2021. The core of this transformation was
the merger of various user departments into one CSS unit that supported SAP’s cloud portfolio.
The Executive Board first explained how this measure was intended to ensure end-to-end
customer relationships that focused on customer success and customer lifetime value. It then
presented the Committee with the CSS targets and the Company's plans for expanding the
organization further. The Committee also examined how SAP’s partner ecosystem evolved with the
shift to the cloud. The business update included a discussion about how SAP would react in the
event of interruptions to its energy supply. The Executive Board explained to the Committee how
SAP was currently protecting its data centers and for which scenarios the Company was preparing
itself, including in the case of hyperscalers and their server systems, which would likewise be
affected by energy bottlenecks.

The work of the committees and their regular reports to the full Supervisory Board ensured that we
were kept fully informed of all matters covered by the committees and were able to discuss them
thoroughly.
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Conflicts of Interest

Members of the Supervisory Board and of the Executive Board had no conflicts of interest that
recommendations E.1 and E.2 of the GCGC require to be disclosed to the Supervisory Board. Insofar
as Supervisory Board members hold executive positions in companies or have material equity in
companies that currently have business dealings with SAP, we do not see any impairment of their
independence. The scope of these transactions is relatively small and, moreover, takes place at arm’s
length.

Training and Professional Development

The members of the Supervisory Board were once again offered various training and professional
development opportunities throughout the year, with appropriate support from the Company. On-
boarding sessions and leaflets are available for new Supervisory Board members to familiarize
themselves with their tasks and responsibilities when they assume office. Where it made sense,
presentations and training offerings were recorded and placed on a specially configured training
platform to enable the remaining Supervisory Board members to take part in them as well. The
members of the Audit and Compliance Committee were invited to short seminars in April 2022 on
“New EU reporting requirements for sustainability” (Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive), and
on the “OECD/G20 New World Tax Order for Digital Business” (a basic approach adopted by
OECD/G20 to reform international business taxation). An external expert attending the Supervisory
Board's meeting in October provided a general overview of the importance of sustainability for
companies and the expectation of investors where this was concerned. In December 2022, external
experts held an information session for members of the Supervisory Board on the future legal
framework in the area of ESG and its relevance for the work of the Supervisory Board.

SAP SE and Consolidated Financial Reports for 2022

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Berlin (KPMG) audited the SAP SE and consolidated
financial reports for 2022. The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders elected KPMG as the SAP SE
and SAP Group auditor on May 18, 2022. The Supervisory Board proposed the appointment of KPMG
on the recommendation of the Audit and Compliance Committee. Prior to the proposed resolution
being put to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, KPMG had confirmed to the chairperson of
the Supervisory Board and the Audit and Compliance Committee that circumstances did not exist that
might prejudice or raise any doubt concerning its independence as the Company’s auditor. In that
connection, KPMG informed us of the volume of the services that were not part of the audit which it
had either provided to the Group in the past year or was engaged to provide in the year to come. The
Supervisory Board has agreed with KPMG that the auditor should report to the Supervisory Board and
record in the auditor’s report any fact found during the audit that is inconsistent with the declaration
given by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board concerning implementation of the German
Corporate Governance Code. KPMG examined the SAP SE financial statements prepared in
accordance with the German Commercial Code, the consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as required by the German
Commercial Code, section 315e, and the combined SAP Group and SAP SE management report
prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code, and certified them without qualification.
The auditor thus confirmed that, in its opinion and based on its audit in accordance with the
applicable accounting principles, the SAP SE and consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the net assets, financial position, and results of operations of SAP SE and the SAP Group.
The auditor also confirmed that the combined SAP SE and SAP Group management report is
consistent with the corresponding financial statements and as a whole gives a suitable view of the
position of SAP SE and the SAP Group and of foreseeable opportunities and risks. In accordance with
section 317 (3a) of the German Commercial Code, the auditor also examined and confirmed that the
renderings of the financial statements, the management report, the consolidated financial statements,
and the combined management report contained in the files submitted on an electronic data carrier,
which can be accessed by the issuer on the secure client portal, and prepared for the purposes of
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disclosure comply in all material respects with the requirements of section 328 (1) of the German
Commercial Code regarding the electronic reporting format (“ESEF format”). KPMG had completed its
audit of SAP's internal control over financial reporting and certified without qualification that it
complies with the applicable U.S. standards. The auditor stated in its opinion that it considers SAP's
internal controls with respect to the consolidated financial statements to be effective in all material
respects. Additionally, it provided assurance on the non-financial declaration and the disclosures
contained therein on the topics identified as material — namely, the environment, employees, human
rights, corruption and bribery, customer loyalty, and data privacy and data security — in the combined
management report, and on the separate review of the compensation report and selected qualitative
and guantitative sustainability disclosures outside of the financial statements and management report.
All Audit and Compliance Committee members and Supervisory Board members received — initially in
the form of drafts that were identical to the final documents — the documents concerning the financial
statements mentioned above, the audit reports prepared by KPMG, and the Executive Board’s
proposal concerning the appropriation of retained earnings in good time. On February 22, 2023, the
Executive Board prepared the financial accounts of SAP SE and the Group for 2022, comprising the
SAP SE financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, and the combined management
report, and submitted them without delay to the Supervisory Board.

The Executive Board explained the financial statements of SAP SE and the SAP Group and its
proposal concerning the appropriation of retained earnings at the meeting of the Audit and
Compliance Committee on February 22, 2023 (based on the drafts identical to the final documents)
and at the meeting of the Supervisory Board on February 22, 2023. Members of the Executive Board
answered questions from the Committee and the Supervisory Board. At the Audit and Compliance
Committee meeting, they also explained the compensation report and the Annual Report on Form 20-
F prepared in accordance with the applicable U.S. standards.

After the Executive Board had explained them, the Audit and Compliance Committee and the
Supervisory Board reviewed the financial statement documents (based on drafts identical to the final
documents), taking KPMG'’s audit reports (or the drafts identical to the final documents) into account.
The Audit and Compliance Committee then passed the compensation report on to the Supervisory
Board for release. The representative of the auditor who attended presented full reports on the audit
and the results of the audit to the Audit and Compliance Committee and Supervisory Board meetings
and explained its audit reports (or final drafts thereof). The auditor also reported that it had not
identified any material weaknesses in SAP’s internal control and risk-management systems for
financial reporting. Both the Audit and Compliance Committee and the Supervisory Board asked
detailed questions about the form, scope, and results of the audit. The Audit and Compliance
Committee reported to the Supervisory Board on its own review of the financial statements of SAP SE
and the SAP Group, its discussions with the Executive Board and with the auditor, and its supervision
of the financial reporting process. It confirmed that, as part of its supervisory work, it had addressed
the SAP Group's internal control, risk management, and internal auditing systems, and found the
systems to be effective.

The Committee also reported that KPMG had told it that no circumstances had arisen that might give
cause for concern about KPMG'’s impartiality, and informed us about the services KPMG had provided
that were not part of the audit. The Committee reported that it had examined the auditor's
independence, taking the non-audit services it had rendered into consideration, and stated that, in the
Committee’s opinion, the auditor possessed the required degree of independence and professional
qualification.

The Audit and Compliance Committee and the Supervisory Board satisfied themselves that KPMG
had conducted the audit properly. In particular, they concluded that both the audit reports and the
audit itself fulfilled the legal requirements. On the basis of the report and the Audit and Compliance
Committee’s recommendation, the Supervisory Board approved the results of the audit and, since
there were no findings from our own examination, we gave our consent to the SAP SE financial
statements, the consolidated financial statements, the combined Group management report, and
adopted the compensation report pursuant to the German Stock Corporation Act, section 162. The
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financial statements and combined management report were thus formally adopted upon approval by
the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board’s opinion of the Company and the Group coincided
with that of the Executive Board as set out in the combined management report. The Supervisory
Board considered the proposal presented by the Executive Board concerning the appropriation of
retained earnings. We had regard to the requirements of dividends policy, the effects on the liquidity of
SAP SE and the SAP Group, and the interests of the shareholders. We also discussed these matters
with the auditor. We then endorsed the Executive Board's proposal concerning the appropriation of
retained earnings, in accordance with the Audit and Compliance Committee's recommendation. The
corporate governance statement pursuant to the German Commercial Code, sections 315d and 289f
was approved for publication by the Supervisory Board by way of correspondence vote prior to the
meeting to discuss the financial statements. Finally, we adopted this present Report.

Changes on the Executive Board and Supervisory Board in 2022

There were no changes on our Executive Board in 2022. The appointment of the new CFO as
described above will only come into effect in 2023.

The Supervisory Board bade farewell in 2022 to Bernard Liautaud who, after 14 years as a member,
resigned from his position with effect from the closing of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
on May 18, 2022. The Supervisory Board thanks Bernard Liautaud for his commitment to SAP. On
May 18, 2022, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders elected Jennifer Li to the Supervisory
Board as his successor.

In addition to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we now face major challenges from the war in
Ukraine and its humanitarian, geopolitical, and economic implications. The Supervisory Board thanks
the members of the Executive Board and all SAP employees for their tireless commitment to SAP
under these extraordinary circumstances.

For the Supervisory Board

Professor Hasso Plattner

(Chairperson)
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Responsibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the
Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the assets, finances, and operating
results of the SAP Group, and the management report of the Group and SAP SE includes a fair review
of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group and SAP SE,
together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected
development of the Group and SAP SE.

Walldorf, February 22, 2023
SAP SE

Walldorf, Germany

Executive Board of SAP SE

Christian Klein Sabine Bendiek Luka Mucic
Dr. Jurgen Muller Scott Russell Thomas Saueressig
Julia White
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To SAP SE, Walldorf

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and
of the Group Management Report

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2022,
consolidated income statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated
statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the financial year from
January 1 to December 31, 2022 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In addition, we have audited the combined Group Management Report by the SAP Group and the
Management Report of SAP SE, Walldorf (“Group Management Report”) for the financial year from
January 1 to December 31, 2022. In accordance with German legal requirements, we have not
audited the content of those components of the Group Management Report specified in the "Other
Information" section of our auditor's report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

— the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the
IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant
to Section 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code], as well as the IFRSs as
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board and, in compliance with these
requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group
as at December 31, 2022, and of its financial performance for the financial year from January 1 to
December 31, 2022 and

— the accompanying Group Management Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the
Group's position. In all material respects, this Group Management Report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately
presents the opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the Group
Management Report does not cover the content of those components of the Group Management
Report specified in the "Other Information” section of the auditor's report.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations
relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group
Management Report.

Basis for the Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management
Report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation No. 537/2014 (referred to
subsequently as “EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted
Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprufer [Institute of
Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) as well as in supplementary compliance with the International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and guidelines of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).
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Our responsibilities under those requirements, principles and standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group
Management Report” section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in
accordance with the requirements of European law and German commercial and professional law,
and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we
declare that we have not provided non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit
Regulation. We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group Management
Report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from January 1 to
December 31, 2022. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Software license revenue recognition
Refer to note (A.1) — Revenue and Group Management Report, section Risk Management and Risks.
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

In the financial year 2022 SAP generated revenue of EUR 30,871 million, of which EUR 13,965 million
relate to revenues from sales of software licenses and support.

The evaluation of software licenses revenue recognition bears an inherent risk of errors as SAP’s
software customer contracts are complex. SAP defined detailed policies, procedures and processes to
manage the accounting for its customer contracts, which are also described in the notes. Applying
them often requires significant judgments, in particular in the assessment of the following:

1. whether various contracts are economically interrelated,
2. whether products and services qualify as separate performance obligations, and

3. the allocation of the transaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations in the
contract based on standalone-selling prices.

There is the financial statement risk that the recognition cut-off of software license revenue as at the
balance sheet date is incorrect and that revenues are allocated incorrectly.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH

On software revenue recognition, we evaluated the compliance of SAP’s accounting policies with the
IFRS Framework and IFRS 15.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to
the revenue process including controls related to the identification of economically interrelated
contracts, separate performance obligations and allocation of the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract.

For a sample of customer contracts, which were selected using a statistical approach, we:

— inspected the underlying contractual agreements and other related documents as well as inquired
with SAP’s accounting and/or sales representatives to evaluate SAP’s assessment of whether
contracts were economically interrelated as well as to evaluate the identified performance
obligations and allocation of transaction price,
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— obtained and inspected external confirmations of the key terms and conditions from the respective
customers to test whether contracts were economically interrelated, as well as to evaluate the
identified performance obligations,

— evaluated the allocation of the transaction price for each of the deliverables that qualified as a
separate performance obligation by assessing the methodology applied and testing mathematical
accuracy of the underlying calculations.

For the majority of software support revenue, we compared the actual support revenue with the
support revenue that is expected based on last year's support revenue, the loss rate of last year’s
support contracts and the current year software sales that trigger additional support revenue.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

SAP has developed an adequate framework for determining the accounting treatment for its revenue.
For the vast majority of the software arrangements entered into during 2022, it was clear which of
SAP's revenue recognition policies should be applied. Where there was room for interpretation, SAP’s
judgment was balanced and appropriate.

Assessment of the Group’s uncertain tax treatments

Refer to note (C.5) — Income Taxes, and Group Management Report section Risk Management and
Risks.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

SAP operates in multiple tax jurisdictions with complexities and uncertainties due to different
interpretations of tax laws, such as those involving transfer pricing and intercompany transactions
between SAP Group entities. The determination of provisions for tax uncertainties requires SAP to
make judgments on tax issues and develop estimates regarding SAP’s exposure to tax risks. SAP
regularly engages external experts to provide tax opinions to support their own risk assessment. The
risk for the consolidated financial statements relates to the completeness, measurement and
disclosure of the provision for uncertain tax treatments. As of December 31, 2022 SAP disclosed
contingent liabilities relating to tax uncertainties of EUR 1,571 million.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the
tax process including controls over the Group’s assessment of tax law and the process to estimate the
related exposures. We assessed the competency, skills and objectivity of the external experts and
evaluated the related expert opinions. We inquired of the Group’s tax department and inspected
correspondence with the relevant tax authorities. We involved tax professionals with specialized skills
and knowledge, who assisted in evaluating SAP’s conclusions over the estimate of tax uncertainties
based on their knowledge and experience regarding the application of relevant legislation by tax
authorities and courts.

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the notes with respect to uncertain tax treatments are
complete and appropriate.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

SAP's judgments as to the amounts recognized as tax provisions for tax uncertainties as of
December 31, 2022 are appropriate. The disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements are complete and appropriate.

Valuation of unlisted equity securities

Refer to note (D.6) — Equity Investments and note (F.2) — Fair Value Disclosures on Financial
Instruments
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THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

As of December 31, 2022, the Company holds unlisted equity securities with a carrying amount of
EUR 4,879 million. These financial instruments are classified as equity securities at fair value through
profit and loss and their valuations are based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy).

The measurement of fair value of such investments is complex and, with regard to the assumptions
made, highly dependent on management's estimates and judgments. This applies particularly to
selection of the appropriate valuation method and the determination of the significant unobservable
inputs.

There is the risk for the consolidated financial statements that the valuations are not appropriate.
There is also the risk that the related disclosures in the notes are not appropriate.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH

We evaluated the design and implementation and tested the operating effectiveness of certain
internal controls over the Company’s investments process. This included controls related to selection
of the valuation model and the relevance and reliability of the significant unobservable inputs. We also
involved financial instrument valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who
assisted in testing management’s ability to produce a fair value estimate compliant with IFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurements for a selection of investments by (1) testing the appropriateness of the valuation
method selected by comparing it to our expectation based on industry experience and knowledge of
the investment, and (2) assessing the reliability and relevance of the significant unobservable inputs
by comparing them to historical and market information.

Finally, we assessed whether the related disclosures in the notes regarding the determination of fair
value are appropriate.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

The valuation method used for the valuation of unlisted equity securities is appropriate and in line
with the accounting policies. The Company’s underlying assumptions and data are appropriate. The
related disclosures in the notes are appropriate.

Other Information

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, respectively, of SAP SE is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the following components of the Management Report,
whose content was not audited:

— the combined non-financial statement, included in section “Non-Financial Statement Including
Information on Sustainable Activities” of the Group Management Report,

— the corporate governance statement, referred to in section “Corporate Governance Fundamentals”
of the Group Management Report, and

— information extraneous to the Group Management Report and marked as unaudited.

The other information also includes the annual report on Form 20-F and remaining parts of the annual
report.

The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements, group management
report information and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group Management Report do not
cover the other information and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to
consider whether the other information
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— is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the Group Management
Report information audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

— otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

In addition, we were engaged to perform an independent assurance engagement on selected
qualitative and quantitative sustainability disclosures of the integrated report 2022. In regard to the
nature, extent and conclusions of this independent assurance engagement we refer to our
Independence Assurance Report dated on February 22, 2023.

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board for the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report

The Executive Board of SAP SE is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB as well as IFRSs as
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board and that the consolidated financial
statements, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position, and financial performance of the Group. In addition, the Executive Board is
responsible for such internal control as the Executive Board has determined necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Executive Board is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Executive Board also has the responsibility for
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, the Executive Board is
responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of the Group Management Report
that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects,
consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with the German legal requirements
and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the
Executive Board is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as the Executive
Board has considered necessary to enable the preparation of the Group Management Report that is
in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, the German Accounting Standards
number 17 and 20 (GAS 17, GAS 20) and the IFRS Practice Statement Management Commentary
and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the Group Management
Report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management Report.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
and of the Group Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
whether the Group Management Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s
position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the
knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately
presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group Management
Report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German
Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der
Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW) as well as in supplementary compliance with ISAs and guidelines of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) will always detect a material
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and this Group Management Report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and
of the Group Management Report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the Group
Management Report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the Executive Board and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Executive Board and related disclosures.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Executive Board's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
and in the Group Management Report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group
in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as well as with IFRSs as adopted by the
International Accounting Standards Board and the additional requirements of German commercial
law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.
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— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements
and on the Group Management Report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

— Evaluate the consistency of the Group Management Report with the consolidated financial
statements, its conformity with German law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

— Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the Executive Board in the
Group Management Report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in
particular, the significant assumptions used by the Executive Board as a basis for the prospective
information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these
assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the
assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ
materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant
independence requirements and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable the actions taken or
safeguards applied to eliminate independence threats.

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial
Statements pursuant to PCAOB

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial
Statements

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements
of SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries in place as at December 31, 2022. This control system is
based on criteria set out in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, SAP maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting in the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2022 based on the criteria set
out in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Executive Board’s and Supervisory Board’s Responsibility for the Internal Control
over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated Financial Statements

SAP SE'’s Executive Board is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting in the consolidated financial statements and assessing its effectiveness, which is included in
the Executive Board's report on the internal control over consolidated financial reporting.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements is a

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting in the
consolidated financial statements and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
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reporting in the consolidated financial statements includes policies and procedures to (1) ensure an
accounting system that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflects the transactions and
dispositions of the company’s assets, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
material misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s internal control over financial
reporting in the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting in the
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial
statements included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk of material deficiencies in internal control, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on this assessment, and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the Group Management Report Prepared for Publication Purposes
in Accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB

We have performed assurance work in accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group
management report (hereinafter the “ESEF documents”) contained in the

electronic file ,sap-2022-12-31-DE.zip" (SHA256-Hashwert: 80f4afbc
863116ce74f79636274454b3ed17912533f2b0fca74443e6d9ac657a) made available and prepared for
publication purposes complies in all material respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB
for the electronic reporting format (“ESEF format”). In accordance with German legal requirements,
this assurance work extends only to the conversion of the information contained in the consolidated
financial statements and the group management report into the ESEF format and therefore relates
neither to the information contained in these renderings nor to any other information contained in the
file identified above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management
report contained in the electronic file made available, identified above and prepared for publication
purposes complies in all material respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the
electronic reporting format. Beyond this assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements and the accompanying group management report
for the financial year from January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022 contained in the “Report on the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report” above, we do not

38/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

express any assurance opinion on the information contained within these renderings or on the other
information contained in the file identified above.

We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the
group management report contained in the file made available and identified above in accordance
with Section 317 (3a) HGB and the IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance Work on the Electronic
Rendering of Financial Statements and Management Reports Prepared for Publication Purposes in
Accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB (IDW AsS 410 (6.2022)). Our responsibility in accordance
therewith is further described below. Our audit firm applies the IDW Standard on Quality
Management 1: Requirements for Quality Management in Audit Firms (IDW QS 1).

The company’s management is responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents including the
electronic rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in
accordance with Section 328 (1) sentence 4 item 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Section 328 (1) sentence 4 item 2 HGB.

In addition, the company’s management is responsible for such internal control that they have
considered necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the
electronic reporting format.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process of preparing the ESEF documents as
part of the financial reporting process.

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from
material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the assurance
work. We also:

— lIdentify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the
requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our assurance opinion.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance on the ESEF documents in
order to design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

— Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e. whether the file made available
containing the ESEF documents meets the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU)
2019/815, as amended as at the reporting date, on the technical specification for this electronic file.

— Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML rendering with content equivalent to the
audited consolidated financial statements and the audited group management report.

— Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in
accordance with the requirements of Articles 4 and 6 of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815,
as amended as at the reporting date, enables an appropriate and complete machine-readable
XBRL copy of the XHTML rendering.

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation

We were elected as group auditor at the annual general meeting on May 18, 2022. We were engaged
by the Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the Supervisory Board of SAP SE on
June 9, 2022, and this engagement was confirmed on July 13, 2022. We have been the group auditor
of SAP SE without interruption since the financial year 2002.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional report
to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).
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In addition to the financial statement audit, we have provided to group entities the following services
that are not disclosed in the consolidated financial statements or in the Group Management Report:

We audited the financial statements of SAP SE and performed various financial statement audits at
subsidiaries. Furthermore, other assurance services required by law or on a contractual basis were
performed, including an assurance engagement on selected qualitative and quantitative sustainability
disclosures of the Integrated Report 2022 and an EMIR assurance service pursuant to section 20 of
German Securities Trading Act [WpHG] and service organization attestation procedures.

Other matter - Use of the Auditor’s Report

Our auditor’s report must always be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements
and the audited group management report as well as the examined ESEF documents. The
consolidated financial statements and group management report converted to the ESEF format —
including the versions to be entered in the company register — are merely electronic renderings of the
audited consolidated financial statements and the audited group management report and do not take
their place. In particular, the ESEF report and our assurance opinion contained therein are to be used
solely together with the examined ESEF documents made available in electronic form.

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Bodo Rackwitz.

Mannheim, February 22, 2023

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

Rackwitz Melliand
Wirtschaftsprtfer Wirtschaftsprufer
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor
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Independent Assurance
Practitioner's Report

To the Supervisory Board of SAP SE, Walldorf

We have performed a limited assurance engagement on the non-financial statement of SAP SE
(further “Company” or “SAP”) and on the non-financial statement of the parent company that is
combined with it, which are published in the Management Report, (further “combined non-financial
statement”) for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2022.

Responsibilities of Management

Management of the company is responsible for the preparation of the combined non-financial
statement in accordance with Sections 315c in conjunction with 289c to 289e HGB
["Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] and Article 8 of REGULATION (EU) 2020/852 OF
THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of June 18, 2020 on establishing a framework
to facilitate sustainable investment and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 (hereinafter the "EU
Taxonomy Regulation") and the Delegated Acts adopted thereunder, as well as for making their own
interpretation of the wording and terms contained in the EU Taxonomy Regulation and the delegated
acts adopted thereunder as set out in section “Sustainable Finance: EU Taxonomy Disclosures” of the
combined non-financial statement.

This responsibility includes the selection and application of appropriate non-financial reporting
methods and making assumptions and estimates about individual non-financial disclosures of the
group that are reasonable in the circumstances. Furthermore, management is responsible for such
internal control as they consider necessary to enable the preparation of a combined non-financial
statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The EU Taxonomy Regulation and the Delegated Acts issued thereunder contain wording and terms
that are still subject to considerable interpretation uncertainties and for which clarifications have not
yet been published in every case. Therefore, management has disclosed their interpretation of the EU
Taxonomy Regulation and the Delegated Acts adopted thereunder in section “Sustainable Finance:
EU Taxonomy Disclosures” of the combined non-financial statement. They are responsible for the
defensibility of this interpretation. Due to the immanent risk that indeterminate legal terms may be
interpreted differently, the legal conformity of the interpretation is subject to uncertainties.

Independence and Quality Assurance of the Assurance
Practitioner’s firm

We have complied with the independence and quality assurance requirements set out in the national
legal provisions and professional pronouncements, in particular the Professional Code for German
Public Auditors and Chartered Accountants (in Germany) and the quality assurance standard of the
German Institute of Public Auditors (Institut der Wirtschaftsprtfer, IDW) regarding quality assurance
requirements in audit practice (IDW QS 1).

Responsibility of the Assurance Practitioner

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion with limited assurance on the combined non-financial
statement based on our assurance engagement.

We conducted our assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised): "Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of
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Historical Financial Information" issued by the IAASB. This standard requires that we plan and perform
the assurance engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether any matters have come to our
attention that cause us to believe that the company's non-financial statement, is not prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with Sections 315c in conjunction with 289c to 289e HGB and the
EU Taxonomy Regulation and the Delegated Acts issued thereunder as well as the interpretation by
management disclosed in section “Sustainable Finance: EU Taxonomy Disclosures” of the combined
non-financial statement. We do not, however, issue a separate conclusion for each disclosure.

In a limited assurance engagement, the procedures performed are less extensive than in a reasonable
assurance engagement, and accordingly, a substantially lower level of assurance is obtained. The
selection of the assurance procedures is subject to the professional judgment of the assurance
practitioner.

In the course of our assurance engagement we have, among other things, performed the following
assurance procedures and other activities:

— Interviewing employees responsible for the materiality analysis at group level in order to obtain an
understanding on the approach for identifying key issues and related reporting limits of SAP,

— Carrying out a risk assessment, inclusive of media analysis, on relevant information on
sustainability performance of SAP in the reporting period,

— Assessing the design and implementation of systems and processes for identifying, handling, and
monitoring information on environmental, employee and social matters, human rights and
combating corruption and bribery, including the consolidation of data,

— Interviewing staff on group level, who are responsible for the disclosures on concepts, due
diligence processes, results and risks, the performance of internal control activities and the
consolidation of the disclosures,

— Inspecting selected internal and external documents,

— Analytically assessing the data and trends of the quantitative information, which is reported on
group level of all locations,

— Evaluating the local data collection, validation, and reporting processes as well as the reliability of
the reported data by means of a sampling survey at two locations,

— Interviewing of responsible staff on group level to obtain an understanding of the approach to
identify relevant economic activities in accordance with the EU taxonomy,

— Evaluating the design and implementation of systems and procedures for identifying, processing,
and monitoring information on turnover, capital expenditures and operating expenditures for the
taxonomy-relevant economic activities for the first two environmental objectives climate change
mitigation and climate change adaptation,

— Evaluating the data collection, validation, and reporting processes, as well as the reliability of the
reported data for the taxonomy-aligned economic activities in conjunction with the assessment of
the technical evaluation criteria for the substantial contribution, the fulfilment of the DNSH-criteria
and the documentation of the minimum safeguard,

— Assessment of the overall presentation of the disclosures.

In determining the disclosures in accordance with Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation,
management is required to interpret undefined legal terms. Due to the immanent risk that undefined
legal terms may be interpreted differently, the legal conformity of their interpretation and, accordingly,
our assurance engagement thereon are subject to uncertainties.

Assurance Opinion

Based on the assurance procedures performed and the evidence obtained, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that the combined non-financial statement of SAP SE, Walldorf for
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the period from January 1 to December 31, 2022 has not been prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with Sections 315c in conjunction with 289c to 289e HGB and the EU Taxonomy
Regulation and the Delegated Acts issued thereunder as well as the interpretation by management as
disclosed in section “Sustainable Finance: EU Taxonomy Disclosures” of the combined non-financial
statement.

Restriction of Use

This assurance report is solely addressed to SAP SE, Walldorf.

Our assignment for SAP SE, Walldorf and professional liability is governed by the General
Engagement Terms for Wirtschaftsprifer (German Public Auditors) and Wirtschaftsprifungs-
gesellschaften (German Public Audit Firms) (Allgemeine Auftragsbedingungen fir Wirtschaftsprufer
und Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaften) in the version dated January 1, 2017
(https.//www.kpmg.de/bescheinigungen/lib/aab_english.pdf). By reading and using the information
contained in this assurance report, each recipient confirms having taken note of provisions of the
General Engagement Terms (including the limitation of our liability for negligence to EUR 4 million as
stipulated in No. 9) and accepts the validity of the attached General Engagement Terms with respect
to us.

Mannheim, den 22. Februar 2023

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft

Beyer Wiegand
Wirtschaftsprifer Wirtschaftsprufer
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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Assurance Report of the
Independent Auditor
regarding Sustainability
Information

To the Executive Board of SAP SE, Walldorf

We have performed a limited assurance engagement on selected qualitative and quantitative
sustainability disclosures as well as on selected quantitative sustainability indicators included in the
Integrated Report 2021 (further “Report”) for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2022, of SAP
SE, Walldorf (further “Company” or “SAP”).

For the selected quantitative sustainability indicators Business Health Culture Index; Employee
Engagement Index; Employee Retention Rate; Ratio of Women in Management; Total Gross and Net
Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 1, Scope 2 and selected Scope 3 emissions including, for
instance, business flights and employee commuting); Renewable Energy Certificates (Energy Attribute
Certificates); Total Energy Consumption; and Customer Net Promoter Score, including the explanatory
notes supplementing these indicators (further “sustainability indicators”), a reasonable assurance
engagement was performed.

For selected qualitative and quantitative sustainability disclosures included in “Further Information on
Economic, Environmental, and Social Performance” (sections: About This Further Information on
Economic, Environmental, and Social Performance; Materiality; Stakeholder Engagement;
Sustainability Management; Social Investments; Sustainable Procurement; Waste and Water; Public
Policy; Non-Financial Notes: Environmental Performance; GRI Content Index excluding quantitative
and qualitative information in relation to GRI 207 Tax) and the chapter “About This Report” (further
“sustainability disclosures”) a limited assurance engagement was performed.

Responsibilities of Management

Management of the company is responsible for the preparation of the Report in accordance with the
Reporting Criteria. SAP’s Report applies the principles and standard disclosures of the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Standards, the Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Scope 2 Guidance, and the Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3)
Accounting and Reporting Standard of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Initiative by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, in combination with internal
guidelines, as described in the respective sections and the “Non-Financial Notes: Environmental
Performance” as Reporting Criteria (further: “Reporting Criteria”).

This responsibility includes the selection and application of appropriate methods to prepare the
Report and making assumptions and estimates about individual qualitative and quantitative
sustainability disclosures of the group that are reasonable in the circumstances. Furthermore,
management is responsible for such internal control as they consider necessary to enable the
preparation of the Report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independence and Quality Assurance of the Assurance
Practitioner’s firm

We have complied with the independence and quality assurance requirements set out in the national
legal provisions and professional pronouncements, in particular the Professional Code for German
Public Auditors and Chartered Accountants (in Germany) and the quality assurance standard of the
German Institute of Public Auditors (Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer, IDW) regarding quality assurance
requirements in audit practice (IDW QS 1).

Responsibility of the Assurance Practitioner

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion based on our work performed within the assurance
engagement on the sustainability indicators and the sustainability disclosures described above. We
conducted our work in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE)
3000 (Revised): “Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”, published by IAASB.

Accordingly, we have to comply with our professional duties and to plan and perform the assurance
engagement in such a way that we, respecting the principle of materiality, reach our conclusion with a
reasonable level of assurance on the above-mentioned sustainability indicators. The assurance of the
sustainability indicators encompasses the performance of assurance procedures to obtain evidence
for the information included in the Report. The choice of assurance procedures is subject to the
professional judgment of the assurance practitioner.

This standard requires that we plan and perform the assurance engagement to obtain limited
assurance about whether any matters have come to our attention that cause us to believe that the
above-mentioned sustainability disclosures for the reporting period January 1 to December 31, 2022
are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Reporting Criteria. We do not,
however, issue a separate conclusion for each disclosure. In a limited assurance engagement, the
procedures performed are less extensive than in a reasonable assurance engagement, and
accordingly, a substantially lower level of assurance is obtained. The selection of the assurance
procedures is subject to the professional judgment of the assurance practitioner.

In the course of our limited assurance engagement we have, among other things, performed the
following assurance procedures and other activities:

— Inquiries of group-level employees responsible for the materiality analysis in order to understand
the processes for determining material topics and respective reporting boundaries for SAP SE,

— Arisk analysis, including a media search, to identify relevant information on SAP SE'’s sustainability
performance in the reporting period,

— Evaluation of the design and implementation of systems and processes for the collection,
processing and monitoring of the qualitative and quantitative disclosures included in the scope of
this engagement, including the consolidation of data,

— Inquiries of group-level personnel who are responsible for determining and consolidating
disclosures and for performing internal controls, including the explanatory notes,

— Inspection of selected internal and external documents,

— Analytical procedures for the evaluation of data and of the trends of the quantitative disclosures as
reported at group level by all sites,

— Evaluation of local data collection, validation, and reporting processes as well as of the reliability of
the reported data based on a sample of two locations,

— Evaluation of the consistency of GRI Standards as reported by SAP SE with the qualitative and
quantitative disclosures in the sustainability report,
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— Assessment of the overall presentation of the disclosures.
In addition, we conducted the following procedures to obtain reasonable assurance:

— An evaluation of the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the systems and
methods used to collect and process the data reported for Business Health Culture Index,
Employee Engagement Index, Employee Retention Rate, Ratio of Women in Management,
Customer Net Promoter Score, Total Gross and Net Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 1 and 2 as
well as selected Scope 3 emissions including business flights and employee commuting),
Renewable Energy, Total Energy Consumed, including the aggregation of the data into the
information as presented in the online Integrated Report,

— Auditing the 2022 data using internal and external documentation in order to determine in detail
whether the data correspond to the information in the relevant underlying sources, and whether all
the relevant information contained in such underlying sources has been included in SAP's online
Integrated Report,

— Conducting site visits to Walldorf, St. Leon Rot and (remote) Seoul (South Korea) to assess the
quality of information management systems and the reliability of the data as reported to corporate
level.

In our opinion, we obtained sufficient and appropriate evidence for reaching a conclusion for the
assurance engagement.

Assurance Opinion

In our opinion the above-mentioned selected quantitative sustainability indicators in the Report,
including the Non-Financial Notes supplementing these indicators, of SAP SE for the period from
January 1 to December 31, 2022, are presented, in all material respects, in accordance with the
Reporting Criteria.

Based on the assurance procedures performed and the evidence obtained for the limited assurance,
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the above-mentioned selected
qualitative and quantitative sustainability disclosures of SAP SE for the period from January 1 to
December 31, 2022, published in the Report, are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance
with the Reporting Criteria.

Restriction of Use

This assurance report is solely addressed to SAP SE, Walldorf. We assume no responsibility with
regard to any third parties.

Our assignment for SAP SE, Walldorf and professional liability is governed by the General
Engagement Terms for Wirtschaftspriifer (German Public Auditors) and Wirtschaftsprifungs-
gesellschaften (German Public Audit Firms) (Allgemeine Auftragsbedingungen fir Wirtschaftspriifer
und Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaften) in the version dated January 1, 2017
(httos/www.kpmg.de/bescheinigungen/lib/aab_english.pdl). By reading and using the information
contained in this assurance report, each recipient confirms having taken note of provisions of the
General Engagement Terms (including the limitation of our liability for negligence to EUR 4 million as
stipulated in No. 9) and accepts the validity of the attached General Engagement Terms with respect
to us.
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Mannheim, February 22, 2023

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

Beyer Wiegand
Wirtschaftsprfer Wirtschaftsprufer
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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General Information About
This Management Report

Basis of Presentation

This combined group management report by the SAP Group (collectively, “‘we,” “us,” “our,” “SAP,”
“Group,” or “Company”) and the management report of SAP SE have been prepared in accordance
with sections 289, 289a, 289b, 289f, 315, 315a, 315b, and 315d of the German Commercial Code and
German Accounting Standards (GAS) No. 17 and 20. The combined group management report is also
a management commentary complying with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Practice Statement “Management Commentary.”

Our auditor, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft (KPMG), audited SAP’s combined group
management report, except for some information that relates to the Non-Financial Staterment
Including Information on Sustainable Activities that was not subject to the statutory audit of our
combined group management report, but on which a limited assurance engagement was performed.
The Security, Data Protection, and Privacy, Employees, Energy and Emissions,; Business Conduct, and
Human Rights sections also include such information that was not subject to the statutory audit of our
combined group management report, but on which a limited assurance engagement was performed.
These sections contain further explanations about the audit scope in an info box at the end of the

respective section marked by the symbol Q..

For more information about the scope of the assurance and the underlying reporting criteria, see
KPMG's /ndependent Auditor’s Report, the Independent Assurance Practitioner's Report regarding the
limited assurance engagement on the combined non-financial statement, and the Assurance Report
of the Independent Auditor Regarding Sustainability Information.

All of the information in this report relates to the situation as at December 31, 2022, or the fiscal year
ended on that date, unless otherwise stated. As figures are rounded, numbers presented throughout
this document may not add up precisely to the totals we provide and percentages may not precisely
reflect the absolute figures.

Forward-Looking Statements

This management report contains forward-looking statements and information based on the beliefs of,
and assumptions made by, SAP management using information currently available to them. Any
statements contained in this report that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements as
defined in the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We have based these forward-
looking statements on our current expectations, assumptions, and projections about future conditions
and events. As a result, our forward-looking statements and information are subject to uncertainties
and risks, many of which are beyond our control. If one or more of these uncertainties or risks
materializes, or if management’s underlying assumptions prove incorrect, our actual results could
differ materially from those described in or inferred from our forward-looking statements and
information. We describe these risks and uncertainties in the Risk Management and Risks section.

The words “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “counting on,” “is confident,”
“development,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “future trends,” “guidance,” “intend,” “may,” “might,’
“outlook,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “strategy,” “want,” “will,” “would,” and similar
expressions as they relate to us are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such
statements include, for example, those made in the Operating Results subsection, our quantitative
and qualitative disclosures about market risk pursuant to the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), namely IFRS 7 and related statements in our Notes to the Consolidated Financial
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Statements; Expected Developments and Opportunities and Risk Management and Risks sections;
and other forward-looking information appearing in other parts of this report.

To fully consider the factors that could affect our future financial results, both this report and our
Annual Report on Form 20-F should be considered, as well as all of our other filings with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date specified or the date of this report.
We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements as a result of
new information that we receive about conditions that existed upon issuance of this report, future
events, or otherwise, unless we are required to do so by law.

This report includes statistical data about the IT industry and global economic trends that comes from
information published by sources including International Data Corporation (IDC), Gartner, the
European Central Bank (ECB), and the International Monetary Fund (IMF). This type of data
represents only the estimates of IDC, Gartner, the ECB, the IMF, and other sources of industry data.
SAP does not adopt or endorse any of the statistical information provided by sources such as IDC,
Gartner, the ECB, the IMF, or other similar sources that is contained in this report. The data from these
sources is subject to risks and uncertainties, and subject to change based on various factors, including
those described above, in the Risk Management and Risks section, and elsewhere in this report.
These and other factors could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in the
estimates made by third parties and SAP. We caution readers not to place undue reliance on this
data.
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Strategy and Business Model

Overview of SAP

Founded in 1972, SAP is a global company headquartered in Walldorf, Germany. Our legal corporate
name is SAP SE. SAP has been named a market share leader in the following areas worldwide:
enterprise applications software,® enterprise resource management applications,* supply chain
management applications,® procurement applications software,® travel and expense management
software,” and enterprise resource planning software,® among others. The SAP Group has a global
presence and employs more than 110,000 people as at December 31, 2022.

Our ordinary shares are listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. American Depositary Receipts (ADRs)
representing SAP SE ordinary shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). SAP is a
member of Germany’s DAX and TecDAX as well as the Dow Jones EURO STOXX 50, the Dow Jones
Sustainability Index World, and the Dow Jones Sustainability Index Europe. As at December 31, 2022,
SAP was the second most valuable company in the DAX based on market capitalization and
maintained industry leadership as one of two companies in the software industry in the S&P Global
Corporate Sustainability Assessment for the sixteenth consecutive year.

Our Purpose

Our purpose at SAP is to “help the world run better and improve people’s lives.” We strive to achieve
this as both an enabler and an exemplar of sustainable business. Our products and services aim to
help our customers both meet the challenges and take advantage of the opportunities presented by
today’s rapidly changing world.

In addition, we want our own business operations and practices to be intelligent, sustainable, and
inclusive. SAP is committed to the goal set by the Paris Agreement of limiting global warming to

1.5 degrees Celsius in comparison to pre-industrial levels. SAP has announced the intention to
become carbon neutral in our own operations by the end of 2023 — two years earlier than previously
stated. Further, in January 2022, SAP announced the commitment to achieve net-zero along our value
chain in 2030. We also support the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs).
Together with our customers and partners, we are engaged in initiatives across the UN SDGs.

3 IDC, IDC Semiannual Software Tracker: 2022H1 Final Historical, October 2022

41DC, Worldwide Enterprise Resource Management Software Market Shares, 2021: Digital-First World Propelling the Market, Doc
#US48564022, July. 2022

51DC, Worldwide Supply Chain Management Applications Market Shares, 2021: Growth Resumed, Doc ##US49846822, Dec. 2022

% 1DC, Worldwide Procurement Applications Software Market Shares, 2021: Consistent Sector Growth as Dominant Players Maintain Share,
Doc #US49273722, June. 2022

7IDC, Worldwide Travel and Expense Management Software Market Shares, 2021: Data Management Forms New Foundation for T&E,
Doc #US48515722, August 2022

8 1DC, Worldwide Enterprise Planning, Budgeting, and Forecasting Applications 2022 Vendor Assessment, Doc #US48985622, December
2022
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Our Vision

SAP’s vision is to reinvent how the world runs as a network of intelligent,® sustainable enterprises. In
our pursuit of this vision, we focus on three areas:

Helping Our Customers Become Intelligent and Sustainable Enterprises

Intelligent enterprises use data with embedded artificial intelligence (Al) and experience management
to remove friction across business processes and drive innovation, enabling people to work more
flexibly.

Bringing Enterprises Together into a Global Business Network

Businesses are playing an even greater role in their communities — forming a network that expands far
beyond the walls of any one company. We deliver innovation and intelligent technologies across
procurement, logistics, asset management, and industry-specific offerings to enable a global business
network spanning industries and value chains. This becomes even more important when companies
face supply chain disruptions, as our software aims to enable stakeholders in the network to react to
disruption in real time.

Enabling a Sustainable World

The traditional focus of businesses on productivity and profitability is expanding to include a new
measurement for business success — how operations impact the environment, or the “green line.” With
the overview and transparency of business processes and ability to connect value chains end to end
provided by SAP software, we help companies to measure and improve sustainability across entire
networks, allowing them to effectively pursue key milestones such as zero emissions, zero waste, and
zero inequality.

Our strategy is firmly rooted in our goal to be an innovative and trusted partner for our ecosystem,
supporting them on their journey to reinvent how their businesses run. With this strategy, we aim to
achieve our overarching objectives of creating resilient, profitable, and sustainable business outcomes
for our customers.

Our Business Model

Our business model, through which we implement our vision and strategy, can be summarized as
follows:

We create value by identifying the business needs of our customers, then by developing and
delivering cloud solutions, software, services, and support addressing these needs. By proactively
obtaining customer feedback on a regular basis, we strive to continuously improve our solutions,
identify further business needs, and deliver enhanced value to our customers across the whole
lifecycle and thus increase customer loyalty.

We derive revenue from fees charged to our customers through subscriptions for use of our cloud
solutions. Software licenses, on-premise support, consulting, development, training, and other
services also contribute significant revenue.

For an overview of our product portfolio, see the Our Product Strategy section.

9 An “intelligent enterprise” is an event-driven, real-time business powered by technology that includes machine learning, robotic process
automation, Internet of Things, and analytics capabilities to help scale innovation.
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Subsidiaries, Acquisitions, and Joint Ventures

Subsidiaries

SAP SE is the parent company of the SAP Group. As at December 31, 2022, the SAP Group
comprised 288 companies.

For a list of our subsidiaries, associates, and other equity investments, see the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (G.9), Scope of Consolidation, Subsidiaries, and Other
Equity Investments.

Material Acquisitions

We continue to focus on organic investments in technology and innovations that ensure sustainable
growth of our solution portfolio. Additionally, we may make targeted acquisitions to complement our
solution offerings and improve coverage in key strategic markets.

In March 2022, SAP acquired a majority stake of Taulia, a leading provider of working capital
management solutions. We expect Taulia to further expand SAP’s business network and to strengthen
our cloud solution portfolio for the CFO office. Taulia’s solutions are integrated into SAP’s portfolio as
well as continuing to be available as standalone solutions. Taulia operates as a separate business
segment with its own brand within the SAP Group.

For more information about Taulia, see Note (D.1), Business Combinations and Divestitures.

Divestitures
Litmos

On August 17, 2022, SAP and Francisco Partners (FP) announced that FP had signed a definitive
agreement with SAP America, Inc. under which FP would acquire SAP Litmos from SAP. The
transaction closed on December 1, 2022, following satisfaction of applicable regulatory and other
approvals.

For more information about Litmos, see Note (D.1), Business Combinations and Divestitures.
SAP to Explore a Sale of its Stake in Qualtrics

On January 26, 2023, SAP announced that in line with the strategic initiative to streamline its portfolio,
SAP has decided to explore a sale of its stake in Qualtrics. In the event of a successful transaction,
SAP intends to remain a go-to-market and technology partner, servicing its joint customers and
contributing to its growth and category leadership. A final decision on any transaction, its conditions
and timing is subject to market conditions, agreement on acceptable terms, regulatory approvals and
the approval of the SAP SE Supervisory Board.

For more information about Qualtrics, see Note (G.8), Events after the Reporting Period.

Sapphire Ventures

In addition to our investments in organic growth and acquisitions, SAP also supports entrepreneurs
that aspire to build industry-leading businesses through venture capital funds managed by Sapphire
Ventures. Sapphire Ventures manages more than US$10 billion (over €9 billion) and has invested in
more than 200 companies. It pursues opportunities in which it can help fuel enterprise growth by
adding expertise, relationships, geographic reach, and capital. It places a particular focus on
companies in Europe, Israel, the United Kingdom, and the United States.
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Our Product Strategy

SAP's suite of applications allows enterprises to manage their resources, spend, employees, and
customer relationships. The SAP Business Technology Platform (SAP BTP) is the platform for SAP,
our customers, and our ecosystem.

The strategic pillars of SAP’s product strategy and their corresponding updates for the year are as
follows:

ERP Cloud

SAP SI4HANA provides software capabilities mainly for finance, risk management, project
management, procurement, manufacturing, supply chain management, asset management, and
research and development. It also includes platform capabilities such as database (SAP HANA), data
management, and lifecycle/solution management, as well as cloud ERP solutions, which our
customers consume as part of their transformation to SAP S/4HANA. At our flagship conference SAP
Sapphire in May 2022, SAP announced the launch of SAP Digital Manufacturing Cloud, a solution
designed to help customers optimize manufacturing performance by integrating production execution,
visibility, and analysis. In addition, SAP and Apple have expanded their partnership and released a
new suite of iIOS apps designed to streamline the digital supply chain and equip workers with intuitive
tools.

Human Experience Management

SAP SuccessFactors solutions for human resources aim to empower organizations to create an agile
and future-ready workforce in a rapidly changing workplace. Customers can use new offers like skills
ontology, personal growth portfolio for employees, and dynamic teams to work across traditional
organizational structures. The portfolio includes core HR and payroll, talent management, employee
experience management, and people and workforce analytics.

Spend Management

SAP’s intelligent spend management solutions aim to provide a more unified view of a customer’s
spending to reduce costs, mitigate risks, improve collaboration, and make sure every spend decision
is aligned with the business strategy. They cover direct and indirect spend, travel and expense, and
external workforce management. SAP Ariba combines industry-leading cloud-based applications to
help companies discover and collaborate with a global network of partners.

Customer Experience

The SAP Customer Experience portfolio aims to deliver a personalized view across customers and
business partners, connecting the front- and back office with solutions spanning from point-of-sale to
manufacturing, to logistics, customer experience, and returns management.

SAP Business Technology Platform

SAP Business Technology Platform (SAP BTP) is a unified, business-centric, and open platform
that helps enable customers and partners to build, integrate, and extend applications while gaining
insights from business data in a cloud-native way. SAP BTP aims to bring together capabilities across
application development, automation, data and analytics (including planning), integration, and
artificial intelligence (Al) into one platform.

In 2022, we launched the SAP Build portfolio, bringing together SAP Build Apps (formerly SAP
AppGyver); SAP Build Process Automation (formerly SAP Process Automation); and SAP Build
Work Zone (formerly SAP Work Zone) into a unified development environment as part of SAP BTP.
The SAP Build portfolio aims to enable business users to integrate systems; intelligently monitor,
analyze, and automate processes; and build applications using SAP BTP and business application
data from SAP — all without moving data to an external system.
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Industry Cloud

SAP’s industry cloud solutions provide the opportunity for SAP and our partners to extend our core
with modular solutions addressing industry-specific functions built on SAP BTP.

Business Network

The SAP Business Network solution portfolio aims to enable companies to collaborate with trading
partners for greater supply chain visibility.

SAP Signavio

Our business process transformation solutions help our customers scan their operations to
understand and improve their business process landscape. We support analysis of current processes,
benchmarking against best practices, and reconfiguring current processes towards future processes.
The portfolio includes SAP Signavio solutions as well as SAP Process Automation. SAP also
announced the general availability of “journey-to-process” analytics. This offering aims to give
companies a better understanding of their end-to-end business processes by correlating experience
data from Qualtrics user surveys with operational data from underlying IT systems.

Sustainability

SAP offers sustainability solutions and services that can help customers drive sustainable practices
not only inside their organization, but across the entire value chain. SAP Cloud for Sustainable
Enterprises brings together a comprehensive solution portfolio for businesses that aims to enable
businesses to manage sustainability holistically. Product innovations include the following solutions:
SAP Sustainability Control Tower for holistic steering and reporting across ESG metrics, SAP
Product Footprint Management for emissions accounting and management, and SAP
Responsible Design and Production to reduce waste and accelerate circular business. SAP also
plans to further complement the sustainability portfolio with solutions that support environmental,
social, and governmental topics. At the end of the year, SAP and PwC announced a new co-
innovation strategy to make sustainability an integral part of standard business operations to help
organizations achieve their ESG and net zero target.

Experience Management

Experience management (XM) refers to both Qualtrics technology as well as the discipline of
seeking out and closing the experience gaps across the four core areas of businesses — customer,
product, employee, and brand.

Partners and Ecosystem

SAP’s ecosystem consists of more than 20,000 partners worldwide in more than 140 countries.
Partners can choose from a variety of SAP solutions to create their own unique SAP-qualified partner-
packaged solution to provide small and midsize enterprises with fixed-scope packaged solutions.

Services and Support

In April 2022, SAP announced that we reimagined our cloud services and support portfolio to focus on
customer adoption and consumption. This portfolio includes SAP Enterprise Support which comes
with foundational tools and services, curated content, and mission-critical support. It can be enhanced
with incremental success plans such as SAP Preferred Success and SAP Cloud Application
Services, and success services through business journeys and consulting services to address specific
objectives, timelines, and plans. When customers pursue enterprise-wide transformational change,
SAP offers SAP MaxAttention and SAP ActiveAttention plans for tailored, long-term strategic
engagement.
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Vision and Strategy

Focusing on Customer Success

We aim to maximize the value our customers derive from their investment in and relationship with
SAP at every touchpoint in their experience with us over the engagement lifecycle. Our customer-
facing teams — across solutions, sales, services, customer engagement, ecosystem, and others — work
together along an operating model that aims to harmonize internal processes with the goal of
delivering improved outcomes for our customers.

Company-Wide Global Experience Program

To further address and improve on customer feedback through research conducted using Qualtrics
solutions, we developed a Company-Wide Global Experience (XM) Program. This program aims
to achieve a consistent end-to-end experience for our customers. It includes standardizing experience
initiatives and methodologies to help identify and improve experience gaps across SAP.

Due Diligence
Governance

The head of Customer Success leads all customer-facing functions across sales, services, partner,
and cloud engagements for SAP’s businesses globally. The Chief Marketing & Solutions Officer leads
the development of our solution value propositions to provide clarity on SAP’s core differentiators. The
People & Operations Board area is responsible for conducting the Company-Wide XM Program,
including conducting the Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS) survey.

Guidelines and Policies

Policies such as the Global Code of Ethics and Business Conduct for Employees and applicable
General Terms and Conditions for our product govern our relationships with our customers.

How We Measure and Manage Our Performance

We use the Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS) as a feedback mechanism to measure customer
loyalty. This and other results from the customer survey allow us to directly understand the customer
experience and identify key pain points for action. Because of the importance of our customers to
SAP, Customer NPS is one of our main KPlIs.

In 2022, our Customer NPS?* decreased 7 points year over year to 3 (2021: 10), which is at the low
end of our adjusted target range of 3 to 8.1* The decrease was driven by feedback provided around
pricing increases and licensing structure, product-related topics, and support and services. The XM
Program ensures that the feedback received is heard by the responsible organizations within SAP so
they can act to continually improve the customer experience.

Beginning in 2023, we will adjust the calculation of NPS to better reflect the business priorities of the
Company. For comparison purposes, the NPS for 2022 would be 7 according to the new calculation.
For 2023, we expect an NPS of 8 to 12, representing an increase of 1 to 5 points against the new
baseline. Further, we aim to see continuous improvements and increase the score steadily in the
medium term.

Customer NPS is a KPI in Executive Board remuneration as part of the short-term incentive
component. Further, it is included as a KPI in some customer-facing employee bonus plans.

For more information about the Customer NPS, see the Performance Management System section.

19 Due to the Russian invasion of Ukraine, customers in Ukraine and the CIS region were excluded from the second quarter 2022.
 The initial guidance range provided in January 2022 was 11 to 15 and was adjusted to a range of 3 to 8 in October 2022.
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Related Risks for SAP

For related financial risks, see Sales and Services in the Risk Management and Risks section.

Our Investments in Innovation

SAP’s strong commitment to R&D is reflected in our expenditures (see graphic below).

Research & Development (IFRS)

€ millions | change since previous year

6.166

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

In 2022, our IFRS R&D ratio, reflecting R&D expenses as a portion of total operating expenses,
increased 1.1 percentage points (pp) to 23.5% (2021: 22.4%). Our non-IFRS R&D ratio increased
0.4pp to 24.2% year over year (2021: 23.8%). At the end of 2022, our total full-time equivalent (FTE)
headcount in development was 34,122 (2021: 32,244). Measured in FTEs, our R&D headcount was
30% of total headcount, remaining stable compared to 2021.

Total R&D expense not only includes our own personnel costs but also the external costs of work and
services from the providers and cooperation partners we work with to deliver and enhance our
products. We also incur external costs for the following:

Translating, localizing, and testing products

Obtaining certification for products in different markets

Patent attorney services and fees

Consulting related to our product strategy

Professional development of our R&D workforce

Patents

Our investment in R&D has resulted in numerous patents. As at December 31, 2022, SAP held a total
of close to 13,000 (2021: more than 11,000) validated patents worldwide. Of these, more than 800
(2021: 793) were granted and validated in 2022.

While our intellectual property is important to our success, we believe our business as a whole is not
dependent on any particular patent or a combination of patents.
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Competitive Intangibles

The majority of (intangible) resources that are the basis for our current as well as future success does
not appear in the book value of equity in our Consolidated Financial Statements. This is apparent
from a comparison of the market capitalization of SAP SE (based on all issued shares), which was
€118.4 billion at the end of 2022 (2021: €153.4 billion), with the book value of our equity in the
Consolidated Financial Statements, which was €42.8 billion (2021: €41.5 billion). This means that the
market capitalization of our equity is more than two times higher than the book value. The difference
is mainly due to certain internally generated intangible resources that the applicable accounting
standards do not allow to be recorded (at all or at fair value) in the Consolidated Financial
Statements. These resources include customer capital (our customer base and customer relations);
employees and their knowledge and skills; our ecosystem of partners; the majority of internally
developed software; our ability to innovate; the brands we have built up, in particular, the SAP brand
itself; and our organization.

According to the Interbrand “Best Global Brands” annual survey, SAP ranked as the 20th most valued
brand in the world (2021: 20th). Against other German brands, the SAP brand ranks third behind
Mercedes-Benz and BMW, and third globally against other brands in the business services sector.
Interbrand determined our brand value to be US$31 billion, an increase of 3% compared to the
previous year (2021: US$30 billion). Kantar BrandZ recognized SAP as the world’s 31st most valuable
brand in its 2022 Most Valuable Global Brands ranking (2021: 26th). The ranking estimates SAP’s
brand value at US$69 billion, unchanged compared to the previous year.

Measuring Our Success

We use the following financial and non-financial objectives to steer our company:
— Growth

— Profitability

— Customer loyalty

— Employee engagement

— Carbon impact

The table below provides an overview of the specific KPIs used to measure performance within these
objectives and compares this performance with our goals.

Outlook and Results for 2022

Strategic Objective KPI 2022 Outlook* 2022 Results

€11.55 billion to

Cloud revenue? - €11.68 billion
Growth €11.85 billion

Cloud and software revenue? €25.0 billion to €25.5 billion €25.02 billion

Operating profit*? €7.6 billion to €7.9 billion €7.68 billion
Profitability

Free cash flow Approx. €4.5 billion €4.35 billion
Customer Loyalty Customer Net Promoter Score 3to8 3
Employee Employee Engagement Index 80% to 84% 80%
Engagement
Carbon Impact Net carbon emissions 90 kt to 95 kt 85 kt

* The 2022 outlook was communicated in January 2022 and was updated in April, July, and October 2022. The 2022 outlook numbers
above reflect the updated outlook from October 2022.

1 Non-IFRS
2 At constant currencies
Note: A reconciliation of non-IFRS results to IFRS equivalents is available in the Performance Management System section.
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Outlook for 2023

Strategic Objective KPI 2022 Results 2023 Outlook

Cloud revenue €12.56 billion €15.3 billion to €15.7 billion?

Growth

Cloud and software revenue €26.52 billion €28.2 billion to €28.7 billion?

Operating profit €8.03 billion* €8.8 billion to €9.1 billion*?
Profitability
Free cash flow €4.35 billion Approximately €5.0 billion
Customer Net Promoter Score 3
(2022 methodology)
Customer Loyalty
Customer Net Promoter Score
7 81to 12
(2023 methodology) *
Employee 0, 0, 0
Engagement Employee Engagement Index 80% 76% to 80%
Carbon Impact Net carbon emissions 85 kt 0 kt

*Non-IFRS
2 At constant currencies

3 The calculation methodology has been adjusted from 2023 to better reflect the business priorities of SAP. For reference, we are providing
the 2022 number calculated according to the new methodology for better comparison.

Note: A reconciliation of non-IFRS results to IFRS equivalent is available in the Performance Management System section.

Ambitions for 2025
SAP expects to update its mid-term ambition in the first half of 2023.

Strategic Objective

KPI

2025 Ambition

Growth

Cloud revenue

More than €22 billion

Total revenue

More than €36 billion

Profitability

Operating profit*

More than €11.5 billion

Free cash flow

Approximately €8 billion

Customer Loyalty

Customer Net Promoter Score

Steady increase

Employee
Engagement

Employee Engagement Index

84% to 86%

Carbon Impact

Net carbon emissions

0 kt (from 2023 onward;
net zero along our value
chain by 2030)

1Non-IFRS

Note: A reconciliation of non-IFRS results to IFRS equivalents is available in the Performance Management System section.
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Performance Management
System

We use various performance measures to manage our performance with regard to our primary
financial objectives, which are growth and profitability, and our primary non-financial objectives, which
are customer loyalty, employee engagement, and carbon impact. We view growth and profitability as
indicators of our current performance, while we see customer loyalty, employee engagement, and
carbon impact as indicators of our future performance.

Measures to Manage Our Financial Performance

Measures to Manage Our Operating Financial Performance

In the reporting year, we used cloud revenue, cloud and software revenue, share of more predictable
revenue, current cloud backlog and operating profit (non-IFRS) as our key measures to manage our
operating financial performance. In addition to these, we used several supporting measures to provide
further insight into our financial performance:

Cloud revenue: This revenue driver comprises the main revenues of our fast-growing cloud business.
Revenue from cloud is derived from fees earned from providing customers with any of the following:

— Software as a service (SaaS)
SaaS comprises all offerings which are not included in PaaS and laaS.

— Platform as a service (PaaS)
Paa$S primarily includes SAP Business Technology Platform and SAP Signavio.

— Infrastructure as a service (laaS)
Major portion of laaS comes from SAP HANA Enterprise Cloud.

For more information regarding the composition of cloud revenue and a description of these services,
see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (A.1).

We use the cloud revenue measure at both actual currencies and constant currencies.

Cloud and software revenue: \We use cloud and software revenue expressed in both actual
currencies and constant currencies to measure our product growth. Our cloud and software revenue
includes cloud revenue plus software license revenue and software support revenue. Cloud revenue
and software support revenue are our two largest revenue streams. Customers that purchase software
licenses also enter into related support contracts that generate recurring support revenue after the
software sale. Support contracts cover standardized support services and unspecified future software
updates and enhancements.

SAP SI4AHANA cloud revenue: We use SAP S/4HANA cloud revenue expressed in both actual
currencies and constant currencies as an additional metric to measure our cloud core ERP growth.
SAP offers a choice of SAP S/4HANA cloud deployments — as a public cloud or private cloud
software-as-a-service (SaaS) offering.

Total revenue: \We use total revenue to measure our growth at both actual currencies and constant
currencies.

Share of more predictable revenue: We use share of more predictable revenue as a measure to
provide additional insight into our sustained business success. The total of cloud revenue and support
revenue divided by total revenue is the share of more predictable revenue.
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Cloud backlog: We use the following measures in both actual and at constant currencies, to
measure our forward-looking cloud performance:

— Total cloud backlog (TCB)
— Current cloud backlog (CCB)
— SAP S/4HANA CCB

As of a specific key date, the TCB is the total contractually committed cloud revenue we expect to
recognize and the CCB is the contractually committed cloud revenue we expect to recognize over the
upcoming 12 months. Thus, they are subcomponents of our overall remaining performance
obligations following IFRS 15.120. For our committed cloud business, we believe the TCB and the
CCB are valuable indicators of our go-to-market success, as it reflects both new contracts closed as
well as existing contracts renewed.

As an additional metric we use SAP S/4AHANA CCB to measure the contractually committed cloud
core ERP revenue we expect to recognize over the upcoming 12 months as of a specific key date.

Cloud gross profit (non-IFRS): We use cloud gross profit (non-IFRS) expressed in both actual
currencies and constant currencies to measure the process efficiency and performance of our cloud
business.

Operating profit (non-IFRS): We use operating profit (non-IFRS) expressed in both actual currencies
and constant currencies to measure our overall operational process efficiency and overall business
performance.

Cloud gross margin (non-IFRS): We use our cloud gross margin (non-IFRS) to measure our process
efficiency in our cloud business. Cloud gross margin (non-IFRS) is the ratio of our cloud gross profit
(non-IFRS) to cloud revenue, expressed as a percentage.

Operating margin (non-IFRS): We use operating margin to measure our overall operational process
efficiency. Operating margin (non-IFRS) is the ratio of our operating profit (non-IFRS) to total revenue,
expressed as a percentage.

Measures to Manage Our Non-Operating Financial Performance

We used the following supporting measure to provide insight into our non-operating financial
performance:

Financial income, net: This measure provides insight into the return on liquid assets and capital
investments and the cost of borrowed funds. To manage our financial income, net, we focus on cash
flow, the composition of our liquid assets and capital investment portfolio, and the average rate of
interest at which assets are invested. We also monitor average outstanding borrowings and associated
finance costs.

Measures to Manage Overall Financial Performance

We used free cash flow as key measure to manage our overall financial performance. In addition to
that, we used several supporting measures to provide further insight into our overall financial
performance:

Earnings per share (EPS) (IFRS and non-IFRS): EPS (basic and diluted) measures our overall
performance because it captures all operating and non-operating elements of profit as well as income
tax expense. It represents the portion of profit after tax attributable to equity holders of SAP SE
allocable to each SAP share outstanding. EPS is influenced not only by our operating and non-
operating business and income taxes but also by the number of shares outstanding.

Effective tax rate (IFRS and non-IFRS): We define our effective tax rate as the ratio of income tax
expense to profit before tax, expressed as a percentage.
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Operating, investing, and financing cash flows and free cash flow: Our consolidated statement
of cash flows provides insight into how we generate and use cash and cash equivalents. When
applied in conjunction with the other primary financial statements, it provides information that helps
us evaluate the changes in our net assets, our financial structure (including our liquidity and solvency),
and our ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows to adapt to changing circumstances and
opportunities. We use our free cash flow measure to determine the cash flow remaining after all
expenditures required to maintain or expand our organic business have been paid off. This measure
provides management with supplemental information to assess our liquidity needs. We calculate free
cash flow as net cash from operating activities minus purchases (other than purchases made in
connection with business combinations) of intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment, as
well as payments of lease liabilities.

Measures to Manage Our Non-Financial Performance

In 2022, we used customer net promoter score, employee engagement index and net carbon
emissions as our key measures to manage our non-financial performance. In addition to these, we
used leadership trust score as supporting measure to provide further insight into our non-financial
performance:

Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS): The annual assessment of customer loyalty is based on a
survey that includes the Customer Net Promoter Score (NPS) metric. The Customer NPS score is
calculated based on the NPS Likelihood to Recommend question with its proprietary scoring,
identified on a scale of 0-10. We use this measure as we are convinced that we can only achieve our
financial goals when our customers are loyal to, and satisfied with, SAP and our solutions. To derive
the Customer NPS, we start with the percentage of “promoters” of SAP, that is, those giving us a score
of 9 or 10 on a scale of 0-10. We then subtract the percentage of “detractors,” that is, those giving us a
score of 0—6. The method ignores “passives,” that is, those giving us a score of 7 or 8. Consequently,
the range of achievable scores is =100 to +100, with the latter being the best achievable score for
customer loyalty as measured by the Customer NPS methodology.

Starting in 2023, SAP will adjust the methodology used to calculate Customer NPS. The adjusted
methodology is meant to provide better quality data and better align the sample with SAPs business
priorities. In the new methodology the following exclusions would be implemented: partially
completed responses, respondents who self-report that they have no influence in purchasing
decisions and restricting the number of eligible responses from Concur.

We determine the Employee Engagement Index and the Leadership Trust Score as the average
of the scores retrieved in each of the surveys we run within a fiscal year. Using the experience
management (XM) philosophy from Qualtrics, our engagement survey program “#Unfiltered” runs
according to a continuously listening approach that includes multiple data collections throughout the
year. The average scores provide an assessment of the full year engagement and trust level of our
employees.

We measure both the Employee Engagement Index as well as Leadership Trust Score to get insights
on the following:

— Employee Engagement Index: We use this index to measure the satisfaction and commitment of
our employees, how proud they are of our company, and how strongly they identify with SAP.
Applying this measure is recognition that our growth strategy depends on engaged employees. The
index is measured as percent of favorable responses using five questions in our engagement
survey program “#Unfiltered”.

— Leadership Trust Score: We use this score to further enhance accountability and to measure our
collective effort to foster a work environment based on trust. It is derived from a question in our
surveys that gauges employees’ trust in our leaders. Based on the NPS methodology, the
Leadership Trust score is calculated as the percentage of “promoters” (a score of 9 or 10 on a 10-
point scale) minus the percentage of “detractors” (a score of 1 through 6). The method ignores

62/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

“passives” (a score of 7 or 8). Consequently, the value range of Net Promoter Scores is =100 to
+100, with the latter being the best achievable score.

Net carbon emissions: We use this metric to measure our progress towards our ambitious short-term
and long-term carbon reduction targets. We measure our net carbon emissions according to the
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol. The net carbon emissions are calculated by deducting emission
savings such as self-produced renewable energy, renewable energy certificates, and carbon offsets
from our gross carbon emissions.

Value-Based Management

Our holistic view of the performance measures described above, together with our associated
analyses, comprises the information we use for value-based management. We use planning and
control processes to manage the compilation of these key measures and their availability to our
decision-makers across various management levels.

SAP’s long-term strategic plans are the point of reference for our short-term and midterm planning
and controlling processes. We initially identify future growth and profitability drivers at a highly
aggregated level for the entire SAP Group. In a first step, the resulting financial plan is broken down
into (i) product portfolio grouped into solution areas and deployment models “On Premise,” “Software
as a Service,” “Platform as a Service,” and “Infrastructure as a Service”; and (ii) functions such as
development, delivery, sales, and administration. In a second step, the planned total revenues and
total expenses are generally allocated to the operating segments and the areas of functional
responsibility of the individual members of the Executive Board (“Board area”). If a Board area
represents not only a functional department but also has a responsibility for operating segments
within this Board area, the allocation is done at the lower segment level. Budget adjustments may be
applied during the year to reflect changes in priorities, to achieve efficiency targets, and to reflect
endogenous and exogenous factors. Such budget adjustments, as well as the assessment of the
performance, are handled at the Board area level if the Board area is part of a segment, or at the
segment level if the Board area comprises several segments. It is then the individual Executive Board
member’s responsibility to break down the allocated budget adjustments within the segment budget
boundary. Based on an integrated portfolio process running in parallel to the budgeting process, we
ensure aligned investment behavior across Board areas with regards to specific solution and/or
subsolution areas. In a final step, customer-facing revenue targets and cost-of-sales and marketing
targets are broken down into sales regions and market units.

Based on our detailed annual plans, we determine the budget for the respective fiscal year. We also
have processes in place to forecast revenue and profit on a quarterly basis, to quantify whether we
expect to realize our financial goals, and to identify any deviations from plan. We continuously monitor
the affected operating segments and Board areas in the SAP Group to analyze their developments
and define any appropriate actions. Our entire network of planning, control, and reporting processes is
implemented in integrated planning and information systems, based on SAP software, across all
organizational units so that we can conduct the evaluations and analyses needed to make informed
decisions.
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Non-IFRS Financial Measures Cited in This Report

Explanation of Non-IFRS Measures

We disclose certain financial measures that are not prepared in accordance with IFRS and are
therefore considered non-IFRS financial measures. Our non-IFRS financial measures may not
correspond to non-IFRS financial measures that other companies report. The non-IFRS financial
measures that we report should only be considered in addition to, and not as substitutes for, or
superior to, our IFRS financial measures.

We believe that the disclosed supplemental historical and prospective non-IFRS financial information
provides useful information to investors because management uses this information, in addition to
financial data prepared in accordance with IFRS, to attain a more transparent understanding of our
past performance and our anticipated future results.

We use these non-IFRS measures consistently in our internal planning and forecasting, reporting, and
compensation, as well as in our external communications, as follows:

— Our management primarily uses these non-IFRS measures rather than IFRS measures as the basis
for making financial, strategic, and operating decisions.

— The variable components of our Executive Board members’ and employees’ remuneration are
based on non-IFRS numbers such as operating profit (non-IFRS) and operating margin (non-IFRS)
rather than the respective IFRS measures. An additional variable component used is current cloud
backlog (CCB).

— The annual budgeting process for all management units is based on operating profit (non-IFRS)
numbers rather than the respective IFRS financial measure.

— All forecast and performance reviews with all senior managers globally are based on these non-
IFRS measures, rather than the respective IFRS financial measures.

— Both our internal performance targets and the guidance we provide to the capital markets are
based on profit (non-IFRS) measures rather than the respective IFRS financial measures.

Our non-IFRS financial measures reflect adjustments based on the items below, as well as
adjustments for the related income tax effects.

Operating Expense (Non-IFRS)

Numbers that are identified as operating expenses (non-IFRS) have been adjusted by excluding the
following expenses:

— Acquisition-related charges

= Amortization expense/impairment charges for intangibles acquired in business combinations
and certain stand-alone acquisitions of intellectual property (including purchased in-process
research and development) as well as sale/disposal gains and losses for these intangibles

= Settlements of preexisting business relationships in connection with a business combination
= Acquisition-related third-party expenses
— Share-based payment expenses

— Restructuring expenses, that is, expenses resulting from measures which comply with the definition
of restructuring according to IFRS

We exclude certain acquisition-related expenses for the purpose of calculating operating profit (non-
IFRS), operating margin (non-IFRS), and earnings per share (non-IFRS) when evaluating SAP’s
continuing operational performance because these expenses generally cannot be changed or
influenced by management after the relevant acquisition other than by disposing of the acquired
assets. Since management at levels below the Executive Board does not influence these expenses,
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we generally do not consider these expenses for the purpose of evaluating the performance of
management units. For similar reasons, we eliminate share-based payment expenses as these costs
are impacted by share price developments and other factors outside our control. We also eliminate
restructuring expenses because they are volatile and generally cannot be influenced by management
at levels below the Executive Board.

Cloud gross profit (non-IFRS), Operating Profit (non-IFRS), Cloud Gross Margin
(non-IFRS), Operating Margin (non-IFRS), Effective Tax Rate (non-IFRS), and
Earnings per Share (non-IFRS)

Cloud gross profit, operating profit, cloud gross margin, operating margin, effective tax rate, and
earnings per share denominated as cloud gross profit (non-IFRS), operating profit (non-IFRS), cloud
gross margin (non-IFRS), operating margin (non-IFRS), effective tax rate (non-IFRS), and earnings per
share (non-IFRS) have been adjusted from the respective IFRS measures by adjusting for the
aforementioned operating expenses (non-IFRS) and the income tax effects thereon.

Constant Currencies Information

We believe it is important for investors to have information that provides insight into the development
of our sales. Revenue measures determined under IFRS provide information that is useful in this
regard. However, both sales volume and currency effects impact period-over-period changes in sales
revenue. We do not sell standardized units of products and services so we cannot provide relevant
information on sales volume by providing data on the changes in product and service units sold. To
provide additional information that may be useful to investors in breaking down and evaluating
changes in sales volume, we present information about our revenue and various values and
components relating to operating profit that are adjusted for foreign currency effects. We calculate
constant currencies measures by translating foreign currencies using the average exchange rates from
the comparative period instead of the current period. Constant currency measures on current cloud
backlog use the closing exchange rate from the previous year's corresponding key date instead of the
average exchange rate.

Free Cash Flow

Among other measures, we use free cash flow to manage our overall financial performance.

€ millions 2022 2021 Ain %
Net cash flows from operating activities 5,647 6,223 -9
Purt_:hase of |r?tang|ble as.ss.at_s and property, plant, and _g74 800 9
equipment (without acquisitions)

Payments of lease liabilities —424 -374 13
Free cash flow 4,348 5,049 -14

Usefulness of Non-IFRS Measures

We believe that our non-IFRS measures are useful to investors for the following reasons:

— Our expense (non-IFRS), and profit (non-IFRS) measures, along with the current cloud backlog
(CCB) measure (see above), provide investors with insight into management's decision-making
because management uses these measures to run our business and make financial, strategic, and
operating decisions. We exclude the expense adjustments outlined above when making decisions
to allocate resources. In addition, we use these non-IFRS measures to facilitate comparisons of
SAP’s operating performance from period to period.

— The non-IFRS measures provide investors with additional information that enables a comparison of
year-over-year operating performance by eliminating certain direct effects of acquisitions, share-
based compensation plans, and restructuring plans.

— Non-IFRS and non-GAAP (Generally Accepted Accounting Principles) measures are widely used in
the software industry. In many cases, inclusion of our non-IFRS measures may facilitate
comparison with our competitors’ corresponding non-IFRS and non-GAAP measures.
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Limitations of Non-IFRS Measures

Without being analyzed in conjunction with the corresponding IFRS measures, the non-IFRS
measures are not indicative of our present and future performance, foremost, but not limited, for the
following reasons:

— While our profit (non-IFRS) numbers reflect the elimination of certain acquisition-related expenses,
no eliminations are made for the additional revenue or other income that results from the
acquisitions.

— The acquisition-related amortization expense that we eliminate in deriving our profit (non-IFRS)
numbers is a recurring expense that will impact our financial performance in future years.

— The remaining acquisition-related charges that we eliminate in deriving our profit (hon-IFRS)
numbers are likely to recur should SAP enter into material business combinations in the future.
Similarly, the restructuring expenses that we eliminate in deriving our profit (non-IFRS) numbers are
likely to recur should SAP perform restructurings in the future.

— The expense adjustment for acquisition-related charges does not arise from a common conceptual
basis. This is because the expense adjustment aims to improve the comparability between post-
acquisition periods and pre-acquisition periods. This should particularly be considered when
evaluating our operating profit (non-IFRS) and operating margin (non-IFRS) numbers, as these
combine our revenue and expenses (non-IFRS) despite the absence of a common conceptual
basis.

— Our restructuring charges resulted in significant cash outflows in the past and could do so in the
future.

— In the past, we have issued share-based payment awards to our employees every year and we
intend to continue doing so in the future. Thus, our share-based payment expenses are recurring,
although the amounts usually change from period to period.

We believe that constant currencies measures have limitations, particularly as the currency effects
that are eliminated constitute a significant element of our revenue and expenses and could materially
impact our performance. Therefore, we limit our use of constant currencies measures to the analysis
of changes in volume as one element of the full change in a financial measure. We do not evaluate
our results and performance without considering both constant currencies and nominal measures of
operating profit (non-IFRS) measures on the one hand, and changes in operating expenses, operating
profit, or other measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with IFRS on the other. We
caution the readers of our financial reports to follow a similar approach by considering actual and
constant currencies non-IFRS measures only in addition to, and not as a substitute for or superior to,
changes in revenue, operating expenses, operating profit, or other measures of financial performance
prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Despite these limitations, we believe that the presentation of our non-IFRS measures and the
corresponding IFRS measures, together with the relevant reconciliations, provide useful information to
management and investors regarding present and future business trends relating to our financial
condition and results of operations.
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Reconciliations of IFRS to Non-IFRS Financial Measures for the Years 2022 and 2021

€ millions, unless otherwise stated 2022 2021
Currenc Non-IFRS
IFRS Adj. Non-IFRS v Constant IFRS Adj. Non-IFRS
Impact
Currency

Revenue measures

Cloud 12,555 12,555 -874 11,681 9,418 9,418
Software licenses 2,056 2,056 -84 1,972 3,248 3,248
Software support 11,909 11,909 -545 11,364 11,412 11,412

Software licenses and support 13,965 13,965 —629 13,336 14,660 14,660

Cloud and software 26,521 26,521 -1,503 25,018 24,078 24,078

Services 4,350 4,350 -258 4,092 3,764 3,764

Total revenue 30,871 30,871 -1,762 29,109 27,842 27,842

Operating expense measures

Cost of cloud -3,853 243 -3,610 -3,105 229 -2,876
Cost of software licenses and support -1,694 104 -1,590 -1,925 103 -1,822
Cost of cloud and software —5,547 347 —5,200 -5,030 332 —4,698
Cost of services -3,388 303 -3,085 -2,916 286 -2,630
Total cost of revenue -8,936 650 -8,286 -7,946 617 -7,328
Gross profit 21,935 650 22,585 19,897 617 20,514
Research and development —6,166 635 -5,530 -5,190 524 —4,667
Sales and marketing -8,943 1,195 —7,748 —7,505 1,025 -6,479
General and administration -2,072 809 -1,263 -2,431 1,250 -1,181
Restructuring -138 138 0 -157 157 0
Other operating income/expense, net 54 -65 -11 43 0 43
Total operating expenses -26,200 3,362 -22,839 1,412 -21,427 -23,186 3,573 -19,613

Profit numbers

Operating profit 4,670 3,362 8,032 -350 7,683 4,656 3,573 8,230
Other non-operating incomel/expense, net -195 0 -195 17 0 17
Finance income 820 0 820 3,123 0 3,123
Finance costs -2,205 0 -2,205 —-949 0 -949
Financial income, net -1,385 0 -1,385 2,174 0 2,174
Profit before tax 3,090 3,362 6,452 6,847 3,573 10,421
Income tax expense -1,382 -525 —-1,908 -1,471 —613 —-2,084
Profit after tax 1,708 2,837 4,545 5,376 2,960 8,337
Attributable to owners of parent 2,284 2,489 4,773 5,256 2,687 7,943
Attributable to non-controlling interests -576 348 —228 121 273 394
Key ratios
Operating margin (in %) 15.1 26.0 26.4 16.7 29.6
Effective tax rate (in %) 44.7 29.6 21.5 20.0
Earnings per share, basic (in €) 1.95 4.08 4.46 6.73

Due to rounding, the sum of the numbers presented in the table above might not precisely equal the totals we provide.
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Non-IFRS Adjustments by Functional Areas

2022 2021

€ millens IFRS Is\::ﬂ:: SBP! Retsl::i”:g' Non-IFRS IFRS 2&2;:: sBP! Ref&:‘:g’ Non-IFRS
Related Related

Cost of cloud —3,853 175 68 0 -3,610 -3,105 169 59 0 -2,876
SCL:J::)(());softwa re licenses and 1,694 34 70 0 —1,590 ~1,925 33 70 0 -1,822
Cost of services —3,388 22 281 0 —3,085 -2,916 20 266 0 -2,630
Research and development —6,166 11 625 0 -5,530 -5,190 10 513 0 —4,667
Sales and marketing -8,943 423 773 0 —7,748 7,505 370 655 0 —-6,479
General and administration -2,072 11 798 0 -1,263 -2,431 20 1,230 0 -1,181
Restructuring -138 0 0 138 0 -157 0 0 157 0
mr:ﬁ;z/'?ei?;:‘sge et 54 65 0 0 11 43 0 0 0 43
Total operating expenses -26,200 610 2,614 138 -22,839 -23,186 622 2,794 157 -19,613

! Share-based payments
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Financial Performance:
Review and Analysis

Economy and the Market

In 2022, worldwide economic growth slowed due to geopolitical uncertainties, high inflation, and tight
financing conditions, summarizes the European Central Bank (ECB) in its most recent Economic
Bulletin.* This analysis cites Russia’s war against Ukraine as a shock for the global economy that
caused uncertainty about energy and food supplies, fueled inflation, weighed on consumer and
business confidence, and induced cost pressures particularly in energy-intensive industries. At the end
of 2022, however, global inflation remained high and broadly based, but energy-related inflation
started to ease.

As for the COVID-19 pandemic, the ECB says, most governments lifted mitigating restrictions over the
year, which restarted economic activity. Supply bottlenecks eased gradually, but the pent-up demand
contributed to inflation.

In the EMEA region, tight financing conditions and high inflation drove up costs for firms and reduced
real household incomes, reports the ECB. In the euro area, economic growth slowed in the second
half of the year. Inflation peaked in October but declined slightly through to the end of 2022. Russia
suffered a severe recession due to its war in Ukraine and the ensuing international sanctions.

As for the Americas region, the U.S. economy contracted moderately in the first half of the year but
returned to growth in the second half, finds the ECB. Inflation eased more than expected towards the
end of 2022. The Latin American economies grew more slowly than before.

Regarding the APJ region, the Japanese GDP contracted until the third quarter but regained growth in
the fourth. In China, states the ECB, the strict zero-COVID policy weighed on economic activity
throughout most of the year. However, the Chinese government lifted measures gradually from the
third quarter on, which allowed for some economic growth. In December, it abolished most
restrictions, resulting in a rapidly increasing number of infections and slower growth again.

The IT Market

“The COVID-19 pandemic demonstrated just how powerful digital technology and innovation can be
in delivering resiliency, revenue, and opportunity to the enterprise in the face of crisis.”? That is how
International Data Corporation (IDC), a U.S.-based market research firm, sums up the outcome of the
pandemic years at the end of 2022. IDC continues: “The result is the emergence of a divide between
organizations that are able to scale the development and delivery of digital innovation and those that
can't.”?

In more detail, IDC points out that “organizations are now more clearly seeing the value from digital
technology — projecting a digital-first strategy to customers, investors, and employees with a cloud-first
foundation; embracing data-driven business models supported by analytics and Al; and implementing
automation tools across the organization.” However, according to IDC, “the strongest companies
currently are those that began their transformation to digital business years ago, before the disruption
of the past three years. Those companies are now in the process of maturing as digital businesses
and moving closer to operating as digital-first organizations.” They “are executing a shift from a
technology investment strategy focused on digital transformation (DX) to one focused on running a
digital business,”? concludes IDC.

Along the way, “sustainability has become a mainstream business topic that is reshaping
organizations globally, across every industry,” finds IDC with respect to the consequences for the IT
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industry. What is more, “instead of looking at sustainability primarily as a cost or reputational risk
factor, many organizations are trying to respond to this stakeholder pressure by looking at
sustainability as a competitive differentiator that can increase their operational and financial
performance.”

Another pivotal IT experience in 2022, according to IDC, was the emergence of “the low-code, no-
code, and intelligent developer technologies market [. It] includes the products that enable [...]
professional developers to work more quickly by streamlining or eliminating aspects of the
development process [. And it expands ...] the developer population by providing nontechnical
developers with development interfaces that abstract away some or all of the knowledge required to
code in traditional development environments.”

1 European Central Bank, Economic Bulletin, Issue 8/2022, Publication Date: January 12, 2023.

21DC FutureScape: Worldwide Future of Digital Innovation 2023 Predictions, Doc #US48598522, October 2022.

3 IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Digital Business Strategies 2023 Predictions, Doc #CA49743822, October 2022.

4IDC Future Scape: Worldwide Sustainability/ESG 2023 Predictions, Doc #US48709922, October 2022.
51DC’s Worldwide Low-Code, No-Code, and Intelligent Developer Technologies Taxonomy, 2022, Doc #US49779722, November 2022.

Impact on SAP

In 2022, the biggest impact on SAP’s business was the war in Ukraine and SAP’s decision to wind
down its business operations in Russia and Belarus.

The impact on full-year IFRS operating profit was approximately €410 million and approximately
€290 million on non-IFRS operating profit, mainly due to reduced revenues and bad debt provisions.

For more information about the impacts of the war in Ukraine and SAP’s exit from Russia and Belarus,
see also SAP's consolidated financial statements, Notes (A.2), (B.6), and (D.2).

Other future impacts due to this rapidly evolving situation are currently unknown and could potentially
subject our business to materially adverse consequences should the situation escalate beyond its
current scope.

Overall Financial Position

Executive Board’s Assessment

Despite the macro-economic challenges outlined above, the course of business was again favorable
for SAP in 2022.

Noteworthy is the strong momentum in our cloud business: cloud revenue was up 33%, reaching
€12.6 billion. SAP’s current cloud backlog exceeded €12 billion, an increase of 27%. Total revenue
increased 11% to €30.9 billion, and IFRS operating profit increased slightly to €4.7 billion. Non-IFRS
operating profit declined by 2% to €8.0 billion. Free cash flow decreased to €4.35 billion.

Regarding the non-financial performance, we achieved the following results: Customer Net Promoter
Score decreased 7 points to 3 (initial outlook: 11 to 15, revised to 3 to 8), Employee Engagement
decreased 3pp to 80% (initial outlook: 84% to 86%, revised to 80% to 84%), and our net carbon
emissions continued to decrease, dropping 25kt to 85kt (initial outlook: 70kt, revised to 90kt to 95kt).

On this basis, we are confident we can deliver on our financial and non-financial outlook for 2023 and
on our 2025 mid-term ambition.
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Performance Against Our Outlook for 2022 (Non-IFRS)

As in previous years, our 2022 operating profit-related goals and published outlook were based on our
non-IFRS financial measures at constant currencies. For this reason, in the following section we
discuss performance against our outlook only in terms of non-IFRS numbers (at constant currencies)
derived from IFRS measures. The subsequent section about International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) operating results discusses numbers only in terms of IFRS, so the numbers in that
section are not expressly identified as IFRS numbers.

Outlook for 2022 (Non-IFRS)

The initial outlook for 2022 (for more information, see the table “Comparison of Outlook and Results
for 2022") expected a full-year cloud revenue to range between €11.55 billion and €11.85 billion, cloud
and software revenue to range between €25.0 billion and €25.5 billion, with more predictable revenue
anticipated to make up 78% of this result. Furthermore, we expected operating profit (non-IFRS) to
range between €7.8 billion and €8.25 billion. We expected a full-year 2022 effective tax rate (IFRS) of
25.0% to 28.0% (2021: 21.5%) and an effective tax rate (non-IFRS) of 22.0% to 25.0% (2021: 20.0%),
strongly depending on the development of Sapphire Ventures’ investments. This initial outlook
reflected SAP executing on its cloud strategy, which is driving the accelerated cloud growth through
both new business and cloud adoption by existing customers, scaling SAP’s cloud momentum
towards its mid-term ambition.

In April 2022, we adjusted our outlook for the effective tax rate (IFRS) to between 28.0% and 32.0%
and for the effective tax rate (non-IFRS) to between 23.0% and 27.0%. The increase of the effective
tax rate outlook mainly reflected an updated projection of the 2022 financial income contribution of
Sapphire Ventures in light of market conditions prevailing at that time.

In July 2022, to reflect the impact from the war in Ukraine and the expected market decline of
software licenses revenue, SAP updated its non-IFRS operating profit outlook to a tighter range of
€7.6 billion to €7.9 billion. SAP also updated its outlook for the effective tax rate (IFRS) to between
34.0% and 38.0%. The adjustment mainly resulted from an updated projection of non-deductible
expenses and of the lower 2022 financial income contribution of Sapphire Ventures given the current
market conditions at that time. As the updated non-deductible expenses are not included in non-IFRS,
SAP continued to anticipate a full-year 2022 effective tax rate (non-IFRS) of 23.0% to 27.0% but
expected to be at the upper end of this range.

In October 2022, the market environment and volatility in capital markets also led to a lower level of
predictability regarding the full-year 2022 effective tax rate outlook (IFRS and non-IFRS). We now
expected a full-year 2022 effective tax rate for IFRS of around 45.0% and for non-IFRS of around
30.0%, but possibly with major deviations in either direction, strongly dependent on the 2022 financial
income contribution of Sapphire Ventures.

All other SAP outlook ranges such as cloud revenue, cloud and software, and share of more
predictable revenue remained unchanged.
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2022 Actual Revenue and Profit Performance Compared to Outlook (Non-IFRS)

Cloud revenue, cloud and software revenue, and operating profit are within the range of our revised

2022 outlook, with cloud revenue close to the midpoint of our outlook range.

Comparison of Outlook and Results for 2022

Revised Outlook

Revised Outlook

Outlook for 2022 for 2022 Revised Outlook for 2022
Results (Integrated Report Q1 Quarterly for 2022 (Q3 Quarterly Results
for 2021 2021) Statement) (Half-Year Report)  statement) for 2022
I
Cloud revenue - €11.55 billion €11.55 billion €11.55 billion €11.55 billion .
. €9.59 billion . . . . €11.68 billion
(at constant currencies) to €11.85 billion to €11.85 billion to €11.85 billion to €11.85 billion
Cloud and software revenue . €25.0 billion €25.0 billion €25.0 billion €25.0 billion .
. €24.41 billion . . . . €25.02 billion
(at constant currencies) to €25.5 billion to €25.5 billion to €25.5 billion to €25.5 billion
Operating profit . €7.8 billion €7.8 billion €7.6 billion €7.6 billion -
€8.41 billion €7.68 billion
(non-IFRS, at constant currencies) to €8.25 billion to €8.25 billion to €7.9 billion to €7.9 billion
Share of predictable revenue 75% 78% 78% 78% 78% 79%
Effective tax rate (IFRS) 21.5% 25.0% to 28.0% 28.0% to 32.0% 34.0% to 38.0% ~45.0% 44.7%
Effective tax rate (non-IFRS) 20.0% 22.0% to 25.0% 23.0% to 27.0% 23.0% to 27.0% ~30.0% 29.6%

In a global economic situation that keeps being shaken by the war in Ukraine, post-COVID supply
shortages, high inflation rates, and increasing fears of a global recession, the demand for our solutions
and services confirms our expectations, reflecting the strong business performance which is expected

to continue to accelerate cloud revenue growth.

Our current cloud backlog (contractually committed cloud revenue that we expect to recognize over
the upcoming 12 months) reached €11.73 billion at constant currencies (€12.03 billion at actual
currencies; 2021: €9.45 billion). This was an increase of 24% (2021: 26%) on a constant currency
basis despite being negatively impacted by approximately 1.5pp from the divesture of our Litmos
business and the wind down of our business operations in Russia and Belarus. Also considering these
negative effects, the growth rate of our current cloud backlog is in line with our guidance from last
year to achieve a growth rate similar to 2021.

As of December 31, 2022, total cloud backlog — which is defined as the contractually committed cloud
revenue we expect to recognize in future periods — was up 35% to €34.2 billion.

At constant currencies, the resulting cloud revenue grew from €9.42 billion in 2021 to €11.68 billion in
2022, broadly in line with the midpoint of our guidance range of €11.55 billion to €11.85 billion. That
represented an increase of 24% at constant currencies.

Cloud and software revenue grew 4% at constant currencies to €25.02 billion (2021: €24.08 billion),
and thus ended within our range forecasted for 2022 of €25.00 billion to €25.50 billion.

Thanks to the strong increase in cloud business, we were able to increase the share of more
predictable revenue 4.4pp to 79% (2021: 75%), exceeding our revised outlook by 1pp.

Total revenue on a constant currency basis grew 5% in 2022 to €29.11 billion (2021: €27.84 billion).

Operating expenses (non-IFRS) on a constant currency basis increased 9% in 2022 to €21.43 billion
(2021: €19.61 billion).

Our expense base in 2022 was impacted by our transformation to a fast-growing cloud business. The
cloud gross margin (non-IFRS) for 2022 was 72%, increasing 2.1pp at constant currencies from the
year before. Our cloud margin benefitted from an increase in cloud revenue, despite continued
investments in the Next-Generation Cloud Delivery initiative (modernization of our cloud delivery to
enable a more resilient and scalable cloud infrastructure).
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Non-IFRS operating profit in 2022 was €7.68 billion on a constant currency basis (2021: €8.23 billion),
reflecting a decrease of 7%. Non-IFRS operating profit included a disposal gain of €109 million related
to the sale of the SAP Litmos business. The development of our operating profit was largely impacted
by the withdrawal from Russia and Belarus as a result of the war in Ukraine and the effects of SAP’s
business transformation (Next-Generation Cloud Delivery).

Our overall headcount increased by 4,546 full-time equivalents or FTEs (4,136 thereof organically),
primarily in research and development as well as in sales and marketing. Thus, non-IFRS operating
profit on a constant currency basis amounting to €7.68 billion landed within the revised target range
(€7.60 billion to €7.90 billion).

We achieved an effective tax rate (IFRS) of 44.7% and an effective tax rate (non-IFRS) of 29.6%,
which is slightly below our adjusted outlook announced in October 2022 of around 45.0% (IFRS) and
of around 30.0% (non-IFRS).

Operating Results (IFRS)

This section on operating results (IFRS) discusses results only in terms of IFRS measures, so the IFRS
numbers are not expressly identified as such.

We break our operations down into three regions: the Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) region,
the Americas region, and the Asia Pacific Japan (APJ) region. We allocate revenue amounts to each
region based on where the customer is located. For more information about revenue by geographic
region, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (A.1).

Revenue

Total Revenue
€ millions | change since previous year

30.871

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total revenue increased from €27,842 million in 2021 to €30,871 million in 2022, representing an
increase of €3,029 million, or 11%.

Cloud and software revenue represented 86% of total revenue in 2022 (2021: 86%). Service revenue
increased 16% from €3,764 million in 2021 to €4,350 million in 2022, which was 14% of total revenue
(2021: 14%).
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Revenue by Revenue Type

€ millions
Cloud 12.555
Software licenses 2.056
Software support 11.909
Services 4.350

For more information about our regional performance, see the Revenue by Region section.

Cloud revenue refers to the income earned from contracts that permit the customer to access specific
software solutions hosted by SAP or third parties engaged by SAP during the term of its contract with
SAP. Software licenses revenue results from the fees earned from selling or licensing software to
customers. Support revenue represents fees earned from providing customers with technical support
services and unspecified software upgrades, updates, and enhancements. For more information
about our revenue types, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (A.1).

Cloud and Software Revenue

€ millions | change since previous year
26.521

24.078

23.012 23.228

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Cloud and software revenue grew from €24,078 million in 2021 to €26,521 million in 2022, an increase
of 10%.
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Cloud Revenue
€ millions | change since previous year

12.555
9.418
17% 17%
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Cloud revenue increased €3,138 million, or 33%, from €9,418 million in 2021 to €12,555 million in
2022. Cloud revenue reaccelerated its growth supported by a recovery of the transactional revenue. At
the same time, the cloud revenue for SAP S/4HANA increased 91% from €1,090 million in 2021 to
€2,081 million in 2022.

The cloud order entry increased 41% to €14,965 million in 2022 (2021: €10,586 million). A growth
driver was the high share of cloud transactions with a volume greater than €5 million (48%). In 2022,
the total cloud backlog was up 35% to €34.2 billion (2021: €25.3 billion). The current cloud backlog
increased 27% to €12,030 million in 2022 (2021: €9,447 million). The current cloud backlog for SAP
S/4AHANA increased 86%, or €1,464 million, to €3,171 million in 2022 (2021: €1,707 million).

Our software licenses revenue declined €1,192 million from €3,248 million in 2021 to €2,056 million in
2022.

The demand for SAP software helped us maintain a stable maintenance customer base for software
support, resulting in software support revenue of €11,909 million in 2022 (2021: €11,412 million). The
increase in revenue was driven by the favorable currency exchange rates. SAP Enterprise Support
was the largest contributor to our software support revenue.

Software licenses and software support revenue decreased €695 million, or 5%, from €14,660 million
in 2021 to €13,965 million in 2022.

More Predictable Revenue

€ millions
Software support ®Cloud 24.465
19.586 20.829
18.480 ’
15.975 12.555
6.933 9.418
4.993
10.981 11.547 11.506 11.412 11.909
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

We define more predictable revenue as the sum of our cloud revenue and our software support
revenue. Our more predictable revenue increased from €20,829 million in 2021 to €24,465 million in
2022. Cloud revenue surpassed support revenue in 2022 and drove the growth of 17%. More
predictable revenue accounted for 79% of our total revenue in 2022 (2021: 75%), following the
upward trend from prior years.
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Services revenue combines revenue from consulting services, premium support services, and other
services such as training services. Consulting services primarily relate to the implementation of our
cloud and on-premise software products. Our premium support offering consists of high-end support
services tailored to customer requirements.

Services revenue increased €586 million, or 16%, from €3,764 million in 2021 to €4,350 million

in 2022. This increase was predominantly caused by very strong growth across the entire services
portfolio of offerings with accelerated growth in our training revenue and premium support revenues.
At the same time, the year-over-year revenue development was positively impacted by the recovery of
order entry in 2021.

Consulting revenue and premium support revenue increased €499 million, or 15%, from €3,294 million
in 2021 to €3,793 million in 2022. In 2022, consulting and premium support revenue contributed 87%
of the total services revenue (2021: 87%) and 12% of total revenue (2021: 12%).

Revenue from other services increased €87 million, or 18%, to €558 million in 2022
(2021: €471 million).

Revenue by Region

Revenue by Region (Based on Customer Location)

€ millions

APJ 4.495

EMEA 13.081

EMEA Region

In 2022, the EMEA region was negatively impacted by the war in Ukraine and SAP’s decision to wind
down its business operations in Russia and Belarus. The EMEA region generated €13,081 million in
revenue (2021: €12,589 million), which was 42% of total revenue (2021: 45%). Revenue in Germany
increased 4% to €4,504 million (2021: €4,343 million). Germany contributed 34% (2021: 34%) of all
EMEA region revenue. The remaining revenue in the EMEA region was primarily generated in France,
ltaly, the Netherlands, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom.
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Cloud and Software Revenue (EMEA)

€ millions

Software & Support = Cloud

11.236
L0211 10364 10.931
9.339
3.308
1.441 2115 2.608 4293
7.898 8.096 7.756 7.624 e
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Cloud and software revenue generated in the EMEA region totaled €11,236 million

(2021: €10,931 million). That was 86% of all revenue from the region (2021: 87%). Cloud revenue in
the EMEA region rose 30% to €4,293 million in 2022 (2021: €3,308 million). Software licenses and
software support revenue decreased 9% to €6,943 million in 2022 (2021: €7,624 million).

Americas Region

In 2022, 43% of our total revenue was generated in the Americas region (2021: 39%). Total revenue in
the Americas region increased 21% to €13,295 million (2021: €10,969 million). Revenue in the United
States increased to €10,811 million (2021: €8,870 million). The United States contributed 81%

(2021: 81%) of all revenue generated in the Americas region. In the remaining countries of the
Americas region, revenue increased 18% to €2,484 million. Revenue in the remaining countries of the
Americas region was generated primarily in Brazil, Canada, and Mexico.

Cloud and Software Revenue (Americas)

€ millions
Software & Support = Cloud 11.333
9.172 9.239 9.348
7.973
6.687
3.945
| 4.439 4.894
5.032 5.227 4.800 4.455 4.646
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Cloud and software revenue generated in the Americas region totaled €11,333 million

(2021: €9,348 million). That was 85% of all revenue from the region (2021: 85%). Cloud revenue in the
Americas region rose 37% to €6,687 million in 2022 (2021: €4,894 million). The United States, SAP’s
largest market, contributed 83% of cloud revenue generated in the Americas region. Software licenses
and software support revenue in the Americas regions amounted to €4,646 million in 2022

(2021: €4,455 million).

APJ Region

In 2022, 15% of our total revenue was generated in the APJ region (2021: 15%). Total revenue in the
APJ region increased 5% to €4,495 million (2021: €4,285 million). Total revenue in Japan decreased to
€1,242 million (2021: €1,301 million), primarily driven by unfavorable changes in currency exchange
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rates. Revenue from Japan accounted for 28% of all revenue generated in the APJ region (2021: 30%).
In the remaining countries of the APJ region, revenue increased 9%. Revenue in the remaining
countries of the APJ region was generated primarily in Australia, China, and India.

Cloud and Software Revenue (APJ)

€ millions

Software & Support = Cloud

3.952
3.629 3.625 3.798
3.310
611 1.033 1.217 1.575
2.699 2757 2.592 2.582 2.377
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Cloud and software revenue in the APJ region totaled €3,952 million (2021: €3,798 million). That was
88% of all revenue from the region (2021: 89%). Cloud revenue in the APJ region rose 29% to
€1,575 million in 2022 (2021: €1,217 million). Software licenses and software support revenue
decreased from €2,582 million in 2021 to €2,377 million in 2022.

Operating Profit and Operating Margin

Operating profit remained flat at €4,670 million and operating margin decreased 1.6pp to 15.1%.
Operating profit was impacted by a reduced contribution from software licenses revenue and the
decision to wind down our business operations in Russia and Belarus. The wind-down’s impact on
full-year IFRS operating profit was approximately €410 million, including approximately €120 million
from restructuring expenses. Operating profit was also impacted by accelerated investments in the
next generation cloud delivery program and in other research and development and sales and
marketing initiatives to capture current and future growth opportunities. Next generation cloud
delivery program is the modernization of our cloud delivery to enable a more resilient and scalable
cloud infrastructure.
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Additionally, operating profit included a disposal gain of €175 million from the sale of the SAP Litmos

business.
Operating Profit
€ millions | change since previous year
6.623
5.703

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Operating Margin
Percent | change since previous year

231 24,2

8.0
16,2 PP 16,7

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Changes to the individual elements in our cost of revenue were as follows:
Cost of Cloud and Software

Cost of cloud and software consists primarily of costs for deploying and operating cloud solutions, the
cost of developing custom solutions that address customers’ specific business requirements, and
customer support costs.

In 2022, the cost of cloud and software increased 10% to €5,547 million (2021: €5,030 million) and
our cloud margin increased 2.3pp from 67.0% in 2021 to 69.3% in 2022. This 2.3pp increase stems
predominately from the SaaS margin, as SaaS revenue increased 35% and the SaaS margin
expanded 1.8pp year over year. Cost of cloud also benefitted from a reorganization within our
Customer Success organization, under which cloud delivery resources were reallocated to sales roles
focused on the implementation of our LACE (land-adopt-consume-expand) strategy. This
reorganization reduced the 2022 cost of cloud and, as a consequence, increased our sales and
marketing expenses by approximately €40 million. Cost of cloud continued to be negatively impacted
by investments in the next generation cloud delivery program, which is expected to be completed in
2023. The software licenses and software support margin was 87.9%, 1.0pp above the prior-year level
(2021: 86.9%). Software licenses and software support revenue decreased 5% to €13,965 million
(2021: €14,660 million), primarily arising from a 37% decline in software revenue. Software licenses
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and software support costs decreased correspondingly by 12% to €1,694 million
(2021: €1,925 million).

Cost of Services

Cost of services consists primarily of the cost of consulting, premium services, and training courses,
and the cost of bought-in consulting and training resources. The cost of services increased 16% to
€3,388 million (2021: €2,916 million), in line with increased demand for project consulting and
premium engagement services as well as higher business travel costs as COVID-related travelling
restrictions eased around the world. Our gross margin on services, defined as services profit as a
percentage of services revenue, decreased slightly by 0.4pp to 22.1% (2021: 22.5%). As our services
business trends away from traditional software licensing and consulting revenue toward more
subscription revenue from cloud solutions, we continue to adjust our service delivery resources to
support our cloud offerings.

Research and Development

Our research and development (R&D) expense consists primarily of the personnel cost of our R&D
employees, costs incurred for independent contractors whom we retain to assist in our R&D activities,
and amortization of the computer hardware and software we use for our R&D activities.

The R&D expense rose 19% to €6,166 million in 2022 from €5,190 million in 2021. This increase arises
mainly from higher personnel costs driven by a 6% year-over-year growth in our R&D headcount for
additional capacity demands in relation to the increased revenue. The R&D expense is also impacted
by continued strategic investments in next generation cloud delivery program and several other
initiatives to capture current and future growth opportunities. R&D expense as a percentage of total
revenue thus increased to 20.0% in 2022 (2021: 18.6%). For more information, see the Our
Investments in Innovation section.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expense consists mainly of personnel costs, direct sales costs, and the cost of
marketing our products and services.

Our sales and marketing expense grew 19% from €7,505 million in 2021 to €8,943 million in 2022.
This increase is for the most part attributable to the 8% growth in headcount from expansion of the
global sales force as well as from higher bonus payments prompted by strong revenue growth. In
addition, travel costs for sales teams increased as COVID-related travel restrictions eased around the
world. Similarly, marketing costs increased in 2022 as some of the marketing events resumed. Sales
expenses were also impacted by the reorganization of our Customer Success organization to focus on
the implementation of the LACE strategy.

Accordingly, the ratio of sales and marketing expense to total revenue, expressed as a percentage,
increased 2.0pp in 2022 to 29.0% (2021: 27.0%).

General and Administration Expense

Our general and administration expense consists mainly of personnel costs to support our finance
and administration, human resource, and corporate functions.

General and administration expense decreased 15% from €2,431 million in 2021 to €2,072 million in
2022. This decrease is primarily due to higher expenses from share-based payments in 2021, with a
major effect coming from Qualtrics equity-settled shared based compensation plans. The ratio of
general and administration expense to total revenue declined 2.0pp year over year to 6.7%

(2021: 8.7%).
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Segment Information

At the end of 2022, SAP had two reportable segments: Applications, Technology & Services and
Qualtrics. The segment information for 2022 and the comparative prior periods were restated to
conform with the new segment composition.

For more information about our segment reporting and the changes in the composition of our
reportable segments in 2022, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes (C.1)
and (C.2), and the Performance Management System section

Applications, Technology & Services

2022 2021 Ain % Ain %

€ millions, unless otherwise stated
(non-IFRS) Actual Constant Actual Actual Constant
Currency Currency Currency Currency Currency
Cloud revenue — SaaS!* 7,847 7,317 5,918 33 24
Cloud revenue — PaaS? 1,487 1,404 992 50 41
Cloud revenue — laaS? 905 853 924 -2 -8
Cloud revenue 10,239 9,573 7,835 31 22
Cloud gross margin — SaaS! (in %) 68.6 68.6 67.5 1.1pp 1.1pp
Cloud gross margin — PaaS? (in %) 78.6 79.9 79.3 -0.7pp 0.5pp
Cloud gross margin — laaS? (in %) 27.8 32.6 32.1 —4.3pp 0.5pp
Cloud gross margin (in %) 66.5 67.1 64.8 1.6pp 2.2pp
Segment revenue 28,298 26,772 26,054 9 3
Segment gross margin (in %) 72.1 72.4 73.4 —1.3pp —1.0pp
Segment profit 8,806 8,456 9,284 -5 -9
Segment margin (in %) 31.1 31.6 35.6 —4.5pp —-4.1pp

1 Software as a Service
2 platform as a Service

3 Infrastructure as a Service

The Applications, Technology & Services segment recorded a strong increase in cloud revenue of 31%
in 2022 (22% at constant currencies), supported by SAP Business Technology Platform as well as
SAP S/4HANA, whose cloud revenue increased 91% to €2,081 million. At the same time,

SAP S/4HANA current cloud backlog grew 86% and ended 2022 at €3,171 million. Cost of cloud for
the Applications, Technology & Services segment increased 25% (14% at constant currencies), which
overall caused the cloud gross margin to widen 1.6pp (2.2 pp at constant currencies) to 66.5%.
Thereof, PaaS and SaaS grew 0.5pp and 1.1pp at constant currencies, which resulted in a cloud gross
margin of 78.6% and 68.6% respectively. Software support revenue increased 4% but remained flat at
constant currency level compared to the prior year, ending 2022 at €11,906 million. Software licenses
revenue decreased 37% (39% at constant currencies) mainly due to the shift toward cloud revenue as
more customers are choosing our RISE with SAP offering. As such, the segment achieved a total
software licenses and support revenue of €13,959 million. Total segment revenue nevertheless rose by
9% (3% at constant currencies) and ended 2022 at €28,298 million.

Overall, the share of more predictable revenue within the Applications, Technology & Services
segment increased 4.4pp from 73.9% in 2021 to 78.3% in 2022.

Cost of revenue increased 14% (7% at constant currencies) compared to the prior year, ending 2022
at €7,906 million. This development was mainly driven by a strong increase in cost of cloud.

Segment profit decreased 5% (9% at constant currencies) and ended 2022 at €8,806 million. This is
mainly attributable to a 16% increase in total segment cost (9% at constant currencies) including
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accelerated investments in Next-Generation Cloud Delivery and into other research and development
and sales and marketing initiatives to capture current and future growth opportunities. Consequently,
the segment margin narrowed 4.1pp at constant currencies.

Qualtrics
2022 2021 Ain % Ain %
€ millions, unless otherwise stated
(non-IFRS) Actual Constant Actual Actual Constant
Currency Currency Currency Currency Currency
Cloud revenue — SaaS* 1,198 1,071 757 58 41
Cloud gross margin (in %) — SaaS* 88.9 88.8 91.5 —2.6pp -2.7pp
Segment revenue 1,423 1,271 930 53 37
Segment gross margin (in %) 77.9 77.6 79.6 -1.7pp -1.9pp
Segment profit 95 104 44 >100 >100
Segment margin (in %) 6.7 8.2 4.8 1.9pp 3.4pp

 Software as a Service

The Qualtrics segment, which comprises SAP’s experience management solutions, closed 2022 with a
strong cloud revenue growth of 58% (41% at constant currencies), supported by robust renewal rates
and expansions. The associated cost of cloud rose 86% at constant currencies mainly due to
Qualtrics’ hosting strategy and the Clarabridge acquisition in 2021, which led to a narrowing of the
segment’s cloud gross margin of 2.6pp (2.7pp at constant currencies). Including services revenue, the
total segment revenue increased 53% (37% at constant currencies) to €1,423 million. Overall, the
Quialtrics segment profit increased to €95 million in 2022. The corresponding segment margin
widened 1.9pp (3.4pp at constant currencies) to 6.7%.

Reconciliation of Cloud Revenues and Margins

Q1-Q4 2022 Q1-Q4 2021 Ain %

€ millions, unless otherwise stated Actual Currency Constant Actual Actual Constant
Currency Impact Currency Currency Currency Currency*

Cloud revenue — SaaS* 10,064 -735 9,329 7,458 35 25
Cloud revenue — PaaS? 1,586 -87 1,499 1,035 53 45
Cloud revenue — laaS? 905 -52 853 924 -2 -8
Cloud revenue 12,555 -874 11,681 9,418 33 24
Cloud gross margin — SaaS* (in %) 73.9 73.7 72.7 1.2pp 1.0pp
Cloud gross margin — PaaS? (in %) 79.4 80.6 79.7 —0.3pp 0.9pp
Cloud gross margin — laaS? (in %) 27.8 32.7 32.1 —4.3pp 0.5pp
Cloud gross margin (in %) 71.2 71.6 69.5 1.8pp 2.1pp

* Software as a Service
2 platform as a Service

3 Infrastructure as a Service

4 Constant currency period-over-period changes are calculated by comparing the current year's non-IFRS constant currency numbers with the non-IFRS numbers of the previous
year's respective period.
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Financial Income, Net

Financial income, net, decreased to €-1,385 million (2021: €2,174 million). Our finance income was
€820 million (2021: €3,123 million) and our finance costs were €2,205 million (2021: €949 million).

Finance income primarily consists of gains from IFRS 9-related fair value adjustments, mainly of
Sapphire Ventures investments, and the disposal of equity securities totaling €608 million
(2021: €3,067 million).

Finance costs mainly consist of IFRS 9-related fair value adjustments or losses from disposal of
Sapphire Ventures investments totaling €1,802 million (2021: €654 million), and interest expense on
financial liabilities amounting to €208 million (2021: €160 million). For more information about
financing instruments, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (E.3).

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate in 2022 was 44.7% (2021: 21.5%). The year-over-year increase mainly resulted

from changes in tax-exempt income due to the lower 2022 financial income contribution of Sapphire
Ventures given prevailing market conditions. For more information about income taxes, see the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (C.5).

Profit After Tax and Earnings per Share
Profit after tax decreased to €1,708 million in 2022 (2021: €5,376 million).

Profit After Tax

€ millions | change since previous year

5.283 5.376
57%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Basic earnings per share decreased to €1.95 (2021: €4.46). The number of shares outstanding
decreased to 1,170 million in 2022 (2021: 1,180 million).

Earnings per Share

€ | change since previous year

4,35 4,46
56%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
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Dividend

We hold the view that our shareholders should benefit appropriately from the profit the Company
made in 2022. Our dividend policy is to pay a dividend totaling 40% or more of profit after tax.

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of SAP SE will recommend to the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders in May 2023 a total dividend for 2022 of €2.05 per share (2021: €2.45).
Based on this recommendation, the overall dividend payout ratio (which means the total distributed
dividend as a percentage of profit after tax) would be 140% (2021: 53%). The payment in 2022
included a special dividend of €0.50 to celebrate SAP’s 50th anniversary. Excluding the special
dividend, the proposed dividend increased 5%. Compared to the total dividend in 2022 including the
special payment, the proposed dividend decreased 16%.

If the shareholders approve this recommendation, and based on the number of treasury shares as at
December 31, 2022, the total amount distributed in dividends will be €2,393 million. The actual
amount distributed can be different from this total amount, because the number of shares held as
treasury stock might change before the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. In 2022, we
distributed €2,865 million in dividends.

More information on the development of our profit after tax can be found in the sections Financial
Income, Net, Income Taxes, and Profit after Tax and Earnings per Share.

Dividend per Share

€ | change since previous year

2,45
2%
32% 2,05
1,85
1,50 1,58
7%
° 5% 17%
o—
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
(]
Finances (IFRS)
Overview

Global Financial Management

We use global centralized financial management to control liquid assets and monitor exposure to
interest rates and currencies. The primary aim of our financial management is to maintain liquidity in
the Group at a level that is adequate to meet our financial obligations at all times. Most SAP entities
have their liquidity managed centrally by the Group, so that liquid assets across the Group can be
consolidated, monitored, and invested in accordance with Group policy. High levels of liquid assets
help keep SAP flexible, sound, and independent. In addition, various credit facilities are currently
available for additional liquidity, if required. For more information about these facilities, see the Credit
Facilities section.

We manage credit, liquidity, interest rate, equity price, and foreign exchange rate risks on a Group-
wide basis. We use selected derivatives exclusively for this purpose and not for speculation, which is
defined as entering into a derivative instrument for which we do not have corresponding underlying
transactions. The rules for the use of derivatives and other rules and processes concerning the
management of financial risks are documented in our Treasury Guideline, which applies globally to all
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companies in the Group. For more information about the management of each financial risk and
about our risk exposure, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes (F.1)
and (F.2).

Capital Structure Management

The primary objective of our capital structure management is to maintain a strong financial profile for
investor, creditor, and customer confidence, and to support the growth of our business. We seek to
maintain a capital structure that will enable us to cover our funding requirements through the capital
markets at reasonable conditions, and in so doing, ensure a high level of independence, confidence,
and financial flexibility. For more information about the capital structure and its analysis, see the
Analysis of Consolidated Statement of Financial Position section and the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, Note (E.1).

The long-term credit rating for SAP SE is "A2” by Moody's (positive outlook) and A" by Standard &
Poor’s (stable outlook).

The Company repurchased shares with a volume of €1.5 billion in 2022. Repurchased shares will
primarily be used to service future awards granted under the ‘Move SAP’ share-based compensation
plan. Additional share buybacks in future years will be decided on an annual basis in line with SAP’s
capital allocation priorities.

Liquidity Management

Our primary source of cash, cash equivalents, and current investments is funds generated from our
business operations. Over the past several years, our principal use of cash has been to support
operations and our capital expenditure requirements resulting from our growth, to quickly repay
financial debt, to acquire businesses, to pay dividends on our shares, and to buy back SAP shares on
the open market. On December 31, 2022, our cash, cash equivalents, and current investments were
primarily held in euros and U.S. dollars. We generally invest only in the financial assets of issuers or
funds with a minimum credit rating of BBB, and pursue a policy of cautious investment characterized
by wide portfolio diversification with a variety of counterparties, predominantly short-term investments,
and standard investment instruments. Our investments in financial assets of issuers with a credit
rating lower than BBB were not material in 2022.

We believe that our liquid assets combined with our undrawn credit facilities are sufficient to meet our
operating financing needs in 2023 and, together with expected cash flows from operations, will
support debt repayments, currently planned capital expenditure requirements, and capital returns to
our shareholders over the near term and medium term. It may also be necessary to enter into
financing transactions when additional funds are required that cannot be wholly sourced from free
cash flow, to maintain flexibility, and/or limit repayment risk.

Therefore, we continuously monitor funding options available in the capital markets and trends in the
availability of funds, as well as the cost of such funding. In recent years, we were able to repay
additional debt within a short period of time due to our persistently strong free cash flow. For more
information about the financial debt, see the Cash Flows and Liquidity section.

Credit Facilities

Other sources of liquidity are available to us through various credit facilities, if required.

To retain high financial flexibility, we have available a €2.5 billion syndicated revolving credit facility
with an end date in November 2024. A possible future utilization is not subject to any financial
covenants. Borrowings under the facility bear interest of EURIBOR or LIBOR for the respective
currency plus a margin of 0.17%. We are also required to pay a commitment fee of 0.0595% per
annum on the unused available credit. So far, we have not used, and do not currently foresee any
need to use this credit facility.
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As at December 31, 2022, SAP SE had additional available credit facilities totaling €550 million.
Several other SAP entities have credit facilities available that allow them to borrow funds at prevailing
interest rates.

On December 31, 2022, two bilateral term loans with a total amount of €1.45 billion were outstanding.
The amount can be flexibly repaid until maturity of the loan on September 30, 2023

Financial Debts

Financial debt is defined as the nominal volume of bank loans, commercial paper, private placements,

and bonds.
Maturity Profile of Financial Debts
3.986 € millions
®Variable  Fixed
2.530
1.250
1.153 1.100 1.094 1.000
881 94 - 800
500
1.059
881 1.100 1.000 800
I—
2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Nominal volume of financial debt on December 31, 2022, included amounts in euros (€11,086 million)
and U.S. dollars (€678 million). On December 31, 2022, approximately 52% of the financial debt was
held at variable interest rates, partially swapped from fixed into variable using interest rate swaps.

For information about the intended repayments, see the goals for liquidity and finance in the Financial
Targets and Prospects section.

Financial Debt by Instrument

Financial Debt

€ millions
Bonds 8.981
Private Placement 397
Commercial Paper 930

Bank Loan 1.456

For more information about our financial debt, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Note (E.3).
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Cash Flows and Liquidity
2022 Actual Cash Flow and Liquidity Performance Compared to Outlook

We met the updated outlook for 2022.

€ billions 2021 Results 2022 Outlook* 2022 Results
Capital expenditure -0.80 Similar level —-0.87
Free cash flow 5.05 Approximately 4.5 4.35

1The 2022 outlook was communicated in January 2022 and last updated in October 2022. The 2022 outlook numbers above reflect the
updated outlook from October 2022.

Group Liquidity and Net Debt

€ millions 2022 2021 A
Cash and cash equivalents 9,008 8,898 109
Current time deposits and debt securities 686 2,632 —-1,946
Group liquidity 9,694 11,530 -1,837
Current financial debt -3,986 -3,755 -230
Non-current financial debt -7,778 -9,338 1,560
Financial debt -11,764 -13,094 1,330
Net debt (-) -2,070 -1,563 -507
Lease liabilities -2,140 -2,143 3
Net debt including lease liabilities -4,210 -3,706 -503

Group liquidity consists of cash and cash equivalents (for example, cash at banks, money market
funds, and time deposits with original maturity of three months or less) and current investments (for
example, time deposits and debt securities with original maturities of greater than three months, and
remaining maturities of less than one year included in current other financial assets). Group liquidity
on December 31, 2022, primarily comprised amounts in euros and U.S. dollars.

The decrease in group liquidity compared to 2021 was mainly due to the share buyback programs
that were executed in 2022 as well as the repayment of Eurobonds.

Net debt is group liquidity less financial debt. For more information about our liquidity, see the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (E.3).

For more information about the impact of cash, cash equivalents, current investments, and our
financial liabilities on our income statements, see the analysis of our financial income, net, in the
Operating Results (IFRS) section.

87/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

Development of Net Debt

2022 2021
Net debt 12/31/2021 Free Cash Flow -1,563 -6,503
Operating cash flow 5,647 6,223
Capital expenditure 4,348 -874 -800
Lease payments —424 -374
Business combinations —679 -1,145
Dividends —2,865 -2,182
Treasury shares -1,500 0
Other 190 3,218
Net debt 12/31/2022 -2,070 -1,563
Analysis of Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
€ millions 2022 2021 Ain %
Net cash flows from operating activities 5,647 6,223 -9
Net cash flows from investing activities 667 -3,063 <-100
Net cash flows from financing activities -6,337 -56 >100

In 2022, cash inflows from operating activities decreased €576 million to €5,647 million

(2021: €6,223 million). This is particularly due to lower profitability, higher advance payments to
hyperscalers (€0.5 billion in 2022 compared to €0.1 billion in 2021), and higher share-based payments
(€1.2 billion in 2022 compared to €1.1 billion in 2021), which were compensated by lower income tax
payments (€1.7 billion in 2022 compared to €2.1 billion in 2021). In addition, the increased volume of
trade receivables sold in 2022 amounting to €0.9 billion (€0.5 billion in 2021) had a positive impact on
operating cash flow. Cash collected from customer contracts increased compared to 2021.

Cash inflows from investing activities were €667 million in 2022 (2021: cash outflows of

€3,063 million). We reduced short-term time deposits and debt instruments by €1.9 billion. We paid,
net of cash received, a total of €0.7 billion mainly for the Taulia and Askdata acquisitions in 2022,
compared to €1.1 billion mainly for the Signavio and Clarabridge acquisitions in 2021. We received
approximately €0.3 billion for the divestiture of the SAP Litmos business in 2022. Capital expenditure
on intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment remained at a comparable level. For more
information about current and planned capital expenditures, see the Assers section and the
Investment Goals section.

In 2022, free cash flow decreased to €4,348 million (2021: €5,049 million). The free cash flow
conversion rate, defined as free cash flow as a percentage of profit after tax, increased to 255%
compared to 94% in 2021.

Net cash outflows from financing activities were €6,337 million in 2022, compared to €56 million in
2021. The buyback of treasury shares with a volume of €1.5 billion in 2022 is included herein. Apart
from the buyback of treasury shares, cash outflows in 2022 resulted from repayments of €0.9 billion in
Eurobonds as scheduled, and US$0.445 billion in U.S. private placements when they matured. In
2021, we received €2.8 billion in proceeds from the public offerings of Qualtrics shares and repaid
€1.25 billion of the acquisition term loan for Qualtrics, €0.5 billion in Eurobonds when they matured,
and €0.15 billion in commercial paper. In 2021, we further drew two short-term loans of €0.95 billion
and €0.5 billion respectively, which can be repaid flexibly until September 2023.
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The dividend payment of €2,865 million made in 2022 exceeded the amount paid the preceding year
(€2,182 million), while the dividend paid per share increased from €1.85 to €2.45 (including a special
dividend of €0.50 to celebrate SAP’s 50" anniversary).

Assets (IFRS)

Analysis of Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

Total assets increased 1% year over year to €72,159 million.

Assets
Percent
= Non-current Current
2022 26
2021 28

Total current assets decreased 8% in 2022 from €20,044 million to €18,522 million, mainly driven by a
decrease of time deposits in other financial assets.

Total non-current assets grew 5% to €53,638 million (2021: €51,130 million). Among other effects, this
change was mainly due to an increase in goodwill resulting from foreign-exchange-related
revaluations as well as the Taulia acquisition.

Investment in Goodwill, Intangible Assets, and Property, Plant,
and Equipment
(Incl. Additions from Business Combinations)
€ millions | change since previous year

8.090

128% 118%
— 98%
3.715
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Liabilities
Percent
m Shareholder's equity ® Non-current Current

2022 59 16 24
2021 58 19 23
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Current liabilities grew 8% to €17,453 million in 2022 (2021: €16,136 million). This was mainly due to
an increase in current contract liabilities and current trade and other liabilities.

Total non-current liabilities decreased 12% to €11,858 million in 2022 compared to the previous year's
figure of €13,515 million. This was mainly due to a decrease in non-current financial liabilities. For
more information about our financing activities in 2022, see the Finances (IFRS) section.

The equity ratio (that is, the ratio of shareholders’ equity to total assets) grew 1pp to 59% (2021: 58%).

Equity Ratio

Percent | change since previous year

59
56 %8
51 51
7pp
Opp
-4
pp Spp
O
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Principal Investments Currently in Progress

In 2022, we finalized various construction projects and continued construction activities in several
locations. We plan to finance all of these projects from operating cash flow. Our most important
projects are listed below.

€ millions
. - L Estimated Total Costs Incurred as at Estimated
Country Location of Facility Short Description Cost 121312022 Completion Date
Germany Berlin New office building for approx. 1,250 42 7 November 2023
employees
Germany Munich New office building for approx. 600 94 44 November 2023
employees
Germany Walldorf nge_ral renovation of headquarters 225 9 December 2026
building for approx. 1,500 employees
Bulgaria Sofia S;V,Zlg;fg;i? uilding for approx. 1,200 58 49 September 2023
India Bangalore New office building for approx. 3,500 86 1 December 2025

employees

* In Sofia, we bought a building under construction and plan to complete it.

For more information about planned investment expenditures, see the /nvestment Goals section.
There were no material divestitures of facilities within the reporting period.
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Report on the Economic Position of SAP SE

SAP SE is headquartered in Walldorf, Germany, and is the parent company of the SAP Group, which
comprises 288 companies. SAP SE is the Group holding company and employs most of the Group’s
Germany-based development and service and support personnel.

As the owner of the intellectual property in most SAP software, SAP SE derives its revenue mainly
from software license fees and bears the bulk of the Group-wide research and development
expenses.

The SAP SE annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the reporting standards in
the German Commercial Code and the German Stock Corporation Act. The full SAP SE annual
financial report and unqualified audit report are submitted to the operator of the Elektronischer
Bundesanzeiger (Online German Federal Gazette) for publication and inclusion in the
Unternehmensregister (German Business Register). It is available from SAP SE on request.

Income

SAP SE’s income statement is classified following the nature of expense method and presents
amounts in millions of euros.

SAP SE Income Statement — German Commercial Code (Short Version)

€ millions 2022 2021
Total revenue 17,786 15,370
Other operating income 1,534 1,026
Cost of services and materials -11,560 —-9,859
Personnel expenses —2,905 —2,765
Depreciation and amortization —682 -719
Other operating expenses -3,433 —2,298

Operating profit 739 756

Finance income 1,685 2,530

Income before taxes 2,424 3,286

Income taxes —497 -582

Income after taxes 1,927 2,703

Other taxes -14 -12

Net income 1,912 2,692

The total revenue of SAP SE in 2022 was €17,786 million (2021: €15,370 million), an increase of 16%.
Product revenue increased 11% to €13,550 million (2021: €12,211 million). As in previous years,
product revenue was primarily generated from license fees paid by subsidiaries of SAP SE.

Service revenue increased 13% to €958 million in 2022 (2021: €845 million), while other revenue
increased 42% to €3,278 million (2021: €2,314 million).

SAP SE operating profit decreased 2% to €739 million (2021: €756 million). Other operating income
increased €509 million to €1,534 million (2021: €1,026 million). The year-over-year increase is
primarily due to a €550 million increase in gains from currency effects.

SAP SE cost of services and materials increased 17% to €11,560 million (2021: €9,859 million).
Services received increased €1,884 million to €9,599 million (2021: €7,715 million), mainly due to
increased services received in the context of intra-Group cost allocations. The costs for licenses and
commissions decreased €197 million to €1,914 million (2021: €2,111 million) mainly due to lower
inter-company license payments.
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SAP SE personnel expenses, mainly the labor cost of software developers, service and support
employees, and administration staff employed by SAP SE, increased 5% to €2,905 million
(2021 €2,765 million), primarily due to an increase in headcount in the reporting year.

Other operating expenses increased €1,135 million to €3,433 million (2021: €2,298 million). This
increase is mainly attributable to a €664 million increase in currency exchange losses, a €385 million
increase in services purchased, and a €118 million increase in impairment of receivables. The
increase in other operating expenses was partly offset by a €84 million decrease in other services
expense.

Finance income was €1,685 million (2021: €2,530 million), representing a year-over-year decrease of
€846 million. This decrease is primarily due to a €904 million decrease in results from profit and loss
transfer agreements and a €47 million increase in write-downs on financial assets. The decrease was
partly offset by a €178 million increase in income from investments,

SAP SE income before taxes decreased €862 million to €2,424 million (2021: €3,286 million). Income
taxes decreased €85 million to €497 million (2021: €582 million). After deducting taxes, the resulting
net income was €1,912 million (2021: €2,692 million), representing a decrease of €779 million year
over year.

Assets and Financial Position

In 2022, SAP SE total assets closed at €48,996 million (2021: €47,320 million).

SAP SE Balance Sheet as at December 31 — German Commercial Code (Short Version)

€ millions 2022 2021
Assets
Intangible assets 1,561 1,792
Property, plant, and equipment 1,393 1,350
Financial assets 37,912 36,050
Fixed assets 40,866 39,192
Inventories 1 1
Accounts receivable and other assets 5,469 5,244
Marketable securities and liquid assets 1,423 1,391
Short-term assets 6,892 6,635
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges 680 979
Deferred taxes 558 512
Surplus arising from offsetting 0 1
Total assets 48,996 47,320

Equity and liabilities

Shareholders' equity 13,540 15,693
Provisions 2,410 2,233
Liabilities 33,036 29,372
Deferred income 11 22
Total shareholders' equity and liabilities 48,996 47,320

Intangible assets decreased €232 million year over year to €1,561 million (2021: €1,792 million). Aside
scheduled depreciations on intangibles, this decrease was caused by the disposal of €88 million in
goodwill due to the intra-group sale of the Signavio go-to-market business.
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Financial assets increased €1,862 million year over year to €37,912 million (2021: €36,050 million),
mainly due to capital contributions to subsidiaries and the acquisition of Taulia Inc.

The increase of €225 million in accounts receivable and other assets was primarily the result of a
€390 million increase in receivables from affiliated companies, which was partly offset by €183 million
decrease in tax assets.

Marketable securities and liquid assets increased €32 million to €1,423 million (2021: €1,391 million).

SAP SE shareholders’ equity decreased 16% to €13,540 million (2021: €15,693 million). Against
outflows of €472 million associated with the payment of the dividend and €1,500 million for the
repurchase of stock in treasury, there was a €1,912 million increase due to net income for 2022 and
€300 million from the issuance of treasury stock to serve the share-based payments of employees.
The equity ratio (that is, the ratio of shareholders’ equity to total assets) is 28% (2021: 33%).

Provisions increased €177 million to €2,410 million (2021: €2,233 million). Other provisions increased
€125 million to €1,654 million (2021: €1,529 million), primarily as a result of an increase in other
obligations toward employees. Provisions for tax increased €52 million to €741 million

(2021: €689 million).

Liabilities increased €3,664 million to €33,036 million (2021: €29,372 million). This increase mainly
resulted from a €4,393 million increase in liabilities to affiliated companies, primarily due to higher
cash contributions by subsidiaries through SAP SE's centralized management of finance and liquidity.
The increase in liabilities was partly offset by the scheduled repayment of a bond in the total amount
of € 900 million.

Opportunities and Risks

SAP SE is subject to essentially the same opportunities and risks as the SAP Group. For more
information, see the Risk Management and Risks section and the Expected Developments and
Opportunities section.

93/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

Non-Financial Statement
Including Information on
Sustainable Activities

With this section and the information referenced to in this section, SAP SE fulfills its duty to produce a
non-financial statement (NFS) for the holding company, pursuant to section 289b—e of the German
Commercial Code (HGB), and a non-financial group statement, pursuant to section 315b—c in
conjunction with section 289c—e of the German Commercial Code (HGB), in the form of a combined
non-financial statement. The relevant non-financial matters are referenced in the table below and can
be found in the relevant sections of our combined management report.

Additionally, following Article 8 of Regulation 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council
of the European Union (EU Taxonomy), we have included information on how and to what extent
SAP's activities are associated with economic activities that qualify as environmentally sustainable
under this regulation.

For more information, see the £U 7Taxonomy Disclosures subsection.

Reporting Framework

The social and environmental data and information included in the SAP Integrated Report have been
prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards.

Business Model

SAP’s business model is described in the Strategy and Business Model section of the combined
management report. Good governance is a prerequisite for continued success and is described

throughout the combined management report. Therefore, we did not include governance as an

individual material topic in our materiality assessment and our non-financial statement.
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Non-Financial Disclosures in SAP’s Combined Management Report

SAP determines which non-financial information has to be disclosed based on a materiality analysis
we perform using internal and external input. For more information, see Materiality in the Further
Information about Economic, Environmental, and Social Performance section in our SAP Integrated

Report.

The individual non-financial aspects to be covered by the non-financial statement are addressed in
the following sections of our combined management report if material. No material risks according to
section 289c (3) sentence numbers 3 and 4 HGB have been identified.

Due Diligence; Policies and
Guidelines (Concepts)

Measures and Results, Including
KPIs Relevant for Steering and
Compensation

References to Financial Statements
and Notes

Environmental Matters

Energy and Emissions:
Vision and Strategy; Due Diligence

KPI: Net carbon emissions

Energy and Emissions: How We
Measure and Manage Our Performance

Performance Management System

Strategy and Business Model:
Measuring Our Success

Expected Developments and
Opportunities

Employee Matters

Employees: Vision and Strategy; Due
Diligence

Expected Developments and
Opportunities:
Opportunities from Our Employees

KPI: Employee Engagement Index

Employees: How We Measure and
Manage Our Performance
Performance Management System

Strategy and Business Model:
Measuring Our Success

Financial Performance: Review and
Analysis

Expected Developments and
Opportunities

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Section B — Employees

Human Rights

Human Rights: Vision and Strategy;
Due Diligence

Human Rights: How We Measure and
Manage Our Performance

Anti-Corruption and Bribery
Matters

Business Conduct:
Vision and Strategy; Due Diligence

Business Conduct: How We Measure
and Manage Our Performance

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Note (G.3)

Customer Matters

Customers:
Vision and Strategy; Due Diligence

KPI: Customer Net Promoter Score,
Revenues

Customers: How We Measure and
Manage Our Performance

Performance Management System

Strategy and Business Model:
Measuring Our Success

Financial Performance: Review and
Analysis

Expected Developments and
Opportunities

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Section A — Customers

Consolidated Income Statements —
Revenue

Security, Data Protection, and
Privacy

Security, Data Protection, and Privacy:

Vision and Strategy; Due Diligence for

Security Topics; Due Diligence for Data
Protection Topics

Security, Data Protection, and Privacy:
How We Measure and Manage Our
Performance
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Sustainable Finance: EU Taxonomy Disclosures
Assessment of Eligibility and Alignment

In 2022, as in 2021, we identified the activity “8.1 Data processing, hosting, and related activities” as turnover-relevant Taxonomy-eligible economic activity contributing to climate change
mitigation.

The criteria for Taxonomy-alignment of activity 8.1 were not met in fiscal year 2022. We expect that the transition from Taxonomy-eligible to Taxonomy-aligned will progress over the next few years
corresponding to the fulfillment of the technical screening criteria. For instance, according to the EU Taxonomy regulation, refrigerants used in data centers need to conform with a certain level of
global warming potential. The refrigerants employed by SAP do not meet this threshold yet. An immediate exchange would lead to additional toxic waste and costs. Therefore, SAP intends to
replace the refrigerants according to our regular maintenance schedule over the course of the next few years. Also, SAP’s data center co-locations and hyperscalers are not yet in full alignment
with the criteria set out in the Taxonomy regulation. Together with our providers, we are evaluating options to reach Taxonomy alignment over the next few years.

Furthermore, SAP assessed whether any capital and operational expenditures had been incurred related to the purchase of output from Taxonomy-eligible or Taxonomy-aligned economic
activities. In 2022, SAP capitalized an amount of €151 million relating to the purchase of vehicles. While a portion of these expenses, specifically relating to the purchase of electric vehicles, may
be Taxonomy-aligned, we could not obtain the necessary verification from our suppliers. Therefore, SAP classified the full amount as Taxonomy-eligible (purchases of output of the activity “3.3
Manufacture of low carbon technologies for transport”" contributing to climate change mitigation) but not as Taxonomy-aligned.

In single locations, SAP operates combined heat/cool and power generation facilities using fossil gaseous fuels. However, the associated potential Taxonomy-eligible and aligned revenues, capital
expenditures, and operational expenditures are negligible. No further activities for nuclear or gas are applicable.

SAP also evaluated whether activity “7.2 Renovation of existing buildings” is relevant for SAP. While SAP regularly conducts renovation measures, for 2022 renovation expenses were considered
immaterial compared to SAP’s total investments and were not clearly distinguishable from other related but non-eligible costs. We therefore concluded that activity 7.2 is not relevant for 2022.
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Revenue
€ millions, unless otherwise stated
Substantial contribution criteria "Does not significantly harm" criteria
Taxo- Taxo-
nomy nomy
Pro- Climate Climate Water . Bio- . Climate Water . Biodi- Mini- aligned aligned En-
. and Circular . . Climate and Circular N Tran-
. . NACE Absolute portion change change R Pollu- diversity change . Pollu- versity mum pro- pro-  ab- .
Economic activities b marine econ- . change marine econ- . N ; X si-
codes turnover of turn- miti- adap- tion and eco- e s adapta- tion and eco- safe- portion portion ling .
. . re- omy mitigation . re- omy tional
over  gation tation systems tion systems  guards ofturn-  of turn-
sources sources
over over
2022 2021

A. Taxonomye-eligible
activities

A.1. Environmentally

sustainable activities

(Taxonomy-aligned)

Turnover of environmentally

sustainable activities - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1)

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but
not environmentally
sustainable activities (not
Taxonomy-aligned activities)
8.1 Data processing, hosting,
and related activities

Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible
but not environmentally
sustainable activities (not 12,296 40% - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Taxonomy-aligned activities)

(A2)

Total (A.1+A.2) 12,296 40% - - - - - - - . . . . . . .

J63.11 12,29 40% : . : . . . . : . : - : - - - - -

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible
activities

Turnover of Taxonomy-non-
eligible activities (B)

Total turnover (A+B) 30,871 100%

18,575 60% - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
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As outlined above, we have identified only one activity as a relevant Taxonomy-eligible economic activity to which revenues can be attributed. We considered materiality aspects in this process.
Eligible turnover consists of revenue earned from providing the following services, which comply with the description of activity 8.1:

— Software as a service (SaaS)
— Platform as a service (PaaS)
— Infrastructure as a service (laaS)

SAP’s cloud revenue mainly results from these services. Other revenues that qualify as cloud revenue but cannot be classified as Taxonomy-eligible have been excluded. Total revenue was
determined according to IFRS, specifically IFRS 15, and matches total revenue presented in SAP's Consolidated Income Statements. For more information about how we recognize revenue and
the components of revenue, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note A. 1.

For a detailed description of the development and key drivers of SAP's revenue, see the Performance Against Our Outlook for 2022 (Non-IFRS) and Operating Results (IFRS) sections in the
combined management report.
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Operational Expenditures

€ millions, unless otherwise stated

Substantial contribution criteria "Does not significantly harm" criteria
. Taxo- Taxo-
Water Bio- Bio- nomy nomy
Pro- Climate Climate Cir- diver- Climate Climate Cir- . _ . .
Ab- . and X Water and diver- Minimum aligned aligned En-
. R NACE portion change change R cular Pollu- sity change change . cular Pollu- . X Trans-
Economic activities solute e marine . . marine re- . sity and safe- pro- pro- abling .

codes of miti- adap- eco- tion and miti- adap- eco- tion . . itional

OpEx . X re- . . sources eco- guards portion of portion of

OpEx gation tation nomy ecosys- gation tation nomy
sources tems systems OpEXx OpEXx
2022 2021

A. Taxonomye-eligible
activities

A.1 Environmentally

sustainable activities

(Taxonomy-aligned)

OpEx of environmentally

sustainable activities - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1)

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible

but not environmentally

sustainable activities (not

Taxonomy-aligned

activities)

8.1 Data processing,

hosting, and related J63.11 1,475 19% - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
activities

OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible

but not environmentally

sustainable activities (not 1,475 19% - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Taxonomy-aligned

activities) (A.2)

Total (A.1+A.2) 1,475 19% = = = = = = = = = = = = = =
B. Taxonomy-non-eligible

activities

OPI.EX of Ta.x'orlomy—non— 6,452 81% - - R R R R - - - - R - R R R - R
eligible activities

Total OpEx (A+B) 7,927  100%
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We have designated those costs as Taxonomy-eligible that relate to assets and processes associated with the Taxonomy-eligible activity “8.1 Data processing, hosting, and related activities.” We
considered materiality aspects in the identification process of relevant costs and activities. The majority of costs connected to this activity are leasing expenses for hosting services provided by
third parties. To a smaller extent, these costs also include expenses for maintenance and repair of SAP’s cloud infrastructure.

Total operating expenses according to the EU Taxonomy mainly include the following non-capitalized cost elements: research and development, short-term lease, and maintenance and repair
relating to property, plant, and equipment. Other major expense components in SAP’s Consolidated Income Statement, such as depreciation, utilities (for example, costs for heating and electricity
consumption), as well as most general and administrative cost, restructuring, and sales and marketing cost do not fall in scope of the definition of operating expenses according to the EU

Taxonomy and are therefore excluded.

For a detailed description of the development and key drivers of all operating expenses, see the Performance Against Our Outlook for 2022 (Non-IFRS) section and the Operating Profit and
Operating Margin section in our combined management report.

Capital Expenditures

€ millions, unless otherwise stated

Substantial contribution criteria

"Does not significantly harm" criteria

Taxo- Taxo-
. . nomy nomy
Pro- Climate Climate Water . .Blo Climate Climate Water . .Blo Mini- aligned aligned
Ab- . and Circular diver- and Circular diver- En-
. A NACE portion change change . Po- . change change . Po- . mum pro- pro- . Trans-
Economic activities solute e marine eco- . sity and e marine eco- . sity and . X abling ..
codes of miti- adap- llution miti- adap- llution safe- portion portion itional
CapEx . X re- nomy eco- . . re- nomy ecosys-
CapEx gation tation gation tation guards of of
sources systems sources tems
CapEx CapEx
2022 2021
A. Taxonomye-eligible
activities
A.1 Environmentally
sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned)
CapEx of environmentally
sustainable activities - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1)
A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but
not environmentally
sustainable activities (not
Taxonomy-aligned activities)
8.1 Data processing, hosting, J63.11 231 14% : : : : : : : : : : : : ) ) ) : :

and related activities
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CapEx related to purchase of
output of "3.3 Manufacture of
low carbon technologies for
transport”

CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible
but not environmentally
sustainable activities (not 382 23% - - - - - - - - - -
Taxonomy-aligned activities)

(A.2)

Total (A.1+A.2) 382 23% 5 - - - - - - - - . B, . ; ;

C29.1 151 9% - - - - - - = o - -

B. Taxonomy-non-eligible
activities

CapEx of Taxonomy-non-

0, - - - - - - - - - -
eligible activities 1,255 77%

Total CapEx (A+B) 1,637 100%

In line with the EU Taxonomy regulation, total capital expenditures presented in this section include additions to tangible and intangible assets accounted for based on IAS 16, IAS 38, and
IFRS 16, as well as additions to tangible and intangible assets (excluding additions to goodwill) resulting from business combinations.

Taxonomy-eligible capital expenditures relate to assets and processes that are associated with the economic activity “8.1 Data processing, hosting, and related activities.” These expenses
comprise mostly investments in SAP’s cloud infrastructure (IT hardware and software).

Additionally, Taxonomy-eligible capital expenditures include capitalized costs relating to the purchases of vehicles.
We also considered materiality aspects in the identification process of relevant costs and activities.

Q Audit Scope

The content of the non-financial statement was not subject to the statutory audit of the combined group management report. However, our external auditor carried out an independent limited
assurance engagement on the non-financial statement including the EU Taxonomy disclosures. In addition, all non-financial aspects referenced to in the table Non-Financial Disclosures in SAP’s
Combined Management Report are assured by our external auditor, however, on different audit assurance levels (reasonable or limited). The chapters with information audited with limited

assurance include an Q Audit Scope box at the end explaining the audit scope of the disclosures in the respective chapter.
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Security, Data Protection, and
Privacy

Vision and Strategy

Every day, organizations around the world trust SAP with their data — either on premise at their
physical locations, in the cloud, or when using mobile devices while on the move. Our customers
need to know that our goal is to keep their data safe, process it in a manner that complies with local
legislation, and protect it from malicious use. For this reason, cybersecurity and security, as well as
data protection and privacy, are of paramount importance to us.

SAP Global Security

Cloud solutions and services are increasingly important to many companies' daily operations.
Organizations today are facing many risk factors and disruptions such as the COVID-19 pandemic,
war, political unrest, severe weather, cyberattacks, and supply chain disruption, making digital
solutions critical to business resilience. As a result, digital transformation is accelerating and
cybersecurity is now even more crucial to IT security professionals and business leaders, particularly
in those enterprises that have moved their core processes to the cloud.

The SAP strategy is focused on helping customers transform into intelligent, sustainable enterprises.
Our SAP Global Security (SGS) organization supports this journey with a goal of reducing risk and
promoting regulatory compliance, and by aligning people, procedures, and technology to protect
business processes and data. The organization embraces and encourages a security-minded culture
that embeds security in our development and deployment processes and helps secure digital
transformation.

SGS supports key stakeholders in our lines of business (LoBs), IT, and the presales organization in
securing solutions, and drives operational excellence for security across the enterprise. To protect our
organization’s data and assets and support high-quality risk management and reporting, SGS regularly
reviews and adapts our security policies, standards, and frameworks.

Data Protection

With our product and services portfolio, SAP aims to protect the rights of individuals involved and
meet relevant local requirements when processing personal data. In addition, we strive to strengthen
SAP's reputation in the long term as a sustainable and trustworthy partner in the market. We have
implemented safeguards intended to help protect the fundamental rights of everyone whose data is
processed by SAP, whether they are customers, suppliers, partners, prospects, employees, or
applicants.

We develop and pursue our global data protection and privacy strategy in accordance with our
business strategy. Our global data protection and privacy strategy is to constantly monitor the global
regulatory data protection compliance landscape, identify relevant stakeholders, and enable them to
take necessary measures for their adoption. It is also designed to safeguard the processing of
personal data. The strategy consists of four pillars to help comply with applicable data protection laws
and regulations. These pillars comprise the global data protection and privacy policy; mandatory
global data protection and privacy training for employees; our global data protection and privacy
coordinator network; and the global data protection management system — and all aiming to ensure
that we comply with applicable data protection laws.
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Due Diligence for Security Topics

Governance

SGS is led by a chief security officer who reports directly to the SAP CEO. SGS divisions are
responsible for areas such as product and application security, cyberdefense, operational security risk
management, security compliance, executive protection, physical security, as well as a Trust Office
that supports customers and partners with security-related issues.

The SAP Security Governance Model is designed to ensure executive engagement and facilitates
shared responsibility in quarterly SAP Security Advisory Board and bi-monthly Security Council
meetings, as well as in biweekly updates to the Executive Board.

Our commitment to customers is to be open and transparent about security vulnerabilities. To ensure
this, we work with several external stakeholder groups including SAP user groups for the Americas
and for German-speaking countries.

Guidelines and Policies

The purpose of the SAP Global Security Policy is to provide governance and structure for an
appropriate and effective level of information security within SAP and our affiliated businesses.
Aligned with the overall SAP corporate strategy and vision, it details the management intent,
expectations, and strategic goals and objectives for SAP security.

This policy provides high-level requirements for numerous security domains. These include, but are
not limited to, access control, physical security, network security management, incident response, and
acceptable use. These requirements apply to all SAP employees, contractors, consultants, as well as
external parties that are granted access to SAP information and information assets. SAP reviews the
policy annually and enacts modifications as deemed appropriate and necessary to protect SAP and
our own and our customers’ data and assets where new threats or vulnerabilities are identified. All
SAP employees are required to read and adhere to this internal policy. The SAP Security Policy
Framework consists of several levels of security documents that support the requirements described
in the policy. In addition, the different LoBs at SAP may have supporting policies, standards,
procedures, and practices.

Due Diligence for Data Protection Topics

Governance

Within the scope of their responsibilities, our global data protection officer (DPO) monitors the
compliance of activities involving the processing of personal data. The DPO reports to the SAP CFO.
Within the Executive Board, the SAP CFO is responsible for compliance and enforcement of data
protection and privacy. The DPO owns the SAP Global Data Protection and Privacy Policy that
addresses SAP’s data protection governance, and regularly informs the CFO about the status of data
protection compliance in the SAP Group.

To meet and ensure consistent security and data protection compliance, SAP has implemented a
formal governance model that assigns clear responsibilities across the SAP Group. Upon request, the
DPO attends steering committee meetings and reports on matters relevant to data protection to the
Audit and Compliance Committee of the SAP Supervisory Board. No requests from the Supervisory
Board in 2022.

SAP has established a global network of data protection and privacy coordinators (DPPCs) across all
SAP Group entities that process personal data. This DPPC network consists of regional and local
DPPCs and is aimed to ensure data protection and privacy compliance on a local level. The DPPC
network increases awareness by conducting local training and monitoring the legal landscape. Where
new data protection laws evolve, the DPPC network also helps the Data Protection and Privacy
(DPP) team acting on behalf of the DPO identify and analyze them. If this requires compliance
activities, they align with the affected LoBs and help drive the relevant implementation. Supported by
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the DPPC network, the DPP team regularly engages with SAP’s government relations team to
represent SAP's interests in the legislative process. In this regard, SAP participates in external working
groups to help align industry-specific interests with respective governments.

SAP has implemented a data protection management system (DPMS) for our organization. The
DPMS is set according to the generally recognized standard for data protection management systems
as defined in the British Standard BS 10012, which comprises the data protection requirements of the
European Union (EU) General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) since version 10012:2017. The
DPMS covers almost all LoBs (excluding Qualtrics) and is planned to be implemented in all acquired
companies as well. It is designed as a framework covering all aspects of data protection compliance
of SAP organizations and employees. The DPMS is used as SAP’s standard methodology to ensure
compliance with data protection legislation. The maintenance of the framework is subject to
certification from the British Standards Institution that confirms data protection compliance annually.

Guidelines and Policies

The SAP Global Data Protection and Privacy Policy outlines a group-wide minimum standard for data
protection-compliant processing of personal data. It defines requirements for business processes that
involve personal data and assigns clear responsibilities. The principles established by this policy take
into account the requirements of the EU GDPR. They apply generally and globally to SAP Group
affiliates. Additional data protection and privacy requirements, if applicable, are adopted on a local
level as necessary. We actively monitor changes to applicable laws and regulations so that we can
update our standards on an ongoing basis as necessary to meet data protection compliance. The
policy was last updated in 2021.

How We Measure and Manage Our Performance

Security

Compliance processes at SAP adhere to trust-service criteria established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). Our security, availability, privacy, confidentiality, and processing
integrity controls are designed to achieve the appropriate control objectives. In addition, independent,
external auditing partners regularly conduct security compliance audits.

SAP discloses vulnerabilities on the second Tuesday of every month (“Patch Day”). This disclosure
mechanism provides customers with authoritative, public information about SAP software
vulnerabilities from SAP that can be integrated with their existing risk management processes and
tools.
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SAP strives to reduce risk by continuously improving our processes for detecting and remediating
attacks and vulnerabilities. To that end, we:

— Engage in internal and external audits across SAP globally

— Monitor and support our cloud and IT units with over 2,800 controls that are audited and tested for
design and operating effectiveness

— Offer service organization control (SOC) reports — such as SOC 1 Type II/ISAE 3402 and SOC 2
Type II/ISAE 3000 — to provide insights into the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control systems implemented within cloud delivery units

— Let external internationally accredited auditors assess and certify our cloud services according to
various reporting standards and ISO certifications, such as ISO 9001, ISO 27001, ISO 27017,
ISO 27018, and ISO 22301, in addition to BS 10012

Data Protection

To help ensure necessary knowledge about data protection, global data protection and privacy
training is mandatory for SAP employees. The training is conducted every two years, with the latest
rolled out in 2021. This training helps our workforce handle personal data with due care and in
accordance with the law and to maintain compliance with data protection requirements in their work.

We monitor compliance of data protection-relevant procedures across SAP. We maintain a record of
processing activities (“procedure enrollment tool”), in which procedures that process personal data
must be documented. The record entries contain general information about the procedure according
to defined criteria necessary to meet proper documentation. The record entries are reportable and
regularly reviewed.

We also track the quality of our data protection compliance level based on the annual recertification
of our DPMS by the British Standards Institution (BSI). SAP has been audited by the BSI annually and
awarded certifications according to BS 10012 since 2011. The most recent certification is valid until
year-end 2025.

SAP's own quality standards and international regulations require careful selection and monitoring of
subprocessors processing personal data on behalf of SAP and SAP customers. With the goal that all
subprocessors meet protection and security requirements for the processing of personal data, SAP
has implemented a subprocessor verification process. All of SAP’s subprocessors (for example,
suppliers, vendors, and partners) are subject to this process. The process comprises three main
compliance criteria for data protection-relevant subprocessors: (i) contractual compliance; (ii) self-
assessments based on a questionnaire including transfer impact assessments on international data
transfers to third countries; and (iii) remote and/or on-site audits.

SAP respects the rights of the data subjects to obtain information as to whether or not personal data
concerning them is being processed. All necessary information is made available to the data subjects
within the framework of the privacy statements on the respective SAP Web sites.

In 2022, SAP experienced three significant incidents in processing personal data — on our own behalf
— that were subject to GDPR only and were reported to the supervisory authorities.

Related Risks for SAP

For related financial risks, see the Risk Management and Risks section, specifically the Cybersecurity
and Security and Data Protection and Privacy subsections.

Q Audit Scope

The content of the section Security, Data Protection, and Privacy was not subject to the statutory audit
of our combined group management report. However, our external auditor performed an independent
limited assurance engagement for the content of this section.
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Employees

Vision and Strategy

People are at the heart of our organization. Aiming for a highly engaged, diverse, future-fit workforce
equipped with the right skills helps SAP attract the best talent.

Our People & Operations Strategy connects with our product and go-to-market strategies to utilize the
combined power of our people, processes, and technology. Since 2020, we have been evolving our
annual execution of our People Strategy Pillars that contribute to our business strategy and value
generation. They can be summarized across three themes, powered by operational excellence and
showcasing SAP solutions for human experience management (HXM):

— Building Skills for the Future by attracting the best and most diverse talent and continuously up-
/reskilling our people

— Driving SAP’s Winning Culture by fostering a culture that enables and rewards impact and
business outcomes

— Changing the Way We Lead by driving for accountability and empowerment, in a healthy,
inclusive, and diverse environment

Due Diligence

Governance

Since January 1, 2021, Sabine Bendiek has served as Chief People & Operating Officer and Labor
Relations Director. The People & Operations organization set up remains unchanged from 2021 to
best support our People Strategy, including the following functional areas: Future of Work (including
Global Health & Well-Being), Global Diversity & Inclusion, SAP Learning, Talent Attraction, Total
Rewards, and our Global People Success Services team combining the HR Business Partner
organization with Global HR Service Delivery.

Guidelines and Policies

SAP is committed to ensuring the fair and equal treatment of all employees in a sustainable manner.

For that reason, we established comprehensive policies that guide us in our daily business. Examples
are our SAP Global Antidiscrimination Statement and SAP Health, Safety & Well-Being Commitment

Statement 213

How We Measure and Manage Our Performance

The impact of our people strategy is measured by seven KPIs (see table “Our Key People-Related
KPIs at a Glance”). Five out of the seven KPIs are based on the results of our engagement survey
program #Unfiltered.!* With #Unfiltered, we strengthen our commitment to listen regularly to our
employees and act together on their feedback. In 2022, we defined excitement for the future of SAP
and health and well-being as focus areas. We gauged the sentiment on employee engagement
(which includes excitement for the future of SAP), leadership trust, and health and well-being along

2 The Commitment Statement will replace the currently valid SAP Global Health and Safety Policy in February 2023.
13 Both links lead to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed
by our external auditor.

4 In the #Unfiltered survey in April, 80,117 employees participated (response rate: 73%), and in the #Unfiltered survey in October, 78,226
participated (response rate: 70%). All headcount (HC)-relevant employees and, in addition, in Germany, the non-HC relevant employees
on parental leave, on long-term sick leave, with a tenure of more than six months, PhD students, and vocational training students were
invited to take part in the 2022 #Unfiltered survey cycle.
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with other topics twice over the year. The average scores from both data collections were used as the
full-year Employee Engagement Index and Leadership Trust Net Promoter Score (NPS).

Additional people-related KPIs can be found in Finance and ESG Data.*

Our Key People-Related KPIs at a Glance!®

percent

84 83

2018 2019

80 N —3pp

Employee Engagement Index

83

2021 2022

Leadership Trust
Net Promoter Score

72 2 +5pp

Business Health
Culture Index
percent

8 1 2 +-0pp

Innovation Index
percent

87 N -2pp

Simplification of
Processes
percent

64 N -2pp

p

Employee
Retention
percent

92.3 N —0.5pp

Women in
Management
percent

29.4 A +1.1pp

Below is an overview of how we put the three themes of our people strategy and KPIs into practice.

15 Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.

® Employee Engagement Index: Calculated based on the average of the scores retrieved in each of the surveys we run for our
engagement survey program “#Unfiltered.” For more information, see the Performance Management System section. The initial target for
2022 was between 84% and 86% and was adjusted half year to 80%. For 2023 through 2025, our ambition of 84%-86% remains.

Leadership Trust Score: Measures the extent to which our work environment is based on trust and trust in our leadership. It is calculated
based on the average of the scores retrieved in each of the surveys we run for our engagement survey program “#Unfiltered”. We measure
leadership trust by an NPS methodology, so it is calculated as % Promoters (9 and 10) minus % Detractors (1 — 6) on a 10-pt scale.

Business Health Culture Index (BHCI): Indicates the extent to which SAP successfully offers employees a working environment that
promotes health supporting their long-term employability and their active engagement in reaching our corporate goals. The index covers
questions concerning how employees rate their personal well-being and the working conditions at SAP, including our leadership culture.
The BHCI is calculated based on the results of our #Unfiltered program (April 2022 survey). For 2023 through 2025, our ambition remains
to keep the BHCI between 78% and 80%.

Innovation Index: Indicates to what extent we foster an innovation culture. The index is measured by three questions in our #Unfiltered
program (April 2022 survey).

Simplification of Processes: Shows the impact of our continued efforts to simplify our processes. The index is measured by nine questions
in our #Unfiltered program (April 2022 survey).

Employee Retention: Ratio of the average number of employees minus the employees who voluntarily departed, to the average number of
employees, taking into account the past 12 months (in full-time equivalents, or FTEs). This ratio puts emphasis on employee-initiated
turnover. In other words, we seek to measure how many employees choose to stay with SAP. As opposed to keeping a low turnover rate,
we aim to keep our retention rate high. The number of voluntarily departed employees excludes the voluntary part of restructuring-related
departures for more transparency and precise headcount management purposes.

Women in Management: We define “women in management” as the share of women in management positions as compared to the total
number of managers, expressed by the number of individuals and not FTEs. It includes three categories: 1) Managers managing teams:
Refers to managing teams of at least one employee or vacant positions; 2) Managers managing managers: Refers to managing managers
who manage teams; and 3) Executive Board members. For 2023, we will keep our ambition to increase the rate of women in management to
30%. Our aspiration is to reach gender parity in our workforce at all levels and to retain women leaders.
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Building the Skills for the Future

Attracting, hiring, onboarding, developing, and retaining a diverse talent pool is key for the future
success of SAP. In 2022, SAP slowed hiring. Competition for talent remains a key concern, so we
continue to work on continual talent community building. We have made changes to our employer
value proposition to focus on our culture of togetherness, and working to strengthen our brand
perception in terms of innovation and sustainability. Our focus on building an inclusive workforce
across various demographic aspects, such as generations, gender, and nationalities is key to our
efforts to attract people who build SAP’s future.

As part of our strategic pillar "Building the Skills for the Future," we focus on our skills transformation.
SAP expects a shift in current skills that will cease to exist and new capabilities that will be needed in
the future. In some cases, this shift is predictable, while in others it requires an adaptive workforce
management approach focusing on continuous skill transformation to ensure our people are
equipped to support future work requirements.

Talent Attraction, Development, and Retention

14,307 (FTE) (2021: 13,854) employees of which 38.1% were women (2021: 38.1%)

- Early Talent hires: Out of 14,307 hired employees, 24.5% (FTE) (2021: 33.1%) are Early Talents.

- SAP Student Training and Rotation (SAP STAR) program: More than 1,300 students (from Australia, Brazil, China, Germany,
Hungary, India, Indonesia, Ireland, Japan, New Zealand, Singapore, South Korea, Switzerland, and the United States).
Conversion rate® of 78% (2021: 75%)

- Cooperation with academic institutions: More than 2,800 (events, executive lectures, office visits, competitions)
- SAP Internship Experience Program: 1,662 (2021: 1,461) global participants in 22 countries

- New global onboarding program introduced to help new hires understand SAP’s culture, strategy, and transformation story.

- Twelve-hour long immersive live experience and companion learning journey; more than 3,500 new hires attended the
sessions in Q3 and Q4 2022; customer satisfaction (CSAT) score of 4.4/5.

- Self-paced online programs and live interactive training, including courses for technical, functional, and professional skills, as
well as a broad peer-to-peer learning portfolio, are open to all employees.

- Role-based skills program for customer-facing functions® to close solution-related skills gaps (completion rate across all
levels: 86%)%

-We aim to keep a high level of employee learning participation: In 2022 the participation rate was at 98%; trackable learning
at >3 million hours (2021: more than 3 million); SAP cloud journey upskilling program with 34,233 employees (2021: 22,574)

We continue to work on clearly defining our succession pipeline, supporting targeted development, and facilitating Executive
Board exposure for identifying incumbents and successors of critical and highest value-generating roles.

20,054 former employees (2021: 14,909); 5,444 current employees (2021: 4,379)

- It is our goal to create a great experience in every interaction to differentiate SAP. With Qualtrics feedback surveys, we aim
to provide transparency on candidate and hiring manager feedback to continuously improve our hiring practices.

- Candidate Experience?: 4.24; Hiring Manager Experience?: 4.62; Quality of Hire: 1. 96%, 2. 69%%
8.3 years (2021: 8.0 years)

154 (2021: 160); List of Workplace Culture Awards®

7 “Early Talents” (defined as hires with 0-3 years of experience in a professional setting hired into professional roles)
8 Unlimited contracts after SAP STAR program

9 The role-based skill program is mandatory for all SAP employees within the area of Customer Success (CS) — excluding contract
employees in Germany within CS roles, where the program is considered “highly recommended”.

2 The role based skill program consists of three levels: L100 completion rate 87.61%, L200 completion rate 83.16%, and VoS completion rate
87.93%.

2 The score is based on three questions (scale: 1 being the lowest, 5 the highest answer) about the experience with the recruiter, their
ability to represent the company and opportunities within, as well as their ability to serve as strategic advisor to find the best fit within the
company for the candidate.

2 This is a weighted average of the of the candidate touchpoint survey: Career Site, Post-Application, Post-Interview, and Post-Decision.

2 Score 1 is based on the question: “Would you hire this employee again?”; Score 2 is based on the question: “Has this employee ‘raised
the bar’ for your team?”

2 Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.
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Driving SAP’s Winning Culture

With our next-generation performance management approach, we aim to establish a high-
performance focus by linking business goals to the impact of individuals and teams with development
opportunities and meaningful reward packages. It is critical that our employees see the link between
their individual contribution and SAP's future success.

Goal Setting and Reward Structure

- SAP’s top leadership set goals for their organization and made them visible to all employees on our internal corporate
strategy site, kicking off a goal cascade through all required leadership levels down to team and employee goal setting
January through March. Ninety percent of our workforce documented their performance goals in 2022 (2021: 92%).%

- Annual “People Day” in early March: All employees were given time to reflect on SAP’s strategy and connect their goals and
development to SAP’s strategy.

- The goal of SAP Talk sessions and check-ins throughout the year is to create manager and employee dialogue, discuss goals
defined after the SMART?® Framework, and agree upon and document those goals.

Key highlights of our rewards experiences, which we aim to deliver through the evolution of short-term incentive and
recoghnition landscapes, strengthening focus on pay for performance, transforming equity programs, and repositioning benefit
offerings included:

- Share-based compensation program, Move SAP, to drive ownership and enable a “true cloud” compensation through share-
settled awards in most of the countries, quarterly vesting events

- Approximately 79% (2021: 78%) of employees overall participated in Own SAP, our global share purchase plan, with an
investment of 9,183,599 shares (2021: 5,655,937) SAP’s contribution to the investment made by plan participants was
doubled from 40% to 80% from January to March in light of SAP’s 50-year anniversary.

- SAP’s short-term incentive landscape focused on cloud transformation and growth by using growth in current cloud backlog
(CCB) as a unified KP1.%

- First annual global pay equity analysis,?® with adjustments made for individuals who fell below acceptable range of salary
differences among peers.

- “Pay for performance” so that everyone’s unique contribution can be fairly and clearly reflected. We strategically allocated a
portion of the overall global rewards investment to targeted employee groups, in addition to the allocation to the broad-based
population, in order to drive balanced outcomes and differentiate performance.

For more information, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (B.3).

Changing the Way We Lead

Strong, future-oriented leadership is key for successfully executing our strategy and becoming more
agile, ethical, inclusive, and accountable.

Leadership Culture

- Rollout of leadership expectations in 2022 as a blueprint of what great leadership at SAP looks like while exemplifying and
embracing our leadership credo: “Do what'’s right. Make SAP better for generations to come.”

- Creation of a consistent approach to leadership engagement across all levels

- Traditional, peer, and experiential learning journeys focused on building management, leadership, and cloud skills

- Built accountability into critical processes and provide transparency to the Executive Board on leadership KPIs

- Scaled delivery of our leadership programs such as the SAP Leadership Summit, Cloud Business Simulations, Leadership
Culture Workshop, and Psychological Safety for Teams, among others.

- Percentage of leaders® who have completed at least one relevant learning asset: 31%

- Percentage of global senior executives who have completed relevant development offerings: 94%

In addition to our leadership culture, one further strategic pillar is to pursue an agile, entrepreneurial,
healthy, and innovative organization — which is even more required considering the volatile, quickly
changing environment of today's world.

% M&A teams that are not yet using Success Map are excluded.
2 SMART is an acronym that stands for Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, and Timely.

27 Used in our sales leadership plans as a primary KPI, in non-quota carrying sales plans as a secondary KPI, and in our revenue enabling
plans as the core basis of evaluating our company success. For a definition of CCB, see the Performance Management System section.

2 Executives and non-headcount relevant employees were not within the scope of the global pay equity analysis.

2 The term “leaders” is inclusive of all SAP colleagues who are in a formal executive or people manager role — either managing a team or
managing managers.
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A Future-Ready, Agile, Healthy, and Innovative Organization

- Pledge to Flex: Company-wide flex work commitment empowers SAP's employees to choose when and where to work best
as roles and tasks permit and considering local legal requirements.

- Leveraging advanced technology and new facility concepts in frontrunner locations (London, Montréal, and Zurich) further
supports SAP in attracting and retaining the best talent in the tech industry.

- With the pandemic-related “work from home” guidance ending in July 2022, the transition to a post-pandemic hybrid working
environment was initiated. Latest feedback (Future of Work Pulse #2 in Q3/2022 — a global pulse survey across all countries
and all employees) indicates successful adoption in all countries as 77% feel empowered to decide where and when they are
doing their job. A holistic enablement framework (for example, flex team workshops or “Moments Together Onsite (MOTO)")
helps employees and leaders to manage a smooth transition back to the office as part of a well-balanced hybrid working
model at SAP.

- Health, safety, and well-being of our people are cornerstones of a sustainable future of work. A caring culture and
compliance with international and local health and safety regulations is an integral part of our business conduct, our duty of
care, and our commitment to ethical leadership. SAP’s offerings to support a healthy workplace and work culture were
recognized by awards such as the EU-OSHA Good Practice Award and the Corporate Health Award.

- COVID-19 response: The SAP Global Pandemic Taskforce continued to coordinate pandemic countermeasures such as free
of charge vaccination programs to SAP employees, their dependents, and, in some instances, to the general public.

- Flagship programs:

- As part of the commitment to a no-stigma, psychologically safe working culture, the “Are you OK?” mental health
well-being initiative continued to offer enablement and awareness for employees and leaders.

- Mental Health Day on May 31, 2022: Company-sponsored global vacation day for all employees
- SAP participated in the Healthy Workplaces Lighten the Load campaign by the European Agency for Safety and
Health at Work, helping leaders and employees to discover new ways to lighten the load of life’s stressors.

- SAP.iO accelerates, incubates, and scales startup innovation and explores new business models for SAP. The SAP.iO
intrapreneurship program continued to help identify high-potential entrepreneurial employees at SAP and was able to jump-
start 232 venture ideas, seeking investment by the SAP.iO Venture Studio.

- Hasso Plattner Founders’ Award: Provides the highest internal employee recognition at SAP.

At SAP, we are always striving for inclusion and aiming to reflect the diversity of society in our
workforce to innovate in alignment with the needs of the community. As a global organization with
employees from 163 nationalities, when we talk about inclusivity and diversity in the workforce, we are
talking about a host of different topics, including gender, race, LGBTQ+, and disability. Our new
Diversity & Inclusion Strategy is built on three pillars:

— Workforce Diversity: We believe in leveraging the widest spectrum of human differences that
represent a diversity of identities, thoughts, and perspectives to create business outcomes that help
the world run better every day.

— Workplace Inclusion: Creating a positive work environment where colleagues can thrive and
engage to their fullest potential in driving SAP’s purpose. Inclusion involves active co-creation of
the culture where all experiences lead to a feeling of acceptance and belonging.

— Marketplace Leadership: We realize the responsibility that comes with being one of the largest
tech companies in the world and extend what we do to our entire ecosystem.

Equality and Inclusion in the Workplace

- Women in the overall workforce: 35% (2021: 34.3%); women in management roles: 29.4% (2021: 28.3%)

- Promoting inclusive policies on flexible work arrangements through pledge to flex, enhanced parental leave benefits, and a
focus on fair pay

- SAP Business Women'’s Network focuses on driving impact with intention and engagement with over 3,300 participants for
International Women’s Day and more than 150 chapter events across the globe.

- Autism at Work program: Supports a workforce that includes 215 (FTE) (2021: 217) colleagues on the autism spectrum in

15 (2021: 16) countries

- Autism Inclusion Network: Employee-led network group focused on spreading autism acceptance

- SAP Autism Inclusion Pledge: Extends SAP’s autism inclusion endeavors by sharing what we have learned with our customer
and partner ecosystem

- Reporting creation (SAP Diversity & Inclusion Report®) for better tracking in accordance with required regulations in different
countries and in line with our diversity and inclusion objectives.

% Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.
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- Built on the “Equality for All” initiative by the Human Rights Campaign, SAP supported the Spotlight Black Businesses program
to showcase and promote small Black-owned businesses and introduce them to new audiences.

- SAP is a new member of the Equal@Work platform of ENAR, the European Network Against Racism.

- SAP was among the first supporters of the United Nations Global LGBTI Standards of Conduct for Business and has been
partnering with the employee-driven Pride@SAP LGBTQ+ network for more than 20 years.

- Recognitions received 2022: Corporate Equality Index of the Human Rights Campaign in Argentina, Chile, and the United
States; Swiss LGBTI Label; Australian LGBTQ Inclusion Award by the Australian Workplace Equality Index; and Gold Award at
the Pride Index by WorkWithPride in Japan

- SAP was also a silver sponsor of Out & Equal 2022 Workplace Summit.

- Removing barriers for differently-abled persons through new technologies (for example, eye tracking)
- Recognized as one of the Best Places to Work for Disability Inclusion (United States): Disability Equality Index

- SAP supports numerous ENGs that offer activities and events in 2022.

- Board members were nominated as executive sponsors for ENGs with SAP leadership committed to advance ENG agendas to
drive inclusion.

Pushing Operational Excellence and Showcasing Human Experience
Management

Delivering engaging experiences for SAP’s customers starts with our own workforce. A continued
emphasis on operational excellence and experience management is key to delivering our human
experience management (HXM) solutions and services efficiently, with both empathy and compliance.
Examples include the following:

— SAP runs SAP SuccessFactors solutions to manage global SAP people data and the SAP Analytics
Cloud solution to provide analytics and insights.

— Qualtrics solutions are integrated with SAP SuccessFactors solutions, including event-triggered
Quialtrics surveys along the employee journey.

— We significantly simplified our external SAP Careers Web site using career site builder capabilities
in the SAP SuccessFactors Recruiting solution and streamlined the hiring process using the
SAP Build Process Automation solution (for example, for candidate background verification).

Related Risks for SAP

‘Human rights and employee matters’ is a risk factor that is assessed as part of SAP’s corporate
financial risk management system. No financial material risks were identified through our risk
framework as described in the Risk Management and Risks section.

Headcount and Personnel Expense

Numbers disclosed in the £mployees section®! are based on headcount (exceptions in FTE are
indicated). We define headcount in FTE®? as the number of people on permanent employment
contracts, taking into account their staffing percentage. Students, individuals employed by SAP but
currently not working for reasons such as maternity/parental leave, and temporary employees on
limited contracts of less than six months, are excluded from our figures. The number of temporary
employees is not material (temporary FTE: 1,941).

3 These are Employee Engagement Index Leadership Trust NPS, Business Health Culture Index, Innovation Index, Simplification of
Processes (all measures through #Unfiltered), Employee Retention, and Women in Management. The metrics Employee Retention and
Women in Management, as well as further metrics like External Hires, Female External Hires, Headcount, and Women in Workforce include
Qualtrics employees. All other metrics are reported excluding Qualtrics employees.

32 Thereof acquisitions: 410
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Full-time Average number Average personnel | | Restructuring-
equivalents of employees expense/employee | | related
FTE year end FTE year end in Euro terminations
in percent

111,961

A +4,546 2021: 107,415

111,015

A +6,651 2021: 104,364

155,000

2 +6,000 2021: 149,000

539

A +4,111 2021: 128

The personnel expense for each employee is defined as the overall personnel expense divided by the
average number of employees.

For 2023, we plan a targeted restructuring program in close alignment with social partners, which is
expected to affect about 2.5% of SAP's global workforce. For further information see the Financial
Targets and Prospects section.

For more information about employee compensation and a breakdown of the components of
personnel expense, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (B.1) and

Note (B.2).

Q Audit Scope

Except for the quantitative indicators Headcount, Personnel Expense, and Employee Engagement
Index the content of the £mployees section was not subject to the statutory audit of our combined
group management report. However, our external auditor performed an independent limited
assurance engagement for the content of this section. Under this engagement, the quantitative
indicators Business Health Culture Index, Employee Engagement Index, Employee Retention and
Women in Management were audited at a reasonable assurance level.
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Energy and Emissions

Vision and Strategy

For over a decade now, climate action has been at the top of SAP’s corporate sustainability agenda in
light of the increasing impacts of climate change and escalating global challenges such as ecosystem
decay and biodiversity loss. As outlined in the Sustainability Management® section, we aim to take
climate action through our dual approach as enabler and exemplar to help pave the way toward a
low-carbon future for our customers, partners, and SAP.

Due Diligence

Governance

As outlined in the Sustainability Management section, the Executive Board sponsorship for
sustainability and climate action moved from SAP’s CFO to the CEO in June 2022. A newly formed
operating segment (‘sustainability’) is now responsible for driving SAP’s holistic, cross-company
sustainability agenda. The Office of the Chief Sustainability Officer (0CSO) is part of this new unit and
continues to shape, among others, SAP's response to climate change in close cooperation with other
departments. Among other things, this new unit is responsible for:

— Defining the Environmental Policy and determining a global environmental portfolio to help steer
SAP’s impact

— Setting reduction and impact targets and embedding sustainability-related initiatives across SAP
— Measuring and monitoring carbon emissions on a quarterly basis

— Assessing and managing climate-related risks through a quarterly risk review

— Managing nature-based investment decisions

— Rolling in business requirements to our development units to develop the right solutions

Sustainability is a company-wide effort and initiatives are also driven outside the new unit. For
example, the global procurement organization aims to ensure that SAP purchases energy-efficient,
sustainable products and services. The global real estate and facilities management team designs
and operates many SAP facilities based on robust environmental standards such as ISO 14001:2015
and the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) certification program. Our global
cloud services organization attends to the optimization of the energy consumption in our data centers,
while our SAP IT department encourages employees to use IT equipment and business software
responsibly. In addition, to be able to innovate and evolve sustainability further, we regularly engage
externally with various stakeholder groups such as non-governmental organizations (NGOSs), investors,
customers, and academia. For more information, see the Stakeholder Engagement®* section.

Guidelines and Policies

Our Global Environmental Policy®® provides the core framework for how we manage our
environmental impact — in our own operations and with our customers. Updated in May 2022 and
approved by the CFO, this policy guides our efforts to improve our ecological footprint, provide
environmental performance transparency, and demonstrate sustainable leadership through

33 Link leads to information that was not part of the statutory audit but included in the independent limited assurance engagement
performed by our external auditor.

3 Link leads to information that was not part of the statutory audit but included in the independent limited assurance engagement
performed by our external auditor.

3 Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.
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transformational strategies. In addition, it helps us comply with internationally recognized sustainability
standards as well as stakeholder expectations, primarily those of customers, investors, and
employees.

How We Measure and Manage Our Performance

Our Targets

Target Base Year Target Year Target Description and Details
Carbon 2017: 327 kilotons (kt) ~ 2023: 0 net o Net carbon emissions = Gross carbon emissions (Scope 1, 2, and selected Scope 3)¥’
neutrality in our net carbon carbon minus purchased renewable energy certificates (EACs), self-generated renewable energy,
own operations emissions® emissions and carbon offsets.
S e To track progress on our target, we derived annual targets for our internal operational

steering. Since the beginning of 2020, these annual targets have been integrated in the

Executive Board’s short-term performance-based compensation. *®

e Leading environmental target and key in reducing SAP’s own environmental footprint and

making a contribution toward limiting adverse consequences of climate change.
Science-Based 2016: 9,188 kt gross Long-term e Target includes Scope 1, 2, and all relevant Scope 3 value chain emissions such as our
Target based on carbon emissions target: products-in-use emissions at our customers.
the Science- Reduction by . . : o,

First approved by the SBTi in 2017; reassessed and confirmed by the SBTi in 2019.
Based Target 85% by 2050 ¢ PP Y Y

Initiative (SBTi) o Target reflects the level of decarbonization required to keep the global temperature

increase below 1.5 degrees Celsius compared to preindustrial temperature.
Near-term

target:
Reduction by
40% by 2025

e In January 2022, we committed to achieve net zero across our entire value chain by 2030
in alignment with the SBTi Net-Zero Standard, 20 years earlier than originally planned. For
this purpose, we started to re-evaluate the baseline, emissions scope, and methodology of
our current target with the aim to get a SBTi approved net-zero target.

Performance and Measures to Progress*®

Even though our total number of employees (full-time equivalents) increased 4.2%, our net carbon
emissions in 2022 dropped to 85 kilotons (kt), representing a year-over-year decrease of 22.7%
(2021: 110 kt). That remains 6% below the lower end of our carbon emissions target of 90 kt to 95 kt
which was updated in October 2022 to reflect the catch-up effects in business travel after the COVID-
19 pandemic began to subside (original target for 2022: 70 kt). To ensure we reach our carbon
neutrality commitment by 2023, SAP will continue and expand existing initiatives and programs to
drive efficiency and innovation, following our strategic approach to first avoid, secondly reduce, and
thirdly — if no other option is feasible — compensate our residual emissions by investing in high-quality
offset projects certified by international standards.

Total Net Carbon Emissions
Kilotons CO,e

310 300
J -39 135
5% 3% 110
- 85
-55% -19%
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

3% We report all our carbon emissions in CO; equivalents (COze).

57 To see which emission categories are considered in our carbon neutral target, see section Non-Financial Information: Environmental
Performance (link leads to information that was not part of the statutory audit but included in the independent limited assurance
engagement performed by our external auditor).

3 Link leads to information that was part of the compensation report audit of our external auditor (reasonable assurance level).

3 In Finance and ESG Data, we provide more details about our environmental data (link leads to information that was neither part of the
statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by our external auditor).
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As COVID-19 restrictions receded in 2022, we experienced an increase in total energy consumption.“°
This is a result of catch-up effects in business travel and a return to the offices. In addition, in 2022, we
introduced two new KPIs: First, with “e-mobility” we recognize the transformation of SAP’s car fleet to
emission-free company cars; and second, we began to determine the electricity consumption of our
employees working from home, to reflect the changed working habits due to the COVID-19 pandemic
and SAP’s pledge to flexible, trust-based working models. We also continued to compensate caused
emissions by purchasing high-quality Energy Attribute Certificates (EACs). Looking at the data center
electricity*!, we see a decrease attributable to a shift toward hyperscale services and the implemented
energy efficiency measures now taking effect.

Total Energy Consumption
(Scope 1 and Scope 2, excluding hyperscale data centers)

Gigawatt hours (GWh)

1.055 1.110
871 845 906
5%
@
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Total Data Center Electricity
(Scope 2, excluding hyperscale data centers)
Gigawatt hours (GWh)
SAP-own m Co-Locations
318 333 353 332 206
156 177
138 175 168
180 177 176 157 138
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Our focus on climate action has contributed to a cumulative cost avoidance of €1,018 million in the
past three years. We achieved 28% of this cost avoidance in 2022.42 SAP’s environmental
performance has been recognized by sustainability ratings and ranking organizations such as CDP,
where we received an A- rating in the climate change assessment released in December 2022,
reflecting continuous leadership in this area according to CDP’s methodology.*?

“0 Due to the (still) very limited control over the energy / electricity procurement of our value chain partners, we excluded the electricity
consumption of hyperscale services (upstream value chain, Scope 3) in the graphs “Total Energy Consumption” and “Total Data Center
Electricity” for all five years shown. In 2022, hyperscaler electricity was about the same level as the electricity consumption of our co-
locations. For more information, see section Non-Financial Notes: Environmental Performance (link leads to information that was not part
of the statutory audit but included in the independent limited assurance engagement performed by our external auditor).

“1In 2022, we moved electricity consumption of co-location data centers from Scope 3 to Scope 2 due to the underlying leasing model and
SAP’s operational control over the IT infrastructure. In addition, we excluded the electricity consumption of hyperscale services as
explained in the footnote above. These changes are applied to all five years shown in the graphs “Total Energy Consumption” and “Total
Data Center Electricity”.

“2 Cost avoidance is a financial key figure that indicates the financial benefits of SAP’s engagement in sustainability measures compared to
a business-as-usual scenario where no sustainability measures have been implemented (base year: 2016).

“3 Further recognitions are listed on SAP’s Web site (link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the
independent limited assurance engagement performed by our external auditor).
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Key Initiatives to Avoid and Reduce Emissions

Implemented Measures and Initiatives

SAP’s sustainability software
portfolio

Carbon-neutral cloud solutions
and product-in-use emissions

1ISO 14001

1SO 50001

Running SAP facilities with
100% renewable electricity

Business flights

Global car fleet: Transition to
electric or zero-emission
vehicles

SAP delivers sustainability management solutions for sustainability reporting, climate action, circular economy, and social
responsibility to enable our customers to run sustainable and resilient operations as described in the Product Strategy
section.* As co-innovation customer for the Sustainability Control Tower, the Corporate Sustainability team provides input
and feedback to the development teams with the aim of leveraging a solution that enables companies to record, report, and
act on their sustainability goals.

The vast majority of our overall carbon emissions result from the use of our software. To address this, we aim to help our
customers, hardware providers, and others to run more energy-efficient operations.

* By powering all data centers with 100% renewable electricity,*® we offer our customers carbon-neutral cloud software
solutions and help them reduce their overall carbon emissions (upstream Scope 3).

e In 2021, we started to develop a carbon footprint sizing approach with the aim of enabling our customers to gain
transparency on the carbon impact of their SAP applications that run in SAP’s internal and external data centers,
answering the question of how much our customers can reduce their environmental footprint by running SAP solutions on
SAP’s cloud infrastructure compared to a cloud that is not powered by 100% renewable electricity.

We collaborate with customers to optimize their on-premise landscapes so that they consume less energy (for example,
we decommission legacy systems, archive unused data, consolidate business applications, and virtualize their system
landscapes).

e SAP’s environmental management system (EMS) is implemented in over 50 sites in 29 countries worldwide and certified
by the renowned ISO 14001:2015 standard. In 2022, we successfully maintained this certification.

Target: Increase EMS scope to 100% of SAP’s major company-owned sites by 2025 (2022: 85%).

SAP’s headquarters in Germany operates an ISO 50001:2018-certified energy management system.

100% of SAP’s own major data centers are 1ISO 50001-certified (Walldorf, St. Leon-Rot, Newtown Square, Colorado
Springs).

Efficient power usage effectiveness (PUE)* at SAP headquarters in Germany and North America: 1.38

e At SAP’s headquarters, we are in the process of implementing an on-site Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) solar project
with the aim of increasing the share of renewable electricity produced on-site and achieving price stability.

Since 2014, SAP has been running all its offices and data centers*” with 100% renewable electricity in alignment with our

commitment towards the RE100 initiative. For this, we use two strategic levers:

o Investing in high-quality, EKOenergy-certified EACs to foster renewable energy generation

e Producing renewable electricity in selective SAP locations worldwide through solar panels (such as Palo Alto, CA, in the
United States, and Bangalore, India).

This approach allows us to compensate our entire electricity-consumption-related emissions (2022: 257 kt).

« Avoidance of business flights by investing in virtual collaboration and communication technologies.

e Since 2016, we charge an internal carbon price for business flights in the majority of the countries we travel from, to
counterbalance the carbon emissions caused by investing in high-quality carbon offset projects. By annually increasing
the carbon price per flight ticket that is charged to the organizational cost center, we seek to incentivize the
organizational units and employees to fly less or to choose an alternative, sustainable mode of travel.

From 2025 onwards, all new vehicles ordered as company cars are planned to be emission-free.® SAP also promotes
various incentives to accelerate this change, such as:

o We power all SAP-owned charging stations at SAP locations with 100% renewable electricity.

¢ In Germany and the Netherlands, we offer employees a subsidy to install a charging point at home, and reimburse the
employees for the electricity consumed. We plan to offer this subsidy to employees in Italy, Portugal, Spain, and
Switzerland soon as well.

¢ In Germany, we offer employees a subsidy to offset the higher costs of a full electric vehicle.

e We continually expand SAP’s global charging infrastructure (2022: 1,125 charging stations; 2021: around 970 charging
stations).

44 For more insight into our sustainability software portfolio, see SAP’s Web site (link leads to information that was neither part of the
statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by our external auditor).

% We achieve this by leveraging 1) investments in high-quality, EKOenergy-certified EACs and 2) on-site produced renewables. The term
“data center” refers to both SAP-owned and external data centers (co-location data centers and hyperscalers).

% The PUE is a ratio that describes the efficiency of a data center, with 1.0 being the ideal.
“7 The term “data center” refers to both SAP-owned and external data centers (co-location data centers and hyperscalers).

“8 Emission-free refers to vehicles that do not emit exhaust gas or other pollutants from the onboard source of power, leading to an
outphasing of plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEV) and vehicles with internal combustion engines (ICEV) as corporate cars.
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Alternative commuting To generate a shift in alternative commuting habits and foster inter-/multimodal mobility, we continue to offer various

programs, such as:

e Company bike programs: Employees can lease bicycles with the option of purchasing them after contract end. Such
programs have already been established in Germany, Belgium, and Luxembourg.

o After successful pilot phases, we will roll out the flexible mobility budget in spring 2023 as a regular mobility alternative in
Germany. Participants receive a monthly fixed mobility budget to use any mode of transport to commute to work or in
their leisure time (bike, e-scooter, rental car, train, bus, and so on).

Fostering biodiversity and Since 2012, SAP has helped to plant over 14.1 million trees to restore ecosystems and foster sustainable development.

nature-based solutions to SAP will continue to finance nature-based solutions and is committed to plant 21 million trees by the end of 2025.

climate change Restored and protected in the right places, trees and forests are invaluable in maintaining planetary stability, slowing
climate change, safeguarding biodiversity, and providing critical ecosystem services to people around the world.

SAP defined important quality criteria for small and large planting projects which SAP expects its implementation
partners to meet. These include specific requirements to create positive impact on climate, community, and biodiversity
and to provide transparency.

Since 2021, SAP has been part of the 1t.org Corporate Alliance, which mobilizes business leaders to responsibly
conserve, restore, and grow trees worldwide while pursuing the 1.5 degrees Celsius science-based target.

Using Carbon Offsets To Compensate for Our Residual Emissions

To offset a share of our Scope 1 and Scope 3 emissions that cannot yet be avoided, we invest* in
different offset schemes with a strategic focus on nature-based solutions to compensate® for these
emissions (2022: 97 kt):

Initiative Committed Investments Description and Details

Livelihoods Carbon Funds (LCF) Between the years 2013 and e The long-term investments finance much-needed climate action and sustainable
2021, SAP committed to invest development in developing countries through ecosystem restoration, agroforestry,
up until 2045 approx. biodiversity preservation, and clean energy projects.

€10 million (accumulated) in

LCF1-3 (total investment done

by year end 2022: approx.

38%) ¢ In 2022, the carbon credits we received for our financial contribution to the LCF
helped us offset 17 kt of our emissions, the majority of which was used to compensate
for our business flights.

e LCF generates high-quality carbon offsets certified by internationally recognized
standards (such as the Gold Standard).

LEAF (Lowering Emissions by 2021: SAP plans to invest e A voluntary coalition including corporations and governments seeking to halt
Accelerating Forest finance) US$2 million (€1.86 million)>* deforestation by financing large-scale tropical forest protection.
Coalition

e Under LEAF, jurisdictions commit to preserving their tropical forests. LEAF coalition
members commit to purchasing emission reduction credits from reforestation and
avoided deforestation, which are validated and verified against the ART’s TREES
standard.

Related Risks for SAP

In 2022, we performed a climate risk and vulnerability assessment to identify physical climate risks
(acute and chronic) that are material to the SAP-relevant activity ‘data processing and hosting, as
follows:

— Risk screening for all our own and co-location data centers based on a multitude of climate
hazards (acute and chronic), using global climate models (representative concentration paths
(RCPs) 2.6, 4.5, and 8.5).

— Deep-dive exposure analysis for a selected range of climate hazards based on 2°C and 4°C
scenarios: heatwaves and extreme precipitation (time horizon: 2021-2050)> as well as river

% To finance our investments in high-quality carbon offset projects (for example, certified by the Gold Standard) and EACs, we leverage
the collected internal air travel fees charged on business flights.

% Jnvestments in sustainable projects and the corresponding carbon offsets represent a unit of reduced, avoided, or removed greenhouse
gas emissions.

51 Exchange rate date: December 31, 2022.

52 Examples of chronic hazards: changing temperature, heat stress, changing wind patterns, rise in sea level, and soil erosion. Examples of
acute hazards: wildfires, water stress, droughts, floods, avalanches, and landslides.

53 Usage of Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) RCP 2.6 and RCP 8.5.
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flooding and water stress (time horizon: 2030 and 2050).5* The hazards were selected based on
the risk screening outcome and impact on data centers combined with expert discussions.

— Vulnerability analysis of our own data centers with high exposures helped us identify the impact
and risk of a hazard by considering current and past hazard experiences and implemented
mitigation actions.

‘Climate change and air quality’ is a risk factor that is assessed as part of SAP’s Corporate Financial
Risk Management System. No financial material risks were identified through our risk framework as
described in the Risk Management and Risks section.

Q Audit Scope

Except for the quantitative indicator Net Carbon Emissions the content of the £nergy and Emissions
section was not subject to the statutory audit of our combined group management report. However,
our external auditor performed an independent limited assurance engagement for the content of this
section. Under this engagement, the quantitative indicators Carbon Emissions (Scope 1 and 2 as well
as selected Scope 3 emissions including business flights and employee commuting), Renewable
Electricity, and Total Energy Consumed were audited at a reasonable assurance level.

54 Usage of IPCC RCP 4.5 and RCP 8.5.
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Corporate Governance
Fundamentals

Corporate Governance Statement

The German Commercial Code, section 315d in connection with section 289f, requires that, as a listed
company, SAP SE publish a corporate governance statement either as part of our management report
or on our Web site. The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of SAP SE issued the Corporate
Governance Statement on February 21, 2023, and published it on our Web site at
WWW.Ssap.comy/corporate-en/investors/governance.

Changes in Management

On March 18, 2022, the Supervisory Board of SAP SE mutually agreed with Luka Mucic, Chief
Financial Officer and member of the Executive Board, that he will depart the Company on
March 31, 2023.

On August 31, 2022, SAP announced that the Supervisory Board had appointed Dominik Asam as
Chief Financial Officer and member of the Executive Board. He will start in this capacity on
March 7, 2023.

Information Concerning Takeovers

Information required under the German Commercial Code, sections 289a (1) and 315a (1), with an
explanatory report:

Composition of share capital: For information about the composition of SAP SE's share capital as
at December 31, 2022, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (E.2). Each
share entitles the bearer to one vote. American depositary receipts (ADRs) representing our shares are
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) in the United States. ADRs are certificates
representing non-U.S. shares and are traded on U.S. stock exchanges instead of the underlying
shares. One SAP ADR corresponds to one SAP share.

Restrictions applying to share voting rights or transfers: SAP shares are not subject to transfer
restrictions. SAP held 61,386,685 treasury shares as at December 31, 2022 (see the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (E.2)). Treasury shares do not carry voting rights or dividend
rights or other rights. We are not aware of any other restrictions applying to share voting rights or to
share transfers.

Shareholdings that exceed 10% of the voting rights: \We are not aware of any direct or indirect
SAP SE shareholdings that exceed 10% of the voting rights.

Shares with special rights conferring powers of control: No SAP shareholder has special rights
conferring powers of control.

Type of control over voting rights applying to employee shareholders who do not directly
exercise their control rights: As with other shareholders, employee holders of SAP shares exercise
their control rights in accordance with the law and the Articles of Incorporation. In votes on the formal
approval of their acts at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, employee representatives on
the Supervisory Board, as all other members of the Supervisory Board, are prohibited from exercising
the voting rights associated with their shares.

Requirements concerning appointments and dismissals of members of the Executive Board
and amendments to the Articles of Incorporation: Conditions for the appointment and dismissal

119/335


http://www.sap.com/corporate-en/investors/governance

SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

of members of the Executive Board and amendments to the Articles of Incorporation reflect the
relevant provisions of applicable European and German law, including Council Regulation (EC)

No. 2157/2001 on the Statute for a European Company (“SE Regulation”) and the German Stock
Corporation Act. Under the Atrticles of Incorporation, the Executive Board consists of at least two
members, who are appointed for a period of not more than five years by the Supervisory Board in
accordance with the SE Regulation, articles 39 and 46. The number of members of the Executive
Board is decided by the Supervisory Board. Executive Board members may be reappointed for, or
their term of office extended by, a maximum of five years. A simple majority of the Supervisory Board
members is required for Executive Board appointments. In the event of a tie, the chairperson of the
Supervisory Board has the deciding vote. The Supervisory Board can appoint a chairperson of the
Executive Board and one or more deputy chairpersons from among the members of the Executive
Board. The Supervisory Board can revoke appointments to the Executive Board in accordance with
the SE Regulation, article 9, and the German Stock Corporation Act, section 84, if compelling reasons
exist, such as gross negligence on the part of the Executive Board member. If the Executive Board is
short of a required member, one may be appointed in urgent cases by a court in accordance with the
SE Regulation, article 9, and the German Stock Corporation Act, section 85. In accordance with the
SE Regulation, article 59, and the German Stock Corporation Act, section 179, an amendment of the
Articles of Incorporation requires a resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders with a majority
of at least three-quarters of the valid votes cast. For any amendments of the Articles of Incorporation
that require a simple majority for stock corporations established under German law, however, the
simple majority of the valid votes cast is sufficient if at least half of the subscribed capital is
represented or, in the absence of such quorum, the majority prescribed by law (that is, two-thirds of
the votes cast, pursuant to article 59 of the SE Regulation) is sufficient. Section 11 (2) of the Articles of
Incorporation authorizes the Supervisory Board to amend the Atrticles of Incorporation where such
amendments only concern the wording.

Power to issue and repurchase shares: The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on

May 12, 2021, granted powers to the Executive Board, subject to the consent of the Supervisory
Board, to issue convertible and/or warrant-linked bonds, profit-sharing rights and/or income bonds (or
combinations of these instruments), and to grant conversion or option rights in respect of SAP SE
shares representing a total attributable portion of the share capital of not more than €100 million
secured by a corresponding amount of contingent capital. These powers will expire on May 11, 2026.
The Executive Board is also authorized until May 19, 2025, to increase the share capital by not more
than €250 million by issuing new shares against contributions in cash and to increase the share
capital by not more than €250 million by issuing new shares against contributions in cash or in kind.
For more information about the different tranches of authorized capital and the aforementioned
contingent capital, see the Articles of Incorporation, section 4.

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on May 17, 2018, granted a power to the Executive
Board in accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act, section 71 (1)(8), to buy back for
treasury on or before May 16, 2023, SAP SE shares attributable in total to not more than €120 million
of the share capital. This power is subject to the proviso that the shares repurchased, together with
any shares that were previously acquired and are still held by SAP in treasury and any other shares
controlled by SAP, must not in total exceed 10% of SAP’s share capital. Executive Board powers, such
as those described to issue and repurchase stock and to grant rights of conversion and subscription to
shares of SAP, are widely followed common practice among German companies such as SAP. These
powers give the Executive Board the flexibility it needs, in particular, the option to use SAP shares as
consideration in equity investments, raise funds on the financial markets at short notice on favorable
terms, or return value to shareholders during the course of the year.

Material agreements with change-of control provisions: SAP SE has concluded the following
material agreements with provisions that take effect in the event of a change of control, whether
following a takeover bid or otherwise:

The terms of SAP’s syndicated €2.5 billion revolving credit facility include a change-of-control clause.
For more information about this syndicated credit facility, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
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Statements, Note (F.1). This clause obliges SAP SE to notify the banks in case of a change of control.
If, on receiving the notification, banks that represent at least two-thirds of the credit volume so require,
the banks have the right to cancel the credit facility and demand complete repayment of the
outstanding debt. If no continuation agreement is reached, the credit facility would end and the
obligation to repay would become effective at an ascertainable time.

SAP had bonds totaling €8.7 billion and US$0.3 billion outstanding as at December 31, 2022. For
more information about SAP’s bonds, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
Note (E.3). Under the terms agreed with the buyers, we are required to notify the buyers, without
delay, of any change of control. If there is a change of control and SAP is consequently assigned a
lower credit rating within a defined period, buyers are entitled to demand repayment.

Under the terms of our U.S. private placements totaling approximately US$0.42 billion as at
December 31, 2022, we are required to offer lenders repayment of outstanding debt if there is a
change of control and SAP is consequently assigned a lower credit rating within a defined period. For
more information about these private placements, see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Note (E.3). Lenders would have up to 30 days to accept the offer.

Furthermore, in March 2021, SAP took out two bilateral bank loans amounting to €0.95 billion and
€0.5 billion, both of which were fully outstanding as at December 31, 2022. Both loan agreements
contain a change-of-control clause which obliges SAP SE to notify the bank in case of a change of
control. On receiving the notification, the bank has the right to cancel the loan agreement and
demand complete repayment of the outstanding debt. If no continuation agreement is reached, the
loan agreement would end and the obligation to repay would become effective at an ascertainable
time.

We have entered into relationships with other companies to jointly develop and market new software
products and cloud solutions. These relationships are governed by development and marketing
agreements with the respective companies. Some of the agreements include provisions that, in the
event of a change of control over one of the parties, give the other party a right to consent to the
assignment of the agreement or to terminate it.

Change-of-control provisions in Executive Board compensation agreements: Agreements have
been concluded with the members of the Executive Board of SAP SE concerning compensation in the
event of a change of control. These agreements, which are customary internationally, are described in
the Compensation Report. We have no analogous compensation agreements with our other
employees.
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Business Conduct

Vision and Strategy

In an increasingly complex business environment, making the right decisions and abiding by ethical
choices has never been more important. As a company operating in numerous countries across the
globe, SAP is required to adhere to strict international legislation that defines acceptable business
conduct and practices.

At SAP, we also expect our business practices to not only meet international rules and legal
requirements, but to adhere to our internal high standards of ethics and integrity. We understand that
our customers expect this as well. SAP’s reputation for doing business the right way is one of our most
important assets. By striving to make ethical choices and acting with integrity, we aim to continue to
grow SAP in a way that meets both our own and our customers’ high ethical expectations.

Due Diligence

Governance

The Office of Ethics and Compliance (OEC) contributes to SAP’s success by providing trusted
advice to SAP managers, leaders, and employees across the entire business. The OEC strives to
advance SAP’s business goals by promoting a strong culture of integrity and helping SAP to “Win the
Right Way.”

In 2022, our aim to maintain a robust compliance program, based on our corporate values and
voluntary commitments, as well as international standards, continued. The OEC team grew for the fifth
consecutive year, from 142 employees in 2021 to 154 employees in 2022. The group chief compliance
officer (GCCO) continues to report directly to the group CEO.

At SAP, ethical behavior is an integral part of our cultural values that can influence our daily decision-
making at every level of the business and in every market. To help nurture this environment, the OEC'’s
various teams continually address compliance challenges and improve policies, guidelines, systems,
and measures related to their implementation.

The OEC has field compliance officers across the globe, in both high- and low-risk jurisdictions. Field
compliance officers are often the first point of contact for the business when compliance matters
arise. In those high-risk countries in which the OEC is not physically represented and where there
might be local language needs, the OEC operates a network of compliance stewards drawn largely
from either our legal, finance, or human resources (HR) departments. Compliance stewards support
the OEC’s field compliance officers by offering advice on specific and straightforward compliance
questions; they work alongside our global network of compliance ambassadors (drawn from all areas
of the Company) to amplify compliance messages and provide a further link for local employees to
the relevant field compliance officer.

Compliance matters are regularly discussed with Executive and Supervisory Board members at
quarterly Audit and Compliance Committee meetings as well as during regular touchpoints with
Executive Board and Supervisory Board members. Compliance matters are also discussed by the
GCCO in quarterly Global Compliance Governance Committee meetings. Participants at these
meetings include members of Global Finance, Customer Success, Global Communications, Global
Security, and Global Risks & Assurance Services (GR&AS).

Where appropriate, and in response to identified compliance concerns, the OEC engages external
counsel and forensic consulting resources to perform corruption risk assessments of high-risk market
units or other related supporting tasks. This may include, for example, device collections or
comprehensive root cause analyses for identified risks.
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Outside SAP, the OEC regularly exchanges ideas and best practices for compliance processes with
relevant peers in the software industry and beyond. In Germany, the OEC participates in the annual
DAX Chief Compliance Officer Round Table. SAP is also a Corporate Member of the Association of
Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE), and the GCCO is also a member of the European Chief
Compliance Officers Forum (ECCIOF) and the UN Global Compact's Think Lab focused on
transformational governance.

Guidelines and Policies

In 2022, a revised and updated version of the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (CoEBCP® was
rolled out throughout the Company and made available outside of SAP. It replaced multiple existing
local Codes of Business Conduct and provides, in a single document, the primary ethical and legal
framework within which SAP conducts business and remains on course for success. The revised
CoEBC is available in 22 languages.

SAP also expects all partners and suppliers to commit to meeting our high standards of integrity and
sustainability. For this reason, we have the SAP Partner Code of Conduct and the SAP Supplier Code
of Conduct in place so that partners and suppliers understand what is expected of them.

How We Measure and Manage Our Performance

Enforcing Policies and Guidelines

All employees are bound by the CoEBC; they are required to acknowledge its contents and confirm
their commitment to it on an annual basis. In 2022, we continued to monitor employee certification of
the CoEBC for employees worldwide, recording a 99.9% certification rate for permanent SAP
employees (excluding those from acquired companies).

Communication

The OEC'’s dedicated communications team consistently distributes integrity-related communications,
at all levels of the Company — including to senior leaders, managers, and employees, as well as topic-
related content for SAP partners. Executive Board members and senior leaders regularly host all-
hands meetings as well as leadership team meetings and smaller gatherings, which include integrity-
focused topics, demonstrating their dedication to ethical business.

Quarterly OEC newsletters provide all SAP employees with information on a range of compliance-
related topics. Additionally, a quarterly newsletter with a focus on leadership and management topics
is sent specifically to executive and senior management.

Employees can use the SAP One employee portal at any time to access all global policies, guidelines,
and additional information. The SAP Compliance mobile app>® also provides convenient, ongoing
access to compliance-related information. Externally, our Web site sap.com features information and
guidance for our external stakeholders.

All Board areas have re-committed their support for OEC’'s Compliance Ambassador Program and
have nominated employees to participate in it. In 2022, a fifth cohort was introduced, bringing the
number of participants from over 500 in 2021 to over 1,100 in 2022. The program is designed to give
employees a further point of contact in the business when compliance matters arise. Ambassadors
participate in an extensive curriculum of monthly on-boarding sessions over an 18-month period. They
are expected to cascade and transfer information on the importance of compliance and ethics
throughout their teams and lines of business.

55 Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.

% The SAP Compliance Mobile App is only available on Company-issued Apple devices; Apple devices represent 90% of devices issued.
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Training Offerings

Our training programs cover topics such as anticorruption and antibribery, conflicts of interest,
governance for customer commitments, working with public sector customers, and compliant partner
engagement.

In addition to four mandatory online training courses for all SAP employees,* a further two mandatory
online training courses were launched in 2022 for all employees in the Customer Success Board area.
The completion rate for these exceeded 99.9%. A new Ethical Leadership workshop was also
delivered live to all People Managers across the Company. The global completion rate for this
workshop was 99%.

Despite continuing restrictions caused as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, field compliance officers
continued to hold training sessions — largely virtually — for employees across the organization, from
customer-facing staff to individuals in supporting roles, such as corporate affairs and marketing.

Compliance Processes

The OEC also evaluates SAP’s third-party service providers to assess whether SAP’'s compliance
standards are met. New suppliers and third parties seeking a partnership with SAP are scrutinized
according to a risk-based compliance due diligence process, which is repeated every two to five years
thereafter. Supplier and partner relationships are formally defined in contracts that outline their
obligation to abide by SAP’s compliance requirements. In almost all cases, these include a “right to
audit” clause. The OEC also has a team dedicated to conducting compliance audits of partners and
suppliers to assess adherence to SAP’s requirements and to identify and address compliance risks.

The OEC’'s Compliance Monitoring & Analysis (CMA) team monitors the effectiveness of SAP's
compliance processes and controls through regular testing of high-risk transactions, identified using a
data analytics tool developed with PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH (PwC) and through manual
sampling. The CMA team also analyzes findings from investigations and partner audit reports to
identify potential enterprise-wide process deficiencies and patterns of misconduct that indicate a
compliance risk. The team then conducts root cause analyses on the highest-risk topics and
recommends remediation actions to mitigate the risks.

Speak Out at SAP

Speak Out at SAP is SAP’s independently managed whistleblower reporting tool, through which any
matters or concerns can be reported easily, and, if desired, anonymously. The tool is available

24 hours a day, seven days a week, both internally to SAP employees and externally to concerned
parties, including customers, suppliers, and partners.

Reports may be submitted either directly by the reporter through the Internet-based portal, or by
phone, with local language support across the globe in order to maximize accessibility for reporters. In
all cases, SAP continues to maintain a strict non-retaliation policy.

Compared with the previous whistleblower reporting tool, we observed a substantial increase in the
number of concerns reported through Speak Out at SAP since the tool's launch in 2021. Within this
increase, a number of the concerns raised came from external parties, such as partners, customers,
and suppliers.

Beyond Speak Out at SAP, we provide further reporting channels, including an internal ticketing
system, a postal address for written submissions, as well as local contact persons worldwide.
Investigating Misconduct

The OEC's investigations team is comprised of dedicated investigators who probe allegations of
misconduct within the OEC's area of responsibility. Where appropriate, the OEC engages the
assistance of an external law firm when examining conduct that may violate SAP’s policies and

57Excludes employees on parental leave, long-term sick leave, sabbaticals, and on early retirement. Training last assigned in 2021 with
biennial frequency.
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procedures or applicable laws. When misconduct is substantiated, SAP takes proportionate
disciplinary action.

For more information about the material allegations currently being investigated by the OEC, see the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Note (G.3).

Related Risks for SAP

The actions and processes to address risks in business conduct are described above. No material
risks were identified regarding the non-financial risk assessment. For financial risks, see also Ethical
Behaviorin the Risk Management and Risks section.

Q Audit Scope

The content of the Business Conduct section was not subject to the statutory audit of the combined
group management report. However, our external auditor performed an independent limited
assurance engagement for the content of this section.
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Human Rights

Vision and Strategy

SAP is committed to respecting and promoting human rights across our operations, extended supply
chain, and product lifecycle, and we are guided by the United Nations (UN) Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights in doing so. We also expect our business partners to respect human
rights and avoid complicity in any abuse.

Due Diligence

Governance

Our cross-company agenda on human rights is driven by SAP’s Human Rights Office that is part of the
chief sustainability officer’s organization. At least once a year, the Human Rights Office reports to the
Executive Board sponsor for human rights; this role was held by the CFO until mid-2022, then by the
CEO who now has overall responsibility for sustainability topics. Recent reports focused on the status
of compliance with the German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act (Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz,
LkSG).

The Human Rights Office works with executives and employees from various Executive Board areas
who embed human rights due diligence in their areas of responsibility, for example, enterprise risk
management, people management, or procurement. We regularly consult experts from academia, civil
society, and industry in our external Sustainability Panel on the ways SAP can generate the greatest
positive social impact.

Grounded in our commitment to respecting human rights, the Artificial Intelligence (Al) Ethics
Steering Committee guides our internal efforts to implement and enforce Al ethics in our operations,
solutions, and policies. It comprises SAP executives from relevant Executive Board areas with
supervision of topics relevant to guiding and implementing Al ethics. Made up of experts from
academia, industry, and public policy, our external Al Ethics Advisory Panel advises us on how to
further develop and operationalize SAP's Guiding Principles for Artificial Intelligence.

Policy Commitment

We support the International Bill of Human Rights; the Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises; and the International Labor
Organization Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work. The SAP Global Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct for Employees, and — in a more detailed way — the SAP Global
Human Rights Commitment Statement are our public commitment to respecting and promoting
human rights across our value chain. Approved by our Executive Board, the current version of the
Human Rights Commitment Statement is available on our public Web site at www.sap.com/human-
rights.5® We are working on an update to the Commitment Statement to better reflect recent legal
requirements and will publish a new version in 2023.

The Global Al Ethics Policy helps ensure that our Al systems are developed, deployed, and sold in
line with the ethical standards laid out in our guiding principles. This policy and guiding principles are
available at Attos.//www.sap.com/sustainability/our-approach/reporting-and-policies.html#reporting.>®

%8 Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.

% Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.
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How We Measure and Manage Our Performance

Identifying Salient Human Rights Issues

In 2022, we piloted new concepts for identifying human rights risks across our own operations and our
direct supply chain globally to be compliant with increasing legal requirements such as the German
Supply Chain Due Diligence Act (LkSG). We have also started to complement this exercise with an
analysis of salient issues related to our solutions and customers and with a concept to identify human
rights risks among indirect suppliers. Taking into consideration our business activities as described in
the Strategy and Business Model section, we assessed potential risks based on their severity (scale,
scope, remediability) and probability of occurrence as well as our ability to trigger change. While we
have not yet finalized our assessment of salient issues across our value chain, we have decided to
further explore some topics including non-discrimination or health and safety at our own operations.

Employees

Our employees® receive voluntary and mandatory training on human rights issues most relevant to
SAP. For example, they are trained on our policies on non-discrimination, health and safety
management, and data protection and privacy. In 2023, we plan to introduce new training modules for
all employees and for specific roles, for example to increase the awareness of our grievance
mechanism.

We consulted employee representatives in Germany and Europe to specifically understand their
concerns and interests related to the rights protected by the LkSG. Feedback concerned, for example,
the accessibility and awareness of the Speak Out at SAP tool as our channel to raise concerns related
to human or labor rights.

Suppliers and Partners

We expect suppliers and partners to respect human rights, and our codes of conduct require them to
uphold labor rights and provide a safe and healthy work environment for all employees. We also
expect our suppliers to promote these standards across their supply chain.

For more information, see the Sustainable Procurement subsection.

Product Development

We seek to respect human rights throughout the product lifecycle — from design through development
to use. Protection of personal information and accessibility are key areas of focus.

For more information on the protection of personal information, see the Security and Privacy section.

Accessibility refers to the possibility for everyone, including people who are differently-abled, to
access and use technology and information products. Making our software work for more people has
been and continues to be a priority.

Our innovative solutions help customers embed human rights standards into their own business. For
example, they can use the SAP Ariba Supplier Risk solution to gain the intelligence and
transparency to understand human rights risks within their supply chains.

Assessing Human Rights Measures

To assess our human rights measures, we consider legal requirements, performance ratings, audit
results, employee surveys, and other stakeholder feedback. For example, since 2012, we have
conducted regular internal audits to help us verify that subsidiaries adhere to human rights standards,
and check whether employees feel empowered to raise concerns. In 2022, we completed a labor
audit at SAP China, whereby we reviewed labor conditions, wages and hours, health and safety,
environmental management system, and business practices. We did not encounter any major issues

% Training was not available to employees of recently acquired Taulia.
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in these areas. We plan to adapt our global internal audit program based on recent legal
requirements.

For the first time in 2022, we also used impact measurement and valuation to assess our performance
on selected human rights. This way, we identified six employees at SAP Brazil whose compensation
had to be adjusted to meet our ambition of ensuring a decent living as measured through the Value
Balancing Alliance methodology.

For more information, see the Why Impact Measurement and Valuation Matters®* subsection.

Receiving Complaints or Concerns

In 2022, we strengthened our globally available Speak Out at SAP tool and process for human rights
related complaints. Through this tool, we encourage all employees and external groups, including
groups at heightened risk of becoming disadvantaged or marginalized (also called “vulnerable
groups”) such as temporary external staff, to report conduct that violates our policies. Employees can
also reach out to their managers, HR officers, or compliance officers, and to our Global Ombuds
Office which offers confidential, independent, neutral, and informal conflict clarification services and
mediation for all employees worldwide.

Related Risks for SAP

“Human rights and employee matters” is a risk factor that is assessed as part of SAP’s corporate risk
management system. No financial material risks were identified through our risk framework which is
detailed in the Risk Management and Risks section.

Q Audit Scope

The content of the Human Rights section was not subject to the statutory audit of the combined group
management report. However, our external auditor performed an independent limited assurance
engagement for the content of this section.

% Link leads to information that was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance engagement performed by
our external auditor.
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Risk Management and Risks

Our Risk Management

Internal Control and Risk Management Systems

As a global company, SAP is exposed to a broad range of risks across our business operations.
Consequently, our Executive Board has established comprehensive internal control and risk
management structures that enable us to identify and analyze risks early and take appropriate action.
Our internal control and risk management systems are designed to identify potential events that could
negatively impact the Company and to provide reasonable assurance regarding the operating
effectiveness of our internal controls over our financial reporting.

These systems comprise numerous control mechanisms and are an essential element of our
corporate decision-making process; they are therefore implemented across the entire Group as an
integral part of SAP’s business processes. We have adopted an integrated internal control and risk
management approach to help maintain appropriate and effective global risk management while also
enabling us to aggregate risks and report on them transparently.

Appropriateness and Effectiveness of SAP’s Entire Internal Control and Risk
Management System?®?

We have a governance model in place across the internal control and risk management systems, as
well as a central software solution to store, maintain, and report all risk-relevant information. In the
Business Conduct section of our combined management report, we describe in more detail the
governance structure as well as the measures and guidelines SAP has implemented to ensure
compliance not only with international rules and legal requirements but also with our internal
standards of ethics and integrity. Furthermore, SAP monitors risks relating to material sustainability
matters. Material non-financial topics are listed in the section Non-Financial Statement Including
Information on Sustainable Activities. The governance model, policies, and guidelines as well as the
control measures we have implemented relative to these topics are described in the respective
chapters in this combined management report. SAP constantly reviews and adjusts its entire internal
control and risk management system as well as the policies and guidelines we have implemented
regarding the material sustainability topics. We considered the results from external audits, such as
the audit of our internal control system for financial reporting and early risk detection system
conducted by our auditor KPMG, as well as internal sources, such as audit reports from our Global
Risk & Assurance Services (GR&AS) team, to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control and risk
management systems. If issues are identified, SAP takes remedial action. While the non-financial
internal control system has not yet reached the same maturity level as the financial internal control
system, no material indication has come to our attention that SAP’s entire internal control and risk
management system is not appropriate or effective.

Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Due to our public listings in both Germany and the United States, we are subject to both German and
U.S. regulatory requirements that relate to internal controls and risk management over financial
reporting, such as provisions in the German Stock Corporation Act, section 91 (2), the U.S. Sarbanes-
Oxley Act (SOX) of 2002, specifically sections 302 and 404, and the German Corporate Governance
Code. Hence, our Executive Board has established an early warning system (risk management
system) to enable compliance with applicable regulations.

%2 The appropriateness and effectiveness of SAP’s entire internal control and risk management system, except for the internal control
system for financial reporting and early risk detection system, was neither part of the statutory audit nor the independent limited assurance
engagement performed by our external auditor.
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Risk Management Policy and Framework

The risk management policy issued by our Executive Board governs how we manage risk in line with
the Company’s risk appetite and defines a methodology that is applied uniformly across all parts of
the Group.

Risk Management Pillars

Our risk management system is based on the framework published by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) entitled “Enterprise Risk Management —
Integrating with Strategy and Performance.” Updated in 2017, this framework is built on four pillars,
namely: a global risk management governance framework, a dedicated risk management policy, a
global risk management organization, and a standardized risk management methodology.

In accordance with the COSO framework, SAP’s enterprise risk management covers risks in the areas
of strategy, operations, finance, and compliance (the latter also covering ethical behavior, corporate
governance, and sustainability).

Our Global Risk Management Governance Framework

The risk management governance framework at SAP represents a comprehensive system of
approaches and processes to ensure control through a clearly structured risk management system
and a supporting risk culture. The risk culture is considered the basis of SAP’s risk management
system. Risk culture at SAP comprises a system of values, beliefs, knowledge, attitudes, and
understanding concerning risks and risk management as part of our corporate culture. To support and
continuously foster SAP’s risk culture, we conduct risk activities for the entire SAP organization such
as mandatory training in ethical behavior, code of conduct, and risk management.

Our Executive Board is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of the internal control system and
our risk management system. The effectiveness of both systems and their implementation in the
different Board areas is monitored by each Executive Board member. The Audit and Compliance
Committee of the Supervisory Board regularly monitors the effectiveness of SAP’s internal control and
risk management systems. Our GR&AS organization regularly provides a status update on the internal
control and the risk management systems to the Audit and Compliance Committee of the Supervisory
Board. Every year, SAP's external auditors assess whether the SAP Group early-warning system for
risk detection is adequate to identify risks that might endanger our ability to continue as a going
concern. Additional assurance is obtained through the external audit of the effectiveness of our
system of internal controls over financial reporting.

our Global Risk Management Policy

The risk management policy is reviewed annually and stipulates responsibilities for conducting risk
management activities and defines reporting and monitoring structures. Our global SAP risk
management policy clearly states that each employee is responsible for active engagement in the risk
management process as well as for the continuous identification of risks, based upon clear rules of
engagement in adherence to the policy. The risk management system primarily analyzes risks.
Opportunities are assessed or analyzed where it is deemed appropriate.

Our Global Risk Management Organization

Our global risk management organization is responsible for the implementation of a Group-wide
effective risk management system. Furthermore, GR&AS is responsible for the regular maintenance
and implementation of our risk management policy, as well as the standardized internal and external
risk reporting.

All GR&AS risk managers, working with assigned risk contacts in the relevant business units, identify
and assess risks associated with material business operations and monitor the implementation and
effectiveness of the measures chosen to mitigate risks.
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Further financial risk management activities are performed for example by our Global Treasury and
Global Tax departments. General legal risks are managed by the Global Legal department. Sanction
and embargo-related risks are managed by the Export Control department, harassment and other HR-
related issues by our Global Labor & Employee Relations Office, security-related risks by our SAP
Global Security Office, and IP risks by our Global IP Office. Non-financial risks are reported jointly by
GR&AS and SAP’s Sustainability organization. All risks are tracked, maintained, and reported within
SAP’s risk management system.

During the merger and acquisition and post-merger integration phase, newly acquired companies are
subject to risk management performed by our Corporate Development Mergers and Acquisitions
(M&A) function. Furthermore, for as long as the newly acquired companies are not integrated, existing
risk management structures are maintained or enhanced within the acquired companies for the
purposes of compliance with legal requirements.

SAP reviews the exposure of its business units to potential compliance risks on a regular basis.
Quantitative and qualitative internal data as well as external information, such as Transparency
International’'s Corruption Perceptions Index, are considered in our wider compliance risk analysis.
Based on this information, we perform a detailed assessment for all SAP-relevant high-risk countries
and derive local and global mitigations.

The GR&AS unit, led by the Chief Risk Officer (who also acts as Chief Audit Executive), combines
internal audit, SOX, internal controls, and global governance, risk, and compliance activities. The Chief
Risk Officer reports to our Group CFO and is responsible for SAP's internal control and risk
management programs. Additionally, the Office of Ethics & Compliance (OEC) continually addresses
compliance challenges and improves policies, guidelines, systems, and measures related to their
implementation. For more information about SAP’s governance structure in the area of compliance,
see section Business Conduct.

Internal Control and Risk Management System for Financial Reporting

The purpose of our system of internal control over financial reporting is to provide reasonable
assurance that our financial reporting is reliable and compliant with generally accepted accounting
principles. Because of the inherent limitations of internal controls over financial reporting, this system
might not prevent or bring to light all potential misstatements in our financial statements.

Our internal control system consists of the internal control and risk management system for financial
reporting (ICRMSFR), which also covers the broader business environment and is part of the overall
risk management system of SAP. Using the current COSO Internal Control — Integrated Framework of
2013, we have defined and implemented internal controls along the value chain on a process and
subprocess level to ensure that sound business objectives are set in line with the organization’s
strategic, operational, financial, and compliance goals.

SAP's ICRMSFR is based on our Group-wide risk management methodology. It includes
organizational, control, and monitoring structures designed to ensure that data and information
concerning our business is collected, compiled, and analyzed in accordance with applicable laws and
properly reflected in our IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our ICRMSFR also includes policies, procedures, and measures designed to ensure compliance of
SAP's financial reports with applicable laws and standards. We analyze new statutes, standards, and
other pronouncements concerning IFRS accounting and its impact on our financial statements and
the ICRMSFR. Failure to adhere to these would present a substantial risk to the compliance of our
financial reporting. In addition, the ICRMSFR has both preventive and detective controls, including, for
example, automated and non-automated reconciliations, segregated duties with two-person
responsibility, authorization concepts in our software systems, and corresponding monitoring
measures.

Our Corporate Financial Reporting (CFR) department codifies all accounting and reporting policies in
our Group accounting and global revenue recognition guidelines. These policies and the corporate

131/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

closing schedule, together with our process descriptions, define the closing process. Under this
closing process, we prepare, predominately through centralized or external services, the financial
statements of all SAP entities for consolidation by CFR. CFR and other corporate departments are
responsible for ensuring compliance with Group accounting policies and monitor the accounting work.
CFR reviews accounting standards and processes to ensure applicable updates are made to SAP’s
financial reporting.

We have outsourced some tasks, such as the valuation of projected benefit obligations and share-
based payouts, quarterly tax calculations for most entities, purchase price allocations in the context of
asset acquisitions and business combinations, and the local statutory financial statements for a few of
our subsidiaries. These outsourced tasks are subject to the same stringent requirements that are
mandated for all our internally generated financially relevant information.

Based on an analysis of the design and operating effectiveness of our respective internal controls over
financial reporting, a committee with leadership representation from Finance, Compliance, Legal, and
IT presents the results of the assessment of the ICRMSFR effectiveness with respect to our IFRS
consolidated financial statements as at December 31 each year to our Group CFO. The committee
meets regularly to set the annual scope for the test of effectiveness, to assess and evaluate any
weaknesses in the controls, and to determine measures to address them in good time and
adequately. The Audit and Compliance Committee of the Supervisory Board regularly scrutinizes the
resulting assessments of the effectiveness of the internal controls over financial reporting with respect
to the IFRS consolidated financial statements.

The assessment, conducted by SAP and external audit, of the effectiveness of the ICRMSFR related to
our IFRS consolidated financial statements concluded that, on December 31, 2022, the Group had an
effective internal control system over financial reporting in place.

Additionally, and in compliance with German commercial law requirements, SAP maintains an internal
control system beyond financial reporting. This is supported through automated controls (continuous
control monitoring) as part of our business processes.

Supporting Software Solution

We use our own risk management software, namely SAP governance, risk, and compliance (GRC)
solutions powered by SAP HANA, to support the governance process. GR&AS risk managers record
and track identified risks using our risk management software online and in real time to help create
transparency across all known risks that exist in the Group, as well as to facilitate risk management
and the associated risk reporting. These GRC solutions also support the risk-based approach of the
ICRMSFR. Our continuous control monitoring activities are performed utilizing our GRC software as
well. This information is available to managers through direct access to our SAP Fiori application for
enterprise risk reporting, and in regularly issued reports, and is consolidated and aggregated for the
quarterly risk reports to the Executive Board.
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The following sections outline our risk categories and risk factors that we have identified and
continuously track. To determine which risk factors pose the greatest threat to the viability of the

SAP Group, we classify them as high, medium, or low based on 1) the likelihood that a risk factor will
occur within the assessment horizon and 2) the impact the risk factor would likely have on SAP’s

business objectives were it to occur.

The scales for measuring these indicators are given in the following tables.

Probability/Likelihood  Description Impact Level Impact Definition Impact

of Occurrence

1% to 19% Remote Insignificant Negligible negative impact From €0 to
on business, financial €25 million
position, profit, and/or cash
flows

20% to 39% Unlikely Minor Limited negative impact on From
business, financial position, €25 million
profit, and/or cash flows to €50 million

40% to 59% Likely Moderate Some potential negative From
impact on business, €50 million
financial position, profit, to €100 million
and/or cash flows

60% to 79% Highly Likely Major Considerable negative From
impact on business, €100 million to
financial position, profit, €500 million
and/or cash flows

80% to 99% Near Certainty Business- Detrimental negative From

Critical impact on business, €500 million

financial position, profit,
and/or cash flows

The combination of the likelihood of a risk factor and its impact on SAP’s reputation, business,
financial position, profit, and/or cash flows leads to a subsequent classification as either “high,”

“medium,” or “low.”

Insignificant Minor Moderate Major Business-
(€0 to (€25 million to (€50 million to (€100 million to Critical
€25 million) €50 million) €100 million) €500 million) (from
€500 million)
80% to L M
99%
60% to L M
2 7%
E 40%to L L
o 59%
o
20% to L L
39%
1% to 19% L L L L M
Impact
L = Low Risk M = Medium Risk H = High Risk

To further streamline our integrated report, we disclose material and relevant risk factors and focus on
“major” and “business-critical’ risk factors as per our assessment, and we changed the format and
consolidated the content of the disclosed risk factors. Thus, the following risk factors are not included
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in the Integrated Report 2022 as they do not currently fall into either the “major” or “business-critical’
category: Corporate Governance; Environment and Sustainability; Sales and Revenue Conditions;
Liquidity; Use of Accounting Policies and Judgment; Currency, Interest Rate, and Share Price
Fluctuation; Insurance and Venture Capital; Unauthorized Disclosure of Information; Investor
Relations; Corporate Affairs; Marketing; Portfolio; SAP Strategy; Human Workforce; and COVID-19
Pandemic.

The following table provides an overview of major and business-critical risk categories (together with
the respective risk factors). Therein, risk factors are categorized with their net value (after the
implementation of mitigations).

Overview of Risk Factors (Aggregated Statement for 2022)

Probability Impact Risk Level

Economic, Political, Social, and Regulatory Risks

Global Economic and Political Environment Likely Major Medium

International Laws and Regulations Unlikely Business-Critical Medium

Legal and IP Likely Major Medium

Data Protection and Privacy Likely Major Medium
Corporate Governance and Compliance Risks

Ethical Behavior Likely Major Medium
Operational Business Risks

Sales and Services Unlikely Major Medium

Partner Ecosystem Unlikely Major Medium

Cloud Operations Unlikely Major Medium

Cybersecurity and Security Likely Business-Critical High

Technology and Products Likely Business-Critical High
Strategic Risks

Market Share and Profit Unlikely Business-Critical Medium

Mergers and Acquisitions Unlikely Major Medium

Innovation Unlikely Major Medium

Economic, Political, Social, and Regulatory Risks

Global Economic and Political Environment: Uncertainty in the global economy, financial
markets, and social and political instability caused by state-based conflicts, terrorist attacks,
civil unrest, war, or international hostilities could lead to disruptions in our business.

As a global company, we are influenced by multiple external factors that are difficult to predict, may
develop quickly, and are beyond our influence and control. These include, among others: crises
affecting credit or liquidity markets; regional or global recessions; sharp fluctuations in commodity
prices, currency exchange rates or interest rates; inflation or deflation; sovereign debt and bank debt
rating downgrades; restructurings or defaults, or adverse geopolitical events (such as Russia’s invasion
of Ukraine; rising military tensions around the world (such as the China-Taiwan tensions) and in
particular within Europe’s borders; and global policy including in the United States, the European
Union (EU), Russia, and China); or global pandemic diseases such as COVID-19.
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Any of these events could limit our ability to reach our targets, as they could have a material adverse
effect on our business operations, our business in general, our financial position, profit, and cash
flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: continue to shift to a higher share of more predictable revenue streams from
cloud subscriptions and software support revenue streams, providing increased stability against
financial volatility; and, supported by our global government affairs unit, continuously monitor and
evaluate global and political developments, to share insights and provide guidance to allow for
proactive preparation and timely mitigation.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be likely, and
classify this risk factor as medium.

International Laws and Regulations: Laws, regulatory requirements and standards in
Germany, the United States, and elsewhere continue to be very stringent. Our international
business activities and processes expose us to numerous and often conflicting laws and
regulations, policies, standards, or other requirements, and sometimes even conflicting
regulatory requirements.

The SAP Group has a global presence and operates in most countries of the world. As a European
company domiciled in Germany with securities listed in Germany and the United States, we are
subject to European, German, U.S., and other governance-related regulatory requirements of the
countries we operate in.

Our business is subject to numerous risks inherent to international business operations and
associated consequences, such as changes in tax laws, changes in external reporting standards, and
the interpretation of the complex tax rules in certain countries, including but not limited to conflict and
overlap among tax regimes as well as the introduction of new tax concepts that harm digitalized
business models; discriminatory, protectionist, or conflicting fiscal policies and tax laws; import and
export regulations and trade sanctions; counter or even conflicting sanctions; embargoes, including
but not limited to country-specific software certification requirements; and newly emerging and
potentially conflicting environmental, social, and governance (ESG) compliance and disclosure laws.

As we expand into new countries and markets or extend our business activities in these markets,
including emerging and high-risk markets, these risks could intensify. The application of the respective
local laws and regulations to our business is sometimes unclear, subject to change over time, and
often conflicting among jurisdictions. Additionally, these laws and government approaches to
enforcement continue to change and evolve, just as our products and services continually evolve.
Compliance with these varying laws and regulations could involve significant costs or require changes
in our products or business practices. Non-compliance could result in the imposition of penalties or
cessation of orders due to alleged non-compliant activity. Governmental authorities could use
considerable discretion in applying these statutes and any imposition of sanctions against us could be
material.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our operations globally or in one or more
countries or regions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position,
profit, and cash flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: monitor new and increased regulatory requirements; continuously invest in,
improve, and standardize our global processes, procedures, and solutions; proactively assess newly
emerging regulatory initiatives; consult external economic and tax advisors, law firms, and authorities
in the concerned countries; and take legal action when necessary.
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We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be business-critical. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be
unlikely, and classify this risk factor as medium.

Legal and IP: Claims and lawsuits against us, such as for IP infringements, or our inability to
obtain or maintain adequate licenses for third-party technology, or if we are unable to protect
or enforce our own intellectual property, may result in adverse outcomes.

We have in the past, and believe that we will continue to be subject to, claims and lawsuits, including
intellectual property infringement claims either as our solution portfolio grows; as we acquire
companies with increased use of third-party code including open source code; as we expand into new
industries with our offerings, resulting in greater overlap in the functional scope of offerings; and as
non-practicing entities that do not design, manufacture, or distribute products assert intellectual
property infringement claims.

Moreover, protecting and defending our intellectual property is crucial to our success. The outcome of
litigation and other claims or lawsuits is intrinsically uncertain.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others:
dependency in the aggregate on third-party technology, including cloud and Web services, that we
embed in our products or that we resell to our customers; integration of open source software
components from third parties into our software and the implications derived from it; inability to
prevent third parties from obtaining, using, or selling without authorization what we regard as our
proprietary technology and information; and the possibility that third parties might reverse-engineer or
otherwise obtain and use technology and information that we regard as proprietary. Moreover, the
laws and courts of certain countries might not offer effective means to enforce our legal or intellectual
property rights. Finally, SAP may not be able to collect all judgments awarded to it in legal
proceedings. The outcome of litigation and other claims or lawsuits is intrinsically uncertain.
Management's view of the litigation might also change in the future. Actual outcomes of litigation and
other claims or lawsuits could differ from the assessments made by management in prior periods,
which are the basis for our accounting for these litigations and claims under IFRS.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: have various internal programs, such as internal policies, processes, and
monitoring in place to assess and manage the risks associated with open source and third-party
intellectual property; endeavor to protect ourselves in the respective third-party software agreements
by obtaining certain rights in case such agreements are terminated; and are a party to certain patent
cross-license agreements with third parties.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be likely, and
classify this risk factor as medium.

Data Protection and Privacy: Non-compliance with increasingly complex and stringent,
sometimes even conflicting, applicable data protection and privacy laws, or failure to meet
the contractual requirements of SAP’s customers with respect to our products and services,
could lead to civil liabilities and fines, as well as loss of customers.

As a global software and service provider, SAP is required to comply with local laws wherever it does
business. One of the relevant European data protection laws is the General Data Protection
Regulation. International data transfers to third countries that do not provide for an adequate level of
data protection require additional safeguards, including transfer risk assessments, to justify a transfer
from the EU to a third country under the new EU standard contractual clauses.

Furthermore, evolving data protection and privacy laws, regulations, and other standards around the
world (such as the California Consumer Privacy Act, the Chinese Personal Information Protection Law
including data localization requirements, the EU Digital Services Act, and the EU’s proposed e-Privacy
Regulation) are increasingly aimed at protecting individuals’ personal information when it comes to
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marketing and tracking their online activities. This may impose additional burdens for SAP due to
increasing compliance standards that could restrict the use and adoption of SAP's products and
services (in particular cloud services) and make it more challenging and complex to meet customer
expectations. These changing criteria also impact the compliant use of new technology, such as
machine learning and Artificial Intelligence for product development and deployment of intelligent
applications.

Non-compliance with applicable data protection and privacy laws by SAP or any of the subprocessors
engaged by SAP within the processing of personal data could lead to risks. These include, among
others: mandatory disclosure of breaches to affected individuals, customers, and data protection
supervisory authorities; investigations and administrative measures by data protection supervisory
authorities, such as the instruction to alter or stop non-compliant data processing activities, including
the instruction to stop using non-compliant subprocessors; or the possibility of damage claims by
customers and individuals, contract terminations, and potential fines.

In addition, the German Federal Office for the Protection of the Constitution and security industry
experts continue to warn of risks related to a globally growing number of cybersecurity attacks aimed
at obtaining or violating company data including personal data.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial
performance, competitive or financial position, profit, and cash flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: have implemented internal processes and measures to enable SAP to
comply successfully and sufficiently with applicable data protection requirements; anchor data
protection requirements in the mandatory product standards of SAP’s product development lifecycle;
continuously review SAP’s existing standards and policies to address changes to applicable laws and
regulations; continuously enhance our data center operations worldwide; actively monitor legal
developments; engage with political stakeholders and government authorities; and provide clear
governance and guidance on data handling, processing standards, and external communication as
part of our data management framework, specifically incorporating aspects of new technologies such
as those represented in embedded intelligence applications.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be likely, and
classify this risk factor as medium.

Corporate Governance and Compliance Risks

Ethical Behavior: Our global business exposes us to risks related to unethical behavior and
non-compliance with policies by employees, other individuals, partners, third parties, or
entities associated with SAP.

SAP's leadership position in the global market is founded on the long-term and sustainable trust of
our stakeholders worldwide. Our overarching approach is one of corporate transparency, open
communication with financial markets, regulators, and authorities, and adherence to recognized
standards of business integrity. This commitment to recognized standards of business integrity is
formalized in SAP’s COEBC and supporting guidelines.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others: non-
compliance with our policies and violation of compliance related rules, regulations, and legal
requirements including, but not limited to, anti-corruption and anti-bribery legislation in Germany, the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act, and other local laws prohibiting corrupt
conduct; unethical and fraudulent behavior leading to criminal charges, fines, and claims by affected
parties; collusion with external third parties; fraud and corruption; public sector transactions in
territories exposed to a high risk of corruption; or increased exposure and impact on business
activities in highly regulated industries.
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Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, brand,
competitive or financial position, share price, profit, and cash flows.

SAP has encountered situations that required clear messaging and strong action on non-compliance
in the context of corrupt behavior that has the potential to harm our business and reputation. SAP is
continuing to investigate its dealings with the public sector.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: continuously evolve our comprehensive compliance program based on the
three pillars of prevention, detection, and response; improve associated business processes, to
prevent further and future violations; review partner business models, to mitigate risks of corruption
while meeting agility requirements; conduct internal audits of our compliance programs related to
bribery, corruption, and substantial fraud; annually reconfirm commitment to the CoEBC by SAP's
workforce (except where disallowed by local legal regulations); implement compliance policies and
processes aimed at managing third parties and preventing misuse of third-party payments for illegal
purposes, including the performance of compliance due diligence activities prior to the engagement of
third parties; and launched a Partner Integrity Initiative aimed at examining the compliance programs
of partners in SAP’s ecosystem and reviewing the SAP-related deals closed by them. We also
introduced a platform called "Speak Out at SAP" for anyone within and outside of SAP to raise
confidentially and, if desired, anonymously their concerns on ethics and compliance related to our
CoEBC and any law or regulation.

Despite our comprehensive and continuously evolving compliance programs and internal controls,
intentional efforts of individuals to circumvent controls or engage in corruption, especially by way of
collusion with other involved parties, cannot always be prevented.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be likely, and
classify this risk factor as medium.

Operational Business Risks

Sales and Services: Sales and implementation of SAP software and services, including cloud,
are subject to several significant risks sometimes beyond our direct control.

A core element of our business is the successful implementation of software and service solutions.
The implementation of SAP software and cloud-based service deliveries is led by SAP, by partners, by
customers, or by a combination thereof.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others:
implementation risks caused by insufficient or incorrect information provided by customers,
insufficient customer expectation management, including scope, integration capabilities and aspects,
and a lack of purposeful selection, implementation, or utilization of SAP solutions; a lack of customer
commitments and respective engagements; challenges to achieve a seamlessly integrated, sufficiently
automated and aligned service delivery; unrenderable services committed during the sales stage;
inadequate contracting and consumption models based on subscription models for services, support,
and application management; deviations from standard terms and conditions; or statements
concerning solution developments that might be misperceived by customers as commitments on
future software functionalities.

Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit, and cash
flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: integrate risk management processes into SAP’s project management
methods that are intended to safeguard implementations through coordinated risk and quality
management programs; conduct ethical scope reviews and monitoring that are adapted as required
as part of a clearly defined change request process together with respective project governance,
steering, monitoring and controlling activities; and put in place a policy that clearly outlines
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communication rules on future functionalities as well as legal requirements for commitments to
customers.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be unlikely,
and classify this risk factor as medium.

Partner Ecosystem: If we are unable to scale, maintain, and enhance an effective partner
ecosystem, revenue might not increase as expected.

An open and vibrant partner ecosystem is a fundamental pillar of our success and growth strategy. We
have entered into partnership agreements that drive co-innovation on our platforms, profitably expand
our routes to market to optimize market coverage, optimize cloud delivery, and provide high-quality
services capacity in all market segments. Partners play a key role in driving market adoption of our
entire solutions portfolio, by co-innovating on our platforms, embedding our technology, and reselling
or implementing our software.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others: failure to
establish and enable a network of qualified and fully committed partners; failure of partners to
develop sufficient innovative solutions and content on our platforms or to provide high-quality
products or services to meet customer expectations; failure of partners to embed our solutions
sufficiently enough to profitably drive product adoption; failure of partners to adhere to applicable
legal and compliance regulations; failure of partners to transform their business model in accordance
with the transformation of SAP’s business model in a timely manner; and the failure of partners to
comply with contract terms in embargoed or high-risk countries.

If any of these risks materialize, this might have an adverse effect on the demand for our products and
services as well as the partner’s loyalty and ability to deliver. As a result, we might not be able to scale
our business to compete successfully with other vendors, which could have an adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial position, profit, and cash flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: develop and enhance a wide range of partner programs to retain existing
and attract new partners; offer training opportunities for our partners; provide safeguarding services to
customers and partners; introduced a partner delivery quality framework; and implemented a
certification process for third-party solutions to ensure consistent high-quality and seamless
integration.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be unlikely,
and classify this risk factor as medium.

Cloud Operations: We may not be able to properly protect and safeguard our critical
information and assets, business operations, cloud offerings and portfolio presentation, and
related infrastructure against disruption or deficient performance.

SAP is highly dependent on the availability, integrity, and reliability of our infrastructure and the
software used in our cloud portfolio is inherently complex. We are subject to risks and associated
consequences in the following areas, among others: the cloud portfolio or strategic direction of cloud
operations may not fully meet customer demands; customers’ cloud service demands may not match
our data center capacity or control investments; capacity shortages could affect SAP’s ability to deliver
and operate cloud services as expected by or committed to our customers; scalability demands on
infrastructure and operation could lead to cost increases and margin impacts; hyperscaler or
infrastructure instabilities and the lack of availability or comprehensive contractual agreements could
lead to challenges in meeting service level agreement (SLA) commitments; we might lack sufficient
“future skills” for delivering and operating hybrid environments; we might lack the automation,
standardization, and tools to manage and optimize operations and infrastructure; local legal
requirements or changes to data sovereignty may lead to customers relocating their landscapes to a
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different data center; the loss of the right to use hardware purchased or leased from third parties
could affect our ability to provide our cloud applications; disruptions to SAP’s cloud applications
portfolio (such as system outages or downtimes, SAP network failure due to human or other errors,
security breaches, or variability in user traffic for cloud applications) could affect customer SLAs;
hardware failures or system errors might result in data loss or corruption; partner co-location of data
centers might not adhere to our quality standards; or we might not comply with applicable certification
requirements, such as the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS).

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, competitive or
financial position, profit, and cash flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: consolidated and harmonized our data centers and our data protection
measures, which included implementing security information and event management solutions as
well as enforcing network access control; invest significantly in infrastructure and processes to ensure
consistently secure operations of our cloud solutions while continuously improving resistance,
resilience, reusability, and scalability towards a standardized and harmonized portfolio; continuously
enhance our infrastructure landscape capabilities and deployment options, including harmonized,
efficient, and highly repetitive migration services; adhere to stringent SLAs with hyperscalers to ensure
a high-quality customer experience; increase transparency through our continuously enhanced and
expanded SAP Trust Center, ensuring an appropriate level of information, for example, regarding
planned patching activities and associated downtimes; monitor and invest in the continuous
enhancement of our disaster recovery and business continuity capabilities; continuously aim for a
homogeneous landscape that supports the complex infrastructure, application, and security
requirements so that we can deliver the required service level for cloud services in a cost-effective
manner; set up physical access control systems at facilities, multilevel access controls, closed-circuit
television surveillance, security personnel in all critical areas, and recurring social engineering tests for
SAP premises and data centers; control the access to information and information systems using
authorization concepts that include managers and employees being regularly sensitized to the issues
and given mandatory security and compliance trainings; adapt our cloud service delivery to local or
specific market requirements (such as local or regional data centers) and comply with all local legal
regulations regarding data protection and privacy as well as data security; establish contracts and
SLAs with our public cloud partners to ensure that data security and privacy measures meet local
regulatory and compliance standards and SAP’s own standards for data security and privacy; maintain
strict internal policies and controls concerning utilization of our partner’s cloud infrastructure, including
people, process, and technology standards required to ensure compliance and cyber resilience;
closely monitor data center utilization, capacity, and pipeline for subsequent investment planning;
regularly conduct risks reviews, disclosure requests, and audits to ensure public cloud providers meet
SAP's data privacy and security standards; ensure PCl-validated compliance through successful

PCI DSS audits; invest in training and certifications concerning hyperscaler and related next-
generation technologies; and implement best-of-breed tools for IT operations management and
automation.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be unlikely,
and classify this risk factor as medium.

Cybersecurity and Security: Cybersecurity attacks or breaches, and security vulnerabilities in
our infrastructure or services or those of our third-party partners could materially impact our
business operations, products, and service delivery.

SAP delivers a full portfolio of solutions, hosts or manages elements of our customers’ businesses in
the cloud, processes large amounts of data, and provides mobile solutions to users. While SAP
executes each of these areas either directly or through partners and other third parties, our industry
continues to experience a complex and threatening cybersecurity landscape. The severity of these
cybersecurity threats is amplified due to the increasingly sophisticated and malicious global
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landscape in which we operate. This includes third-party data, products, and services that we
incorporate into SAP products and services, and the increasingly advanced obfuscation, control-
circumvention, and related techniques employed by threat actors targeting IT products and
businesses. Should we become aware of unauthorized access to our systems or those of our third-
party partners, we have action plans in place intended to identify and remediate the source and
impact of such events. Like many companies, we and certain of our third-party partners have
experienced and expect to continue to experience cyberattacks and other security incidents that
affect our business. While we experience cybersecurity incidents of various kinds in the ordinary
course of our business, we are not aware of any such incidents that have had a business critical
impact on our business.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in many areas including, but not limited to, an
increasing number of global threat actor attacks using ransomware as their preferred method of attack
as well as unknown bugs, errors and vulnerabilities in our software and systems. We could experience
material exposure to our business operations and service delivery due to disruptions to backups,
disaster recovery or business-continuity management processes, or as the result of malicious or
inadvertent actions by threat actors, employees, contractors, or a host of other parties. Security threats
may also exist due to delayed or insufficient responses to identified issues or other interdependencies
such as cloud service providers and those beyond SAP’s cybersecurity infrastructure and protocols.
Cloud4cC, a third-party provider of data centers and related services supporting SAP’s cloud customers
in certain jurisdictions, recently experienced a ransomware attack that temporarily disrupted
Cloud4C's operations. While Cloud4C identified no unauthorized access to customer data, for a brief
period of time certain customers were unable to access data that was maintained in Cloud4C'’s data
centers. SAP initiated its incident response protocols and worked with Cloud4C to promptly
investigate, contain and remediate the incident. As part of those efforts, SAP issued credits to
impacted customers pursuant to existing service-level agreements for which SAP received
reimbursement from Cloud4C. While the overall fees and costs incurred by SAP to address the
incident were not material, there can be no assurances that similar or more serious attacks impacting
SAP or any third-party providers will not occur in future and that the consequences of such attacks
would not result in a material adverse effect on SAP. Lack of compliance with security controls and
governance to industry standards and regulations by us or third-party partners can impact adherence
to external regulatory and customer requirements. Third parties could unknowingly introduce security
threats and vulnerabilities without established security evaluation processes. Additionally, failure to
integrate or maintain SAP’s cybersecurity infrastructure and protocols with network systems obtained
through acquisitions could result in loss of data confidentiality and integrity, and system availability.

The foregoing types of events could result in a loss of customers or customer opportunities, a
diminished reputation in the marketplace, government investigations or enforcement actions, internal
investigations, litigation including class actions, fines, or penalties, increased costs associated with
remediation or compliance requirements, required changes to our business model or operations, and
a host of other costs and losses, any or all of which could have a material adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial performance, competitive or financial position, profit, and cash flows. In
response to the cybersecurity risk environment it is experiencing, SAP is continuously enhancing its
cybersecurity program, for example by implementing the National Institute of Standards and
Technology Cybersecurity Framework (NIST CSF) and establishing a Cyber Fusion Center (CFC). In
addition, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board continue to increase their governance of and
involvement in cybersecurity matters, for example by focusing on cybersecurity audit and risk
management topics. SAP has established measures intended to address the described risks and
adverse effects, such as the continuous adaptation, standardization, and modification of our security
procedures. This includes, among others: security risk identification, threat modeling, advanced threat
defense, application patches and container security enhancements, and security validation of our
critical components and services before shipment. We increased our investments and resources,
including various internal initiatives to achieve SAP’s objective of ensuring over time that our
cybersecurity infrastructure meets or exceeds evolving industry standards. In addition, we enhanced
the security capabilities in our hosting environment, cloud platforms, and cloud deployment tools,
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including improved monitoring to our infrastructure. Disaster recovery and business continuity plans
are in place to protect our key IT infrastructure including implementation of data redundancies and
backup strategies. In addition, we have set up local and regional crisis management teams to respond
and minimize losses in case of crisis situations. Furthermore, we conduct security certifications and
attestations (such as ISO/IEC 27001, ISO/IEC 22301, SOC, and PCl) and provide our customers with
security white papers, product documentation, and reports from independent auditors and
certification bodies. All employees are required to follow the SAP Global Security Policy, security
standards, procedures, and good practices reinforced by completion of mandatory security and
compliance training. SAP’s third-party risk management process aims to control and achieve
governance in SAP’s third-party ecosystem. Besides conducting risk assessments to gauge a third
party’s risk level, we increase employee and contractor awareness through cybersecurity campaigns
and awareness training. Formalized third-party and partner data privacy and security agreements
require adherence to SAP standards. We also engage experts to advise on appropriate cybersecurity
protocols to further increase attention and understanding of cybersecurity procedures and protection
options. SAP also established the CFC to bring functional teams together and strengthen detection
capability. Additionally, the software security development lifecycle with integrated security features
and functionalities has been applied to increase coordination across our various lines of business,
which in turn improves our ability to detect, identify, and respond to threats in a timely manner.

Despite the foregoing measures, we cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks
associated with this risk factor were to occur, the impact could be business-critical and materially
impact our business and results. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be likely, and classify
this risk factor as high.

Technology and Products: Our technology and products may experience undetected defects,
coding or configuration errors, may not integrate as expected, or may not meet customer
expectations.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others: failure of
software products and services to fully meet market needs or customer expectations; failure of
software products and services from acquired companies to fully comply with SAP quality standards;
failure of new products, services, and cloud offerings, including third-party technologies, to comply
with local standards and requirements; the possibility that new products, services, and cloud offerings
might contain defects or might not be mature enough from the customer’s point of view for business-
critical solutions after shipment despite all the due diligence SAP puts into quality; inability of
algorithms to correctly adapt to evolving circumstances, which may lead to adverse decision-making
processes in the context of Al-related technologies; and the inability to fulfil expectations of customers
regarding time and quality in the defect resolution process.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, brand, competitive or
financial position, profit, and cash flows.

SAP has established measures to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse effects, such
as: a broad range of techniques, including project management, project monitoring, product standards
and governance, and rigid and regular quality assurance measures certified to ISO 9001:2015; a
holistic testing strategy to validate the state of quality and security for every product before market
introduction; the consideration of regular and direct customer feedback; and a comprehensive
certification program designed to ensure that relevant third-party solutions are of consistently high
quality.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be business-critical. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be
likely, and classify this risk factor as high.
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Strategic Risks

Market Share and Profit: Our market share and profit could decline due to increased
competition, market consolidation, technological innovation, and new business models in
the software industry.

The market for cloud computing is increasingly competitive and is exhibiting strong growth relative to
the market for on-premise solutions. To maintain or improve our operating results in the cloud
business, it is important that we not only attract new customers but also that our existing customers
renew their agreements with us when the initial contract term expires and purchase additional
modules or additional capacity. Additionally, we need to bring innovations to the market in line with
the demands of our ecosystem and ahead of our competitors, such as solutions to support new data-
driven applications and the extension of our suite of intelligent technologies based on SAP Business
Technology Platform (SAP BTP).

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others: inability to
deliver fully suitable solution and transformation services to our customers on the cloud
transformation journey, both in cloud-only and hybrid scenarios; inability to successfully execute on
our hyperscaler strategy; adverse, near-term revenue effects due to increasing cloud business and
conversions from on-premise licenses to cloud subscriptions from existing SAP customers, which
could have an adverse effect on related maintenance and services revenue; insufficient solution and
service adoption together with increased complexity, as well as failures during the execution of our
Intelligent Enterprise strategy in the context of our portfolio for solutions and services, which could
lead to a loss of SAP’s position as a leading cloud company and subsequently to reduced customer
adoption; customers and partners being reluctant or unwilling to migrate and adapt to the cloud;
customers considering cloud offerings from our competitors; strategic alliances among competitors;
price pressure, cost increases, and loss of market share through traditional, new, and cooperating
competitors and hyperscalers; and the inability to achieve the planned margin increase in time as
planned.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, brand, competitive or
financial position, profit, and cash flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: share our overall long-term cloud strategy and our integration road map with
our customers; continuously implement improvements to enhance our cloud solutions through our
Intelligent Enterprise strategy; demonstrate the benefits of our solution and services portfolio; enable
and support our customers as they transition from on-premise to the cloud; balance the allocation of
our strategic investments by evolving and protecting our core businesses and simultaneously
developing new solutions, technologies, and business models; offer broader range of services to
support and drive the digital transformation for our customers; continuously drive the solution
integration and harmonization of data models to support integrated business processes, applications,
and technology while focusing on resilience, profitability, and sustainability; enable our portfolio for
hyperscalers to extend customer reach and further meet customer expectations; continue to move
SAP HANA Enterprise Cloud towards a full-stack offering; and increase the share of high-value cloud
application services to further improve the margin.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be business-critical. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be
unlikely, and classify this risk factor as medium.

Mergers and Acquisitions: We might not acquire, integrate, or divest companies or their
components effectively or successfully.

To expand and consolidate our business, we acquire and divest businesses, products, and
technologies, and we expect to continue doing so in the future. Over time, some of these acquisitions
have increased in size and in strategic importance for SAP. Management negotiation of potential
acquisitions and divestures and the integration and carve-out of acquired businesses, products, or

143/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

technologies demands time, focus, and resources of both management and the workforce, and
exposes us to unpredictable operational difficulties.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others: incorrect
information or assumptions during the due diligence process for acquisitions, divestitures, and other
transactions; failure to integrate acquired technologies or solutions successfully and profitably into
SAP’s solution portfolio and strategy; failure to successfully integrate acquired entities and their
operations; failure to fulfill the needs of the acquired company’s customers or partners; failure to
implement, restore, or maintain internal controls, disclosure controls, and procedures and policies
within acquired companies; debt incurrence or significant unexpected cash expenditures; impairment
of goodwill and other intangible assets acquired in business combinations; and failure of acquired
companies to comply with regulatory requirements..

We have in the past, and may in the future, choose to divest certain entities, businesses, or product
lines. We may have difficulty obtaining terms acceptable to us. Additionally, we may experience
difficulty carving out portions of or entire businesses, we may incur a loss of revenue or experience a
negative impact on margins, or we may not achieve the desired strategic and financial benefits. Such
potential transactions may also delay achievement of our strategic objectives, cause us to incur
additional expenses, disrupt customer, partner, and employee relationships, and may expose us to
unanticipated or ongoing obligations and liabilities, including as a result of indemnification obligations.
Further, during the pendency of a divestiture, we may be subject to risks such as a decline in the
business to be divested, a loss of employees, customers, or suppliers, and the risk that the transaction
may not close, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the business to be divested as
well as our retained business. If a divestiture is not completed for any reason, we may not be able to
find another buyer on the same terms, and we may have incurred significant costs without the
corresponding benefit.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, brand, competitive or
financial position, profit, and cash flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate risks and adverse effects. For
example, we: perform technical, operational, financial, and legal due diligence on the company or
assets to be acquired or divested; identify, implement, and track risk mitigation measures for material
transactions or integration risks; and conduct process, risk, and control analyses that are subsequently
integrated into SAP's processes and control framework and supported by mitigations as required by
any specific circumstances to subsequently increase adherence to SAP’s standards and policies.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be unlikely,
and classify this risk factor as medium.

Innovation: We might not be able to compete effectively if we strategize our solution
portfolio ineffectively or if we are unable to keep up with rapid technological and product
innovations, enhancements, new business models, and changing market expectations.

Our future success depends on our ability to keep pace with technological and process innovations
and new business models, as well as on our ability to develop new products and services, enhance
and expand our existing products and services portfolio, and integrate products and services we
obtain through acquisitions. To be successful, we are required to adapt our products and our go-to-
market approach to a cloud-based delivery and consumption model so as to satisfy increasing
customer demand and to ensure an appropriate level of adoption, customer satisfaction, and
retention.

We are subject to risks and associated consequences in the following areas, among others: inability to
develop and sell new cloud products spanning various organizations on time and in line with market
demands due to complexity in heterogeneous technical environments; inability to anticipate and
develop technological improvements or succeed in adapting SAP products, services, processes, and
business models to technological change, changing regulatory requirements, or emerging industry
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standards; a change in requirements of our customers and partners to strengthen the Intelligent
Enterprise strategy; the possibility that our product and technology strategy might not be successful, or
that our customers and partners might not adopt our technology platforms, applications, or cloud
services quickly enough, or that they might consider other competing solutions in the market, or that
our strategy might not match customers’ expectations and needs, specifically in the context of
expanding the product portfolio into additional markets.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, profit,
and cash flows.

SAP has established measures intended to address and mitigate the described risks and adverse
effects. For example, we: continuously align our organization, processes, products, delivery,
commercial and consumption models, and services to changing markets and customer and partner
demands; continuously benchmark, match, and challenge the entire portfolio; focus all investment
decisions related to innovative technologies and solutions on portfolio compatibility and readiness as
well as high customer value; explore future trends as well as the latest technologies; conduct wide-
ranging market and technology analyses and research or co-innovation projects; and make strategic
acquisitions in white spots of our portfolio.

We cannot exclude the possibility that if any one or more of the risks associated with this risk factor
were to occur, the impact could be major. We estimate the probability of occurrence to be unlikely,
and classify this risk factor as medium.

Consolidated Risk Profile

In our view, considering their impact level and likelihood of occurrence, the risks described in our
aggregated risk report do not individually or cumulatively threaten our ability to continue as a going
concern. While individual risks and assessments may have changed during fiscal 2022, our overall risk
profile did not change materially compared to the prior year. Management remains confident that the
Group’s earnings strength forms a solid basis for our future business development and provides the
necessary resources to pursue the opportunities available to the Group. Based on our structured
processes for early risk identification, we are confident that, in 2023, we can continue to counter the
challenges arising from the risks in our current risk profile.
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Expected Developments and
Opportunities

Future Trends in the Global Economy

According to the European Central Bank (ECB) in its most recent Economic Bulletin, the global
economy is expected to grow more slowly and below its long-term average in 2023 but recover
gradually in 2024 and 2025*. It also finds that the global outlook deteriorated over the past months
due to geopolitical uncertainty, high inflation, and tight financial conditions. According to the ECB,
fiscal policy measures might mitigate economic repercussions and dampen inflation in 2023.
However, the global economy could suffer again once the measures were withdrawn. Nevertheless,
the ECB finds significant heterogeneity among economies. Some emerging markets might even
withstand the current headwinds better than developed economies, thanks to lower macro-financial
vulnerabilities and inflation.

For the EMEA region, the ECB expects the recession in the euro area to be relatively short-lived and
shallow. Over the medium term, as the energy market rebalances, economic growth might rebound
due to declining uncertainty, rising real incomes, and resolved supply bottlenecks. Inflation could
decline in 2023 and decrease further in the following years. However, according to the ECB, the
recession in Russia will deepen in 2023. The analysts expect sanctions to have an increasingly
negative impact on the country’'s production capacity, international trade, and domestic demand.

As for the Americas region, inflation in the United States will remain persistent in 2023, the ECB
projects. Together with tight financial conditions, this could cause domestic demand to remain
subdued. Growth in Latin America will probably become slower as well, the ECB says.

Regarding the APJ region, the ECB expects the Japanese economy to grow in 2023 because of the
continued reopening, increasing spending on services, and ongoing policy support. However,
economic growth in Japan could moderate slightly in 2024 and 2025. In China, the new COVID-19
policy might cause a rapid increase in the number of infections and therefore affect economic activity.
Thus, the ECB projects economic activity in China to remain subdued.
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Economic Trends — GDP Growth Year Over Year

Percent 2022 2023p 2024p
World 3.4 29 31
Advanced Economies 2.7 1.2 1.4
Emerging Markets and Developing Economies 3.9 4.0 4.2

Regions (according to IMF taxonomy)

Euro Area 3.5 0.7 1.6
Germany 1.9 0.1 1.4
Emerging and Developing Europe 0.7 15 2.6
Middle East and Central Asia 5.3 3.2 37
Sub-Saharan Africa 3.8 3.8 41
United States 2.0 14 1.0
Canada 3.5 15 15
Latin America and the Caribbean 3.9 1.8 2.1
Japan 1.4 1.8 0.9
Emerging and Developing Asia 4.3 5.3 5.2
China 3.0 5.2 45

p = projection

Source: International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Economic Outlook Update January 2023, Inflation Peaking amid Low Growth
(https://www.imf.org/-/media/Files/Publications/WEO/2023/Update/January/English/text.ashx), p. 6.

The IT Market: Outlook for 2023 and Beyond

“We are entering a new phase of digital business that focuses on enhancing enterprise agility,
resilience, security, and sustainability. Determining the right architectural model for an enterprise's
future-ready digital business demands a more nuanced and considered approach than a simple
cloud-first philosophy.” This is what International Data Corporation (IDC), a U.S.-based market
research firm, says when looking ahead at 2023 and beyond. “Spending on digital technology by
organizations will grow at eight times the economy in 2023, establishing a foundation for operational
excellence, competitive differentiation, and long-term growth,” projects IDC.

“By 2026, 40% of total revenue for G2000 organizations will be generated by digital products, services,
and experiences,” the researchers summarize. “Business-to-consumer industries such as media and
entertainment, retail, and finance are leading the pack on digital revenue generation, with
expectations to generate beyond 50% of their revenues from digital products and services in 2027.
Industries where physical products and value chains are driving revenue generation, such as
manufacturing and utilities, are showing below average values for digital revenues. Nonetheless, their
expectations for the coming years are aligned to the positive trend.”

“IT will need to ensure that the design principles of standardization, openness, resilience, and security
are built into the digital business platform if it is to provide the performance, scale, and agility that the
business needs,” IDC points out for the coming years, adding that “increasingly, [...] data and data
analytics will play an important role in creating innovation. [...] Companies that acquire the right data
set and apply the right analytics to derive key insights and build desirable capabilities will achieve
notable business outcomes.™

According to IDC, sustainability will remain in focus: “By 2024, a quarter of organizations worldwide
will demonstrate responsible leadership by increasing their sustainability-related digital tech spend by
more than 25% from 2022 levels.”® When looking at tech spending approaches to sustainability, IDC
sees a relatively even split between hardware, software, and services spending growth as well as
spend on new sustainability solution suites versus added features to existing solutions.?
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On all accounts, “operationalizing ESG constitutes the next maturity step for organizations’
sustainability journey and requires a technology-enabled infusion of ESG into every part of the
organization,” reports IDC: “By 2024, 30% of organizations will leverage ESG data management
platforms to steer ESG KPIs via a centralized system of record for reporting purposes and real-time
operational decision-making support.” For example, “active carbon management will require real-time
intelligence of carbon performance rather than static point-in-time reporting. Integration of carbon
accounting tools in broader ESG management platforms will enable performance monitoring and risk
workflow capabilities.

 European Central Bank, Economic Bulletin, Issue 8/2022, Publication Date: January 12, 2023.

2 |DC FutureScape: Worldwide Future of Digital Innovation 2023 Predictions, Doc #US48598522, October 2022.

3 IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Digital Business Strategies 2023 Predictions, Doc #CA49743822, October 2022.
41DC FutureScape: Worldwide Sustainability/ESG 2023 Predictions, Doc #US48709922, October 2022.

Impact on SAP

Despite the inflation, ongoing uncertainties in the global economy, and supply chain disruptions as
well as the impact of the war in Ukraine, the resurgence of global demand is noticeable. SAP expects
more companies will choose SAP to help them transform their businesses, build resilient supply
chains, and become intelligent, sustainable enterprises. Many of our customers are focused on
environmental, social, and governance issues when evaluating our portfolio of offerings. Therefore,
SAP’s sustainability program is a key element of our purpose and is embedded throughout our global
strategy. This is manifested in our sustainability management, our solutions for ESG reporting, climate
action and SAP's social responsibility.
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Financial Targets and Prospects

Revenue and Operating Profit Targets and Prospects (Non-IFRS)
Outlook 2023
For the full year 2023, SAP expects:

— €15.3 billion to €15.7 billion in cloud revenue at constant currencies (2022: €12.56 billion), up 22%
to 25% at constant currencies.

— €28.2 billion to €28.7 billion in cloud and software revenue at constant currencies (2022: €26.52
billion), up 6% to 8% at constant currencies.

— €8.8 billion to €9.1 billion non-IFRS operating profit at constant currencies (2022: €8.03 billion), up
10% to 13% at constant currencies.

— The share of more predictable revenue (defined as the total of cloud revenue and software support
revenue) is expected to reach approximately 83% (2022: 79%).

— Afull-year effective tax rate (IFRS) of 28.0% to 32.0% (2022: 44.7%) and an effective tax rate (non-
IFRS) of 26.0% to 28.0% (2022: 29.6%), strongly depending on the development of Sapphire
Ventures' investments.

Furthermore, SAP provides the following additional forward-looking information on selected metrics:
— CCB: A year-end growth rate similar to 2022, while at a larger scale.
— S/4HANA cloud revenue: continued high growth in 2023.

— Cloud gross margin: an increase towards a percentage in the mid-seventies by the end of 2023,
depending on the sales success of S/4HANA private cloud in the first half of the year.

While SAP's full-year 2023 business outlook is at constant currencies, actual currency reported figures
are expected to be impacted by currency exchange rate fluctuations as the Company progresses
through the year. See the table below for the full-year 2023 expected currency impacts. These
currency expectations for the full-year 2023 are based on the December 2022 level.

In percentage points (pp) FYI2023
Cloud revenue growth Opp to -2pp
Cloud and software revenue growth Opp to -2pp
Operating profit growth (non-IFRS) -1pp to -3pp
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The following table shows the estimates of the items that represent the differences between our non-
IFRS financial measures and our IFRS financial measures.

€ millions Estimated Amounts Actual Amounts

for 2023 for 2022
Acquisition-related charges 580-660 610
Share-based payment expenses 2,550-2,850 2,614
Restructuring 250-300 138

In 2023, SAP will conduct a targeted restructuring program in selected areas of the company. The
purpose is to further focus on strategic growth areas by aligning our operating models and go-to-
market approach with our accelerated cloud transformation. SAP will reinvest the savings from the
restructuring program in strategic growth areas. Furthermore, SAP intends to strengthen its core
business and improve overall process efficiency. The program is expected to affect approximately
2.5% of SAP’s employees. The vast majority of the €250 million to €300 million restructuring costs
associated with the program is expected to be recognized in the first quarter 2023, impacting IFRS
operating profit.

Factors Impacting Our Cost of Cloud

Starting January 1, 2023, all activities related to changes in the code of our cloud and on-premise
solutions will be considered development-related activities. Some of those activities, specifically code
corrections, were previously considered support-related activities. This change implies an update to
our cost allocation policy, resulting in an increase in the cloud gross margin by 0.5pp to 1.0pp and an
increase in the software license and support gross margin by approximately 2pp. It also implies an
increase in our R&D ratio, defined as R&D expenses divided by total revenue, by approximately 1pp.

Proposed Dividend

In 2023, we intend to pay a dividend of €2.05 per share (subject to shareholder approval at the
Annual General Shareholders Meeting in May 2023). For more information, see the Financial
Performance. Review and Analysis section.

Medium-Term Prospects

In this section, all numbers (except cloud revenue and total revenue) are based exclusively on non-
IFRS measures.

Total revenue growth is expected to further reaccelerate beyond 2023 toward double digit growth.
By 2025, SAP continues to expect:

— More than €22 billion in cloud revenue

— More than €36 billion in total revenue

— More than €11.5 billion in non-IFRS operating profit

— A non-IFRS cloud gross margin of approximately 80%

— A significant expansion of the Company's more predictable revenue share to approximately 85%
— Free cash flow of approximately €8 billion

SAP expects to update its mid-term ambition in the first half of 2023.

Investment Goals

Our planned investment expenditures for 2023 and 2024, other than for business combinations,
consist primarily of the purchase of IT infrastructure and the construction activities described in the
Assets (IFRS) section. We expect investments in IT infrastructure of approximately €500 million and in
construction activities of approximately €300 million in 2023. In 2023, we expect total capital

150/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

expenditures of approximately €950 million. In 2024, capital expenditures are expected to stay at a
similar level as in 2023.

Goals for Liquidity and Finance

As at December 31, 2022, we had net debt of €2.1 billion. We believe that our liquid assets combined
with our undrawn credit facilities are sufficient to meet our operating financing needs in 2023 as well,
and, together with expected cash flows from operations, will support debt repayments and our
currently planned capital expenditure requirements over the near and medium term.

In 2023, we expect a free cash flow of approximately €5.0 billion (compared to €4.35 billion in 2022)
and we continue to expect a free cash flow of around €8.0 billion in 2025. The increase in free cash
flow is predominantly driven by our expectation of improving operating profit and a gradual shift of
stock-based compensation payments to equity-settled plans. The development of SAP’s free cash
flow also depends on our prepayment policy with regards to hyperscalers. In addition, compared to
2022 we are assuming a steady level of sales of receivables of an upper triple-digit million € figure.
Furthermore, we expect cash outflows tied to our targeted restructuring program for 2023 of around
€300 million.

In 2023, we intend to repay €1.6 billion in Eurobonds and €1.45 billion in bank loans. The ratio of net
debt as at December 31, 2022, divided by the total of operating profit (IFRS) plus depreciation and
amortization was 0.32x, therefore, already below our 2023 target of 0.5x.

Non-Financial Goals 2023 and Ambitions for 2025

In addition to our financial goals, we also focus on three non-financial targets: customer loyalty,
employee engagement, and carbon impact.

For 2023, SAP expects the employee engagement, measured by the Employee Engagement Index to
be in a range of 76% and 80% (2022: 80%). Through 2025, we aim to achieve an Employee
Engagement Index between 84% and 86%.

SAP measures customer loyalty using the Customer Net Promoter Score (Customer NPS). We are
targeting to increase the Customer NPS to a score of 8 to 12 in 2023, SAP expects to steadily
increase the Customer NPS through 2025.

We aim to reach O kt net greenhouse gas emissions in our operations in 2023 (2022: 85 kt). Further,
SAP has also committed to achieve net-zero along our value chain in line with a 1.5 degrees Celsius
future in 2030.

Premises on Which Our Outlook and Prospects Are Based

In preparing our outlook and prospects, we have taken into account all events known to us at the time
we prepared this report that could influence SAP's business going forward. SAP has decided to
explore a sale of its stake in Qualtrics. Any effects resulting from a potential sale of Qualtrics are not
reflected in our financial targets and prospects.

% The guidance is based on an adjusted methodology for 2023 to better reflect the business priorities of the company. The baseline for
2022 calculated using the new methodology is 7.
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Outlook for SAP SE

The primary source of revenue for SAP SE is the license fees we charge subsidiaries for the right to
market and maintain SAP software solutions. Consequently, the performance of SAP SE in operating
terms is closely tied to the cloud and the software revenue of the SAP Group.

Based on the outlook for cloud and software revenue for the SAP Group at constant currency in non-
IFRS in 2023, we expect product revenue for SAP SE in 2023 to increase slightly compared to 2022.

Assuming there are no significant effects from acquisitions or other unforeseeable occurrences in
2023, we expect the operating profit of SAP SE to decrease slightly compared to 2022.

The financial ambitions of the SAP Group for the years 2024 to 2026 provide for future growth of
revenue and profit. We expect that such growth will also result in revenue and profit growth for
SAP SE to the same degree.

We expect that SAP SE will continue to receive investment income in the form of profit transfers and
dividends from its subsidiaries. The growth we expect for the SAP Group should have a positive effect
on this investment income.

The outlook for the SAP Group in respect to liquidity, finance, investment, and dividend are equally
applicable to SAP SE.

Among the assumptions underlying this outlook are those presented above concerning the economy
and our expectations for the performance of the SAP Group.
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Opportunities

Our customers choose SAP as a trusted partner for their digital business transformation. We have
established a framework for opportunity management by evaluating and analyzing key areas such as
current markets, external scenarios, economic conditions, and technological trends. We have also
researched customer and product segmentation, growth drivers, and industry-specific factors for
success. These combined insights play a key role for the Executive Board in the development of our
market strategies. Our shareholder value relies heavily upon a fine balance of risk mitigation and
value-driven opportunities. Therefore, our governance model helps ensure that decisions are based
on return, investment required, and risk mitigation.

As far as opportunities are likely to occur, we have incorporated them into our business plans, our
outlook for 2023, and our medium-term prospects outlined in this report. Therefore, the following
section focuses on future trends or events that might result in an uplift of our outlook and medium-
term prospects should they develop more positively than anticipated in our forecasts.

SAP SE is the parent company of the SAP Group and earns most of our revenue from subscription
fees, software license fees, and dividends paid by affiliates. Consequently, the opportunities described
below also apply — directly or indirectly — to SAP SE.

Opportunities from Economic Conditions

Economic conditions clearly influence our business, financial position, profit, and cash flows. Should
the global economy recover faster than is reflected in our plans today, our revenue and profit may
surpass our current outlook and medium-term prospects. Our medium-term planning considers
changes in market conditions as a result of the ongoing geopolitical and macroeconomic
environments. Although we continue to be mindful of the negative aspects of this global situation, we
take opportunities to further invest into our strategic growth areas.

For more information about future trends in the global economy and the IT market outlook, as well as
their potential influence on SAP, see the beginning of the Expected Developments and Opportunities
section.

Opportunities Through Innovation

Our continued growth through innovation is based on our ability to leverage research and
development (R&D) resources effectively. We continue to improve our products through design
thinking and lean methodologies. We are accelerating innovation cycles, especially in our cloud
solutions, and engaging even more closely with our customers to enable success. Specifically, we
focus on ease of adoption and consumption so customers can receive the benefits from our software
solutions, technologies, and platforms at reduced time to value.

In addition, we continue to expand start-up engagement in strategic opportunity areas, focusing on
startups as customers as well as partners.

Based on our innovation capabilities, we see opportunities to enhance business processes across our
portfolio, driving customer value by enabling modern ways of work, collaboration, and productivity
through the use of the latest intelligent technologies. If these enhancements are appreciated by
customers, it could lead to increased demand across our cloud portfolio. For example, the
accelerated adoption of technology that helps companies transform into more sustainable businesses
could result in additional upsell opportunities for customers migrating to SAP SI4HANA Cloud.

In particular, we see three innovation areas that have the potential to grow beyond our
expectations.

First, with its open APIs and value services, SAP Business Technology Platform (SAP BTP) may be
adopted faster than internally planned. Second, SAP Signavio solutions may garner increased
demand for intelligent automation realized through services such as application lifecycle management
(ALM) and robotic process automation (RPA), for example. Third, we see high-growth potential in the
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areas of sustainability management, working capital management, and business networks. Our
vision to reinvent how the world runs as a network of intelligent, sustainable enterprises is based on
our commitment to helping customers pursue key milestones such as zero emissions, zero waste, and
zero inequality, as well as our conviction that business processes need to become networked to be
more resilient. If this conviction is shared by increasing numbers of customers, this may lead to an
increased demand for our business processes and logic.

For more information about future opportunities in research and development for SAP, see the
Strategy and Business Model section.

Opportunities from Our Strategy for Profitable Growth

SAP strives to generate profitable growth across our portfolio of products, solutions, and services to
keep or improve our market position. Our aim is to continue to expand our addressable market
through the adjustment of our portfolio and our new technologies and innovations. The challenges of
the recent macroeconomic environment has strengthened the readiness in the market to consume
software in the cloud, including core business process platforms. This could result in an even faster
adoption of our core ERP offering in the cloud than anticipated, translating into higher cloud and total
revenue growth from 2023 onwards than currently provided for in our midterm ambition. Greater
efficiency in our cloud operations may also positively affect the profitability of our cloud business.

SAP seeks to establish new business models and leverage our expanding ecosystem of partners to
achieve scale and maximize opportunities. We see additional opportunities in potential future strategic
partnerships, such as those for the migration of critical business systems to the cloud linked to our
RISE with SAP offering.

Our extensive experience in applications and analytics, as well as database and technology, continue
to offer solid multiyear growth opportunities as we bring innovative technologies with simplified
consumption to our installed base and continue to acquire new customers.

The stronger focus on customer success enabled through our shift to a new operating model that
aligns sales, services, and customer engagement activities may positively impact our revenue, profit,
and cash flows. This potential may result in our stated medium-term prospects being exceeded.

Opportunities from Our Ecosystem

SAP’s ecosystem is defined by the interdependent relationships of our customers, our employees, our
suppliers, our partners, and our complementary technology partners. Our ecosystem, which includes
more than 20,000 partners with different areas of expertise, carries the SAP brand into global markets
and expands our portfolio with their expertise, services, and solutions. Our ecosystem includes
partners in four different tracks: partners in the “Build” track develop solutions on top of, or integrate
with, SAP technology and platforms; extending the scope and functionality of SAP solutions to
address customer requirements; partners in the “Sell” track, advise, resell, implement, and support
customers of all types and sizes; partners in the “Service” track (systems integrators) provide strategic
business consulting, system design, solution integration, and project implementation of SAP solutions;
partners in the “Run” track are outsourcing or hosting companies that offer SAP solutions to
customers through a private or public cloud.

SAP and our partner ecosystem offer solutions to help customers grow their businesses and
accelerate their move to the cloud. SAP partners build innovative extensions for SAP applications
based on SAP BTP, and in doing so, enhance the customer value with SAP. By providing innovations
that extend SAP applications, partners can influence the adoption of SAP technologies to support
customers’ unique business needs. Thus, customers maximize their SAP investment through partner
offerings such as solution extensions, industry-specific solutions, line-of-business (LoB) solutions,
added functionality, and sustainability offerings.

Partners constantly respond to the market needs while raising awareness around strategic offerings,
such as RISE with SAP, SAP BTP, and our industry cloud solutions, which help drive the
transformation in the cloud for our customers. Partners offer customers a vast array of SAP
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technologies and services specific to their LoB or industry, making it easy for customers to purchase
the right combination of products, solutions, and services (such as consulting, implementation, and
development) to meet their business needs.

Partners contribute to SAP’s growth by expanding market reach in sales and services, specifically by
retaining and increasing sales to existing customers, attracting new customers, accessing new
markets, and addressing our joint customers’ requirements through their expertise and solution
innovations. Together with all of the aforementioned measures, this may positively impact our
revenue, profit, and cash flows, customer satisfaction and retention, and enable SAP to exceed our
stated medium-term prospects.

Opportunities from Our Employees

Our employees drive innovation, provide value to our customers, and consistently enable our growth
and profitability. We continuously invest in our people with the aim of retaining their high level of
engagement, further strengthening their skills, fostering an agile and innovative organization, and
ensuring a healthy, diverse, and inclusive workforce. By doing so, we anticipate improvements in our
employee productivity and innovation capabilities.

Our outlook and medium-term prospects are based on certain assumptions regarding employee
retention and our Business Health Culture Index. Should these develop at a rate that is better than
expected, employee productivity and engagement may increase. A stronger-than-expected increase in
the Employee Engagement Index can therefore be an opportunity that could positively impact our
revenue, profit, and cash flows, enabling SAP to exceed our stated medium-term prospects.

For more information about future opportunities relating to our employees, see the £Employees
section.

155/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

Consolidated Financial
Statements IFRS

Consolidated Income Statements of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31...................... 158
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income of SAP Group for the Years Ended

DECEMDIET 31 ...ttt ettt ettt e ettt e ettt e e s bt e e e bttt e e eabb e e e s bbt e e e abbeeseabbeeesbbeeeean 159
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position of SAP Group as at December 31 ........cccccceeenneen. 160

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31.161

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31........... 162
Notes 163
(IN.1) Basis fOr Preparation...........oc.eeeeeriieeiniiie ettt ee et e et e e e sttt e e et e e st eeesbeeeesabaeeseaneeas 163
(IN.2) Impact of the War in UKFaiNE ........ccocuieiiiiriiiiieniieeiteeiee ettt ettt ettt et 167
Section A — Customers 168
(ALL) REVENUE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt e et e s et e e s bt e e e aab et e s asb e e e saneeeesabeeeeenteeesnneees 168
(A.2) Trade and Other RECEIVADLES..........ccocciiiiiiieeccee ettt e e e 173
(A.3) Capitalized Cost from Contracts With CUSTOMEIS..........ccecuieeiriiiieeeiiiee e eree e e 174
(A.4)  Customer-Related PrOVISIONS..........ceiecviieieiieeeriieeeeiteeeetreeestreeeesereeeeseeaeeesssseeessseeesnsseens 176
Section B - Employees 177
(B.1) EMPLOYEE HEAACOUNT.... ...ttt e ettt e e e et e e e e e e s abeaeeeeens 177
(B.2) EMPLloyee BENESITS EXPENSES ...cceutiieieiiieeiiiieeeritee ettt eiite e ettt e e et e e st eeesbeeeesabeeeseaneeas 177
(B.3) Share-Based PaymMENtS..........ccoiii ittt ettt ettt e e s et e e e e e s ee s 178
(B.4) Pension Plans and Similar ObLZatioNS..........ccivriiiiiriiiie ittt e 186
(B.5) Other Employee-Related OBLGAtions.........c.eeiiiiiiiieiiieeeiiee et 188
(B.B)  RESIIUCTUIING ...eeeeiiiiieieiiieeette ettt e ettt e et e e e st e e e e bt e e satteeesnbaeeeenbeeesnseaeeenseeeeansaeesanneeas 189
Section C - Financial Results 190
(C.1) RESULLS OF SEEMENES ..ottt ettt e e e e et e e e e e s e sntbreeaeesessnnaraeaeseessnnssseeaeens 190
(C.2) Reconciliation of Segment Measures to the Consolidated Income Statements................... 194
(C.3) Other Non-Operating INCOME/EXPENSE, NEL.....ccuviiieiiiieeiiee et eeeree e e e reeeeere e e 194
(C.4) FIiNanCial INCOME, NEBL ......cii ittt ettt ee e et e e e sbb e e e esebaeeesabbeeesstseeeanssseaenaseeas 195
(O I L3 Tele] 44 T- I 1=V =SSP 195
(C.6) EArNINGS PEI SHAT€.....cccuvviiiiiiieeetiee ettt ettt e e et e e tee e e e tb e e e eabaeeesaabaeesssseeeenssseeenaseeas 199
Section D - Invested Capital 200
(D.1) Business Combinations and DIVESTITUIES............ueeiiieieriiiiiiieeeeeriiiiree e e e eirrreeeeeeesnernreeeens 200
({2072 I €T To o 1/ || PSPPSR 205

156/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

(D.3)  INTANGIDLE ASSELS....uiiiiiiieiciiiiiee ettt e e e eerrre e e e e e e esaraeeeeeesessstbaaeeeeeesssnssrseaeseesssssnreaeens 211
(D.4) Property, Plant, and EQUIPMENT...........oviiiiiiiiiiiieee ettt e e e e e strrr e e e e e e e eeaaaeaee s 213
[( R T =T TSP 214
(D.B)  EQUILY INVESTMENTS. ...eiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e e ettt e e e e eeitree e e e e e esebaeeeeeeeessnsbaseeeeeessnssrseaeseessnssaneaeens 215
(D.7) NoON-Current ASSetS DY REZION .....c.eeiiiiiiiiieeeeee e e et e e e e e e e erraaeaeees 217
(D.8) PUrchase OBLZatiONS ...........uviiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e eerrree e e e e e stbrr e e e e seseaarreeeeeesnnnrsaneaeens 217
Section E - Capital Structure, Financing, and Liquidity 218
(E.1) Capital Structure ManagemENT .......ccoocuuiiiiiiieiiiiiee ettt ettee et ee e et e e st ee e sbbee e esabeeeseaaeeas 218
(E.2)  TOTAl EQUILY .cueeeietieetieetee ettt ettt ettt sttt sttt e st e et e sabe e eabeesabee e bt e sbaeeneesane 219
(E.3)  LHQUILILY ...voveoveceeeeeceeeeee et en s eeee e sses e sseneaes 221
Section F - Management of Financial Risk Factors 226
(F.1) Financial Risk Factors and Risk Management .............ccoceeereeriieeineenniieenee ettt eiee e 226
(F.2) Fair Value Disclosures on Financial INStrUMENTES ..........coceeeiiiriiiiiiieniieeieeeeeee et 240
Section G - Other Disclosures 246
(G.1) Prepaid Expenses and Other TaX ASSELS ......ceiiruiieieiiieeiiiieeeeiiee ettt et ee et e et eeseaeeeas 246
(G.2) Other TaxX LiabililieS .....c.ueeieeiieeeiiiee ettt et e et e et e e s e e e bt e e seaeeeas 246
(G.3) Other Litigation, Claims, and Legal CONtINGENCIES ........ccccuieeiriiieeeiiieeiiee et e 247
(R I =To T 1o o) D1 = Tot (o] ¢TSRS 249
(G.5) Executive and Supervisory Board COmMpPeNnSatioN..........ceecuuieeiriiieeeiiieeeiieeeeiiee e e e 253
(G.6) Related Party Transactions Other Than Board COmpensation ...........ccceecueeeeriieeeenieeeennnnen. 254
(G.7) Principal Accountant FEES and SEIVICES .......ccooruiieiriiiieriiieeeeieeeee sttt e eeitee et eeeebee e s 255
(G.8) Events After the REpOrting PEIOG ..........ciiiuiiiiiiiieeeeiie ettt et e s 256
(G.9) Scope of Consolidation; Subsidiaries and Other Equity INnveStments .........cccccccceeeeiveeennen. 256
(G.10) German Code Of COrporate GOVEINANCE. .........uutiiieieiaiiiiiteeeeeeeetett e e e e s e eieeteeeeeeseabeeeeeeens 268

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in
the Consolidated Financial Statements 270

157/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

il Consolidated Income Statements of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31

€ millions, unless otherwise stated Notes 2022 2021 2020
Cloud 12,555 9,418 8,080
Software licenses 2,056 3,248 3,642
Software support 11,909 11,412 11,506
Software licenses and support 13,965 14,660 15,148
Cloud and software 26,521 24,078 23,228
Services 4,350 3,764 4,110
Total revenue (A.1), (C.2) 30,871 27,842 27,338
Cost of cloud -3,853 -3,105 —-2,699

Cost of software licenses and support -1,694 -1,925 -2,008

Cost of cloud and software -5,547 -5,030 -4,707
Cost of services -3,388 -2,916 -3,178
Total cost of revenue -8,936 -7,946 -7,886
Gross profit 21,935 19,897 19,453
Research and development —6,166 -5,190 —4,454
Sales and marketing -8,943 -7,505 -7,106
General and administration -2,072 -2,431 -1,356
Restructuring (B.6) —-138 -157 3
Other operating income/expense, net 54 43 84
Total operating expenses —-26,200 -23,186 -20,715
Operating profit 4,670 4,656 6,623
Other non-operating income/expense, net (c.3) -195 17 -179
Finance income 820 3,123 1,473
Finance costs —2,205 -949 —-697
Financial income, net (C.4) -1,385 2,174 776
Profit before tax (C.2) 3,090 6,847 7,220
Income tax expense (C.5) -1,382 -1,471 -1,938
Profit after tax 1,708 5,376 5,283
Attributable to owners of parent 2,284 5,256 5,145
Attributable to non-controlling interests -576 121 138
Earnings per share, basic (in €) (C.6) 1.95 4.46 4.35
Earnings per share, diluted (in €) (C.6) 1.94 4.46 4.35

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

158/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income of SAP Group for the Years
Ended December 31

€ millions Notes 2022 2021 2020

Al Profit after tax 1,708 5,376 5,283

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements on defined benefit pension plans, before tax 71 43 39
Income taxes relating to remeasurements on defined benefit pension plans -15 -9 -9
Remeasurements on defined benefit pension plans, net of tax 56 34 30
Other comprehensive income for items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax 56 34 30

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gains (losses) on exchange differences on translation, before tax 2,190 2,825 -2,793
Reclassification adjustments on exchange differences on translation, before tax 6 30 0
Exchange differences, before tax 2,195 2,855 -2,793
Income taxes relating to exchange differences on translation -10 -9 1
Exchange differences, net of tax (E.2) 2,186 2,846 -2,792
Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges/cost of hedging, before tax 53 -39 20
Reclassification adjustments on cash flow hedges/cost of hedging, before tax 0 4 -6

Cash flow hedges/cost of hedging, before tax (F.1) 53 -35 14
Income taxes relating to cash flow hedges/cost of hedging -14 9 -4

Cash flow hedges/cost of hedging, net of tax (E.2) 39 -26 10
Other comprehensive income for items that will be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax 2,224 2,819 -2,782
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 2,280 2,853 -2,752
Total comprehensive income 3,988 8,230 2,531
Attributable to owners of parent 4,385 8,058 2,393
Attributable to non-controlling interests —396 172 138

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2 consolidated Statements of Financial Position of SAP Group as at December 31

€ millions Notes 2022 2021
Cash and cash equivalents (E.3) 9,008 8,898
Other financial assets (D.6), (E.3) 853 2,758
Trade and other receivables (A.2) 6,236 6,352
Other non-financial assets (A.3), (G.1) 2,139 1,633
Tax assets 287 403

Total current assets 18,522 20,044
Goodwill (D.2) 33,106 31,089
Intangible assets (D.3) 3,835 3,965
Property, plant, and equipment (D.4), (D.8) 4,934 4,977
Other financial assets (D.6), (E.3) 5,626 6,275
Trade and other receivables (A.2) 169 147
Other non-financial assets (A.3), (G.1) 3,580 2,628
Tax assets 323 263
Deferred tax assets (C.5) 2,065 1,786

Total non-current assets 53,638 51,130

Total assets 72,159 71,174

Trade and other payables 2,146 1,580
Tax liabilities 283 304
Financial liabilities (E.3), (D.5) 4,808 4,528
Other non-financial liabilities (B.3), (B.5), (G.2) 4,818 5,203
Provisions (A.4), (B.4), (B.5), (B.6) 90 89
Contract liabilities (A.1) 5,309 4,431
Total current liabilities 17,453 16,136
Trade and other payables 79 122
Tax liabilities 893 827
Financial liabilities (E.3), (D.5) 9,547 11,042
Other non-financial liabilities (B.3), (B.5), (G.2) 705 860
Provisions (A.4), (B.4), (B.5), (B.6) 359 355
Deferred tax liabilities (C.5) 241 296
Contract liabilities (A.1) 33 13
Total non-current liabilities 11,858 13,515
Total liabilities 29,311 29,651
Issued capital 1,229 1,229
Share premium 3,081 1,918
Retained earnings 36,418 37,022
Other components of equity 3,801 1,756
Treasury shares —4,341 -3,072
Equity attributable to owners of parent 40,186 38,853
Non-controlling interests (E.2) 2,662 2,670

Total equity (E.2) 42,848 41,523

Total equity and liabilities 72,159 71,174

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity of SAP Group for the Years Ended

December 31
Equity Attributable to Owners of Parent
Non-
€ millions Issued Share Retained Compo:tte:fsr Treasury Total Col:ttreorle“snti Total Equity
Capital Premium Earnings of Equity Shares

Notes (E.2) (E.2) (E.2) (E.2)

1/1/2020 1,229 545 28,783 1,770 -1,580 30,746 76 30,822
£l Profit after tax 5,145 5,145 138 5,283
Other comprehensive income 30 -2,782 -2,752 -2,752

Comprehensive income 5,175 -2,782 2,393 138 2,531

Share-based payments 1 1 1

Dividends -1,864 -1,864 -2 -1,866

Purchase of treasury shares -1,492 -1,492 -1,492

ﬁ?:rr;gsfss in non-controlling 64 64 64

Other changes -4 -4 0 -5

12/31/2020 1,229 545 32,026 -1,012 -3,072 29,716 211 29,927
£l Profit after tax 5,256 5,256 121 5,376
Other comprehensive income 34 2,768 2,802 51 2,853

Comprehensive income 5,290 2,768 8,058 172 8,230

Share-based payments 1,373 1,373 311 1,684

Dividends -2,182 -2,182 -88 -2,271

;r;r;z:::stions with non-controlling 1,033 1,033 2,050 3,083

Other changes —44 —44 14 -30

12/31/2021 1,229 1,918 37,022 1,757 -3,072 38,853 2,670 41,523
£l Profit after tax 2,284 2,284 -576 1,708
Other comprehensive income 56 2,044 2,100 180 2,280

Comprehensive income 2,340 2,044 4,385 -396 3,988

Share-based payments 1,163 1,163 325 1,488

Dividends —-2,865 —-2,865 -29 —-2,895

Purchase of treasury shares -1,500 -1,500 -1,500

i(rllrs:rriiss in non-controlling _92 _92 9 _3

Other changes 13 13 2 15

12/31/2022 1,229 3,081 36,418 3,801 -4,341 40,186 2,662 42,848

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of SAP Group for the Years Ended
December 31
€ millions Notes 2022 2021 2020
Al Profit after tax 1,708 5,376 5,283
Adjustments to reconcile profit after tax to net cash flow from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization (D.2)—(D.4) 1,896 1,775 1,831
Share-based payment expenses (B.3) 2,614 2,794 1,084
il Income tax expense (C.5) 1,382 1,471 1,938
Wl Financial income, net (C.9) 1,385 -2,174 -776
Decrease/increase in allowances on trade receivables 90 -11 68
Other adjustments for non-cash items -173 39 -198
Decrease/increase in trade and other receivables 149 414 821
Decrease/increase in other assets -1,312 —706 —651
Increase/decrease in trade payables, provisions, and other liabilities 163 475 293
Increase/decrease in contract liabilities 685 100 128
Share-based payments (B.3) -1,182 -1,120 -1,310
Interest paid —248 -202 —244
Interest received 166 56 122
Income taxes paid, net of refunds -1,675 —2,063 -1,194
Net cash flows from operating activities 5,647 6,223 7,194
Cash flows for business combinations, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired —-679 -1,142 -662
Cash flows from sale of subsidiaries or businesses 289 =72 203
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment -874 -800 -816
Proceeds from sales of intangible assets or property, plant, and equipment 60 91 88
Purchase of equity or debt instruments of other entities -2,320 —4,368 -2,535
Proceeds from sales of equity or debt instruments of other entities 4,190 3,229 735
Net cash flows from investing activities 667 -3,063 -2,986
Dividends paid (E.2) —2,865 -2,182 -1,864
Dividends paid on non-controlling interests -12 -54 -2
Purchase of treasury shares (E.2) -1,500 0 -1,492
Proceeds from changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the loss of control 33 2,828 95
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards (B.3) —282 0 0
Proceeds from borrowings (E.3) 158 1,680 2,132
Repayments of borrowings (E.3) —1,445 —1,952 -2,430
Payments of lease liabilities —424 -374 -378
Transactions with non-controlling interests (E.2) 0 -2 -59
Net cash flows from financing activities -6,337 -56 -3,997
Effect of foreign currency rates on cash and cash equivalents 134 484 -214
Net decreaselincrease in cash and cash equivalents 109 3,587 -4
I Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period (E.3) 8,898 5,311 5,314
I cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (E.3) 9,008 8,898 5,311

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes

(IN.1) Basis for Preparation

General Information

The registered domicile of SAP SE is in Walldorf, Germany (Commercial Register of the Lower Court of
Mannheim HRB 719915). The Consolidated Financial Statements for 2022 of SAP SE and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “we,” “us,” “our,” “SAP,” “Group,” and “Company”) have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

We have applied all IFRS standards and interpretations that were effective on and endorsed by the
European Union (EU) as at December 31, 2022. There were no standards or interpretations as at
December 31, 2022, impacting our Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, that were effective but not yet endorsed. Therefore, our
Consolidated Financial Statements comply with both, IFRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) and IFRS as endorsed by the EU.

Our Executive Board approved the Consolidated Financial Statements on February 22, 2023, for
submission to our Supervisory Board which approved the Consolidated Financial Statements on the
same day.

All amounts included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are reported in millions of euros

(€ millions) except where otherwise stated. As figures are rounded, numbers presented throughout
this document may not add up precisely to the totals we provide and percentages may not precisely
reflect the absolute figures.

Amounts disclosed in the Notes that are taken directly from our «il Consolidated Income Statements
or our X Consolidated Statements of Financial Position are marked with the symbols .l and 2,
respectively.

Accounting Policies, Management Judgments, and Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

How We Present Our Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

To ease the understanding of our financial statements, we present the accounting policies,
management judgments, and sources of estimation uncertainty (hereafter: accounting policies,
judgments, and estimates) on a given subject together with other disclosures related to the same
subject in the Note that deals with this subject. Accounting policies, judgments, and estimates that do
not relate to a specific subject are presented in the following section.

For easier identification of our accounting policies, judgments, and estimates, the respective
disclosures are marked with the symbol &) and highlighted with a light gray box. They focus on the
accounting choices made within the framework of the prevailing IFRS and refrain from repeating the
underlying promulgated IFRS guidance, unless we consider it particularly important to the
understanding of a Note's content.

163/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

The following table provides an overview of where our accounting policies, management judgments,
and estimates are disclosed:

Note @ Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates
(IN.1) Basis for Preparation

(IN.2) Impact of the War in Ukraine

(A.1) Revenue

(A.2) Trade and Other Receivables

(A.3) Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers
(A.4) Customer-Related Provisions

(B.3) Share-Based Payments

(B.4) Pension Plans and Similar Obligations

(B.5) Other Employee-Related Obligations

(B.6) Restructuring

(C.1) Results of Segments

(C.5) Income Taxes

(D.1) Business Combinations and Divestitures

(D.2) Goodwill

(D.3) Intangible Assets

(D.4) Property, Plant, and Equipment

(D.5) Leases

(D.6) Equity Investments

(E.2) Total Equity

(E.3) Liquidity

(F.1) Financial Risk Factors and Risk Management
(F.2) Fair Value Disclosures on Financial Instruments
(G.3) Other Litigation, Claims, and Legal Contingencies
(G.5) Executive and Supervisory Board Compensation

General Accounting Policies

Bases of Measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the
following:

— Derivative financial instruments, liabilities for cash-settled share-based payments, and financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal or interest are measured at fair
value.

— Post-employment benefits are measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligations
less the fair value of the plan assets.

— Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at period-end
exchange rates.

— The financial statements of our subsidiaries to which hyperinflation accounting applies are restated.

164/335



SAP SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

Foreign Currencies

Income and expenses and operating cash flows of our foreign subsidiaries that use a functional
currency other than the Euro are translated at average rates of foreign exchange (FX) computed on a
monthly basis. Exchange differences resulting from foreign currency transactions are recognized in
other non-operating income/expense, net.

The exchange rates of key currencies affecting the Company were as follows:

Exchange Rates

Middle Rate Annual Average Exchange Rate

Equivalent to €1 as at 12/31
2022 2021 2022 2021 2020
Australian dollar AUD 1.5693 1.5615 1.5174 1.5747 1.6554
Canadian dollar CAD 1.4440 1.4393 1.3703 1.4835 1.5294
Swiss franc CHF 0.9847 1.0331 1.0052 1.0814 1.0703
Pound sterling GBP 0.8869 0.8403 0.8526 0.8600 0.8892
Japanese yen JPY 140.66 130.38 138.01 129.86 121.78
U.S. dollar usb 1.0666 1.1326 1.0539 1.1835 1.1413

Cost Classification
Cost of Cloud and Software

Cost of cloud and software includes the costs incurred in providing the services and producing the
goods that generate cloud and software revenue. Consequently, this line item primarily includes
employee expenses relating to these services, amortization of acquired intangibles, fees for third-party
licenses, depreciation of our property, plant, and equipment (for example, of our data centers in which
we host our cloud solutions), and costs for third-party hosting services. For more information about
the capitalization of costs from contracts with customers, see Note (A.3).

Cost of Services

Cost of services includes the costs incurred in providing the services that generate service revenue.
Consequently, this line item primarily includes employee expenses and related training, system and
system administration costs, and costs for third-party resources.

Research and Development

Research and development includes the costs incurred by activities related to the development of
cloud and software solutions including resource and hardware costs for the development systems. For
more information about the recognition of internally generated intangible assets from development,
see Note (D.3).

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing includes the costs incurred for the selling activities (such as sales commissions
and amortization of capitalized sales commissions) and marketing activities related to our software
and cloud solutions and our service portfolio. For more information about the capitalization of costs
from contracts with customers, see Note (A.3).
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General and Administration

General and administration includes the costs related to finance and administrative functions, human
resources, and general management as long as they are not directly attributable to one of the other
operating expense line items.

@ Management Judgments and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires our management to make
judgments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent
liabilities.

We base our judgments, estimates, and assumptions on historical and forecast information, and on
regional and industry economic conditions in which we or our customers operate. Changes to these
conditions could adversely affect our estimates. Although we believe we have made reasonable
estimates about the ultimate resolution of the underlying uncertainties, no assurance can be given
that the final outcome of these matters will be consistent with what is reflected in our recognized
assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses and disclosed contingent liabilities. Actual results could
differ significantly from original estimates.

The accounting policies that most frequently or significantly require us to make judgments, estimates,
and assumptions, and therefore are critical to understanding our results of operations, include the

following:
Note © significant Accounting Policies
(A.1) Revenue recognition
(A.2) Valuation of trade receivables
(A.4), (G.3) Accounting for legal contingencies
(B.3) Accounting for share-based payments
(C.5) Accounting for income taxes
(D.1) Accounting for business combinations
(D.2) Accounting for goodwill
D.3) Accounting for intangible assets (including recognition of internally generated intangible assets from
development)
(D.6) Accounting for equity investments

Our management periodically discusses these significant accounting policies with the Audit and
Compliance Committee of our Supervisory Board.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

The IASB has issued various amendments to IFRS standards (such as IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial
Statements)) that are relevant for SAP but not yet effective. We are currently assessing the impact on
SAP, but do not expect material effects on our financial position or results of operations.
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(IN.2) Impact of the War in Ukraine

Management Judgments and Estimates Due to the Impact of the War in Ukraine

Management judgments and estimates can affect the amounts and reporting of assets and liabilities
as at the reporting date, and the amounts of income and expense reported for the period. Due to the
global consequences of the ongoing war in Ukraine, these management judgments and estimates
continue to be subject to uncertainty. Actual amounts may differ from the management judgments
and estimates; changes could have a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements. All
available information on the expected economic developments was included when updating the
management judgments and estimates. This information was also included in the analysis of the
recoverability and collectability of assets and receivables.

We will continue to analyze possible future effects of the war in Ukraine on the measurement of
individual assets and liabilities.

In 2022, SAP’s business was impacted by the war in Ukraine and SAP’s decision to wind down its
business operations in Russia and Belarus. We evaluated the resulting impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements. In the course of our analysis, which was based on quantitative and qualitative
aspects, we considered, for example, the impact on individual bad debt provisions on our trade
receivables and restructuring expenses including severance payments to employees, and
impairments of our current and non-current assets (sales commissions and property, plant, and
equipment). Furthermore, we assessed the impact on goodwill and the need to record further
liabilities resulting from the wind-down.

For more information about the impacts of the war in Ukraine and SAP’s exit from Russia and Belarus,
see Note (A.1) concerning our revenues, Note (A.2) concerning trade and other receivables,

Note (B.6) concerning restructuring, Note (D.2) concerning goodwill, and Nofe (D.4) concerning
property, plant, and equipment.

Other future impacts due to this rapidly evolving situation are currently unknown and could potentially
subject our business to materially adverse consequences should the situation escalate beyond its
current scope.
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Section A - Customers

This section discusses disclosures related to contracts with our customers. These include but are not
limited to explanations of how we recognize revenue, revenue disaggregation, and information about
our trade receivables and customer-related obligations.

(A.1) Revenue

Accounting for Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Classes of Revenue

We derive our revenue from fees charged to our customers for the use of our cloud offerings, for
licenses to our on-premise software products, and for standardized and premium support services,
consulting, customer-specific software developments, training, and other services.

Cloud and software revenue, as presented in our Consolidated Income Statements, is the sum of
our cloud revenue, our software license revenue, and our software support revenue.

Cloud revenue represents fees earned from providing customers with any of the following:

Software as a service (Saas), that is, a right to use software functionality (including standard
functionalities and custom cloud applications and extensions) in a cloud-based infrastructure hosted
by SAP or third parties engaged by SAP, where the customer does not have the right to terminate the
hosting contract and take possession of the software to either run it on its own IT infrastructure or to
engage a third-party provider unrelated to SAP to host and manage the software; SaaS also includes
transaction and agent fees for transactions that customers of our network business execute on our
cloud-based transaction platforms.

Platform as a service (PaaS), that is, access to a cloud-based platform to develop, deploy, integrate,
and manage applications.

Infrastructure as a service (laaS), that is, hosting and related application management services for
software hosted by SAP or third parties engaged by SAP.

Premium cloud support, that is, support beyond the regular support embedded in the underlying
cloud subscription services.

Software license revenue represents fees earned from the sale or license of software to customers
for use on the premises owned or fully controlled by the customer, in other words, where the
customer has the right to take possession of the software for installation on the customer’s premises
or on hardware of third-party hosting providers unrelated to SAP (on-premise software). Software
license revenue includes revenue from both the sale of our standard software products and customer-
specific on-premise-software development agreements.

Software support revenue represents fees earned from providing customers with standardized
support services that comprise unspecified future software updates, upgrades, and enhancements as
well as technical product support services for on-premise software products.

Services revenue primarily represents fees earned from professional consulting services, premium
support services, and training services.

Identification of Contract

We frequently enter into multiple contracts with the same customer. For accounting purposes, we
treat these contracts as a single contract if they are entered into at or near the same time and are
economically interrelated. We do not combine contracts with closing days more than three months
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apart because we do not consider them being entered into near the same time. Judgment is required
in evaluating whether various contracts are interrelated, which includes considerations as to whether
they were negotiated as a package with a single commercial objective, whether the amount of
consideration on one contract is dependent on the performance of the other contract, or if some or all
goods in the contracts are a single performance obligation.

New arrangements with existing customers can be either a new contract or the modification of prior
contracts with the customer. Our judgment in making this determination considers whether there is a
connection between the new arrangement and the pre-existing contracts, whether the goods and
services under the new arrangement are highly interrelated with the goods and services sold under
prior contracts, and how the goods and services under the new arrangement are priced. In
determining whether a change in transaction price represents a contract modification or a change in
variable consideration, we examine whether the change in price results from changing the contract or
from applying unchanged existing contract provisions.

Identification of Performance Obligations

Our customer contracts often include various products and services. Typically, the products and
services outlined in the Classes of Revenue section qualify as separate performance obligations and
the portion of the contractual fee allocated to them is recognized separately. Judgment is required,
however, in determining whether a good or service is considered a separate performance obligation.
In particular for our professional services and implementation activities, judgment is required to
evaluate whether such services significantly integrate, customize, or modify the on-premise software
or cloud service to which they relate. In this context, we consider the nature of the services and their
volume relative to the volume of the on-premise software or cloud service to which they relate. In
general, the implementation services for our cloud services go beyond pure setup activities and
qualify as separate performance obligations. Similarly, our on-premise implementation services and
our custom development services typically qualify as separate performance obligations. Non-distinct
goods and services are combined into one distinct bundle of goods and services (combined
performance obligation).

When selling goods or services, we frequently grant customers options to acquire additional goods or
services (for example, renewals of cloud or support arrangements, or additional volumes of purchased
cloud solutions or software). We apply judgment in determining whether such options provide a
material right to the customer that the customer would not receive without entering into that contract.
In this judgment, we consider, for example, whether the options entitle the customer to a discount that
exceeds the discount granted for the respective goods or services sold together with the option.

Determination of Transaction Price

We apply judgment in determining the amount to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer. Generally, variable consideration is estimated
based on the most likely amount and is included in the transaction price to the extent that the
constraint does not apply. This includes estimates as to whether and to what extent subsequent
concessions may be granted to customers and whether the customer is expected to pay the
contractual fees. In this judgment, we consider our history with the respective customer or on a
portfolio basis.

The recognition constraint is applied to on-premise software transactions that include usage-based or
sales-based contingent fees. In contrast, our typical cloud services do not provide the customer with a
software license because the customer does not have the right to terminate the hosting contract and
take possession of the software. Consequently, variable cloud fees are considered in the transaction
price based on estimates, rather than being accounted for as usage-based or sales-based license
royalties.

Only very rarely do our contracts include significant financing components. We do not account for
financing components if the period between when SAP transfers the promised goods or services to
the customer and when the customer pays for those goods or services is one year or less.
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Allocation of Transaction Price

We have established a hierarchy to identify the standalone selling prices (SSPs) that we use to
allocate the transaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations in the contract.

— Where standalone selling prices for an offering are observable and reasonably consistent across
customers (that is, not highly variable), our SSP estimates are derived from our respective pricing
history. Typically, our standardized support offerings and our professional service offerings follow
this approach.

— Where sales prices for an offering are not directly observable or highly variable across customers,
we use estimation techniques. For renewable offerings with highly variable pricing across
customers, these techniques consider the individual contract's expected renewal price as far as this
price is substantive. Typically, our cloud offerings follow this approach. For non-renewable
offerings, these estimations follow a cost-plus-margin approach.

— For offerings that lack renewals, have highly variable pricing, and lack substantial direct costs to
estimate based on a cost-plus-margin approach, we allocate the transaction price by applying a
residual approach. We use this technique in particular for our standard on-premise software
offerings.

Judgment is required when estimating SSPs. To judge whether the historical pricing of our goods and
services is highly variable, we have established thresholds of pricing variability. For judging whether
contractual renewal prices are substantive, we have established floor prices which include a minimum
margin that we use as SSPs whenever the contractual renewal prices are below these floor prices. In
judging whether contracts are expected to renew at their contractual renewal prices, we rely on our
respective renewal history. The SSPs of material right options depend on the probability of option
exercise. In estimating these probabilities, we apply judgment considering historical exercise patterns.

We review the SSPs periodically or whenever facts and circumstances change to ensure the most
objective input parameters available are used.

Recognition of Revenue

Cloud revenue is recognized over time as the services are performed. For cloud business models
where we grant rights to continuously access and use one or more cloud offerings for a certain term,
revenue is recognized based on time elapsed and thus ratably over this term. For cloud business
models provisioned on a consumption basis where a customer commits to a fixed value of spend on
cloud services throughout the contract term, but with the discretion to call off cloud services during
the contract term, we recognize revenue based on consumption as it best reflects our measure
towards satisfaction of that performance obligation. In limited scenarios where the transaction price is
entirely variable and determined by the customer’s consumption, we recognize revenue based on
usage in the period in which it was earned.

Software license revenue is recognized at a point in time or over time depending on whether we
deliver standard software, customer-specific software, or software subscription contracts that combine
the delivery of software and the obligation to deliver, in the future, unspecified software products:

— Licenses for our standard on-premise software products are typically delivered by providing the
customer with access to download the software. We recognize revenue for these on-premise
licenses at the point in time when we grant the license rights to the customer and the customer has
access to and thus control over the software. In judging whether our on-premise software offerings
grant customers a right to use, rather than a right to access, our intellectual property, we have
considered the usefulness of our software without subsequent updates to it.

— Typically, our customer-specific on-premise software development agreements:

= Represent software developed for specific needs of individual customers and therefore do not
have any use for us

= Provide us with an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date
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For such development agreements, we recognize revenue over time as the software development
progresses. Judgment is required in identifying an appropriate method to measure the progress
toward complete satisfaction of such performance obligations. We typically measure progress of
our development agreements based on the direct costs incurred to date in developing the software
as a percentage of the total reasonably estimated direct costs to fully complete the development
work (percentage-of-completion method). This method of measuring progress faithfully depicts the
transfer of the development services to the customer, as substantially all of these costs are cost of
the staff or third parties performing the development work. In estimating the total cost to fully
complete the development work, we consider our history with similar projects.

— For agreements that combine the delivery of software and the obligation to deliver, in the future,
unspecific software products, we recognize revenue at a point in time for licenses that are made
immediately accessible to the customer. We recognize revenue ratably over the term of the
software subscription contract for the unspecified software products, as our performance obligation
is to stand ready to deliver such products on a when-and-if-available basis.

Software support revenue is typically recognized based on time elapsed and thus ratably over the
term of the support arrangement. Under our standardized support services, our performance
obligation is to stand ready to provide technical product support and unspecified updates, upgrades,
and enhancements on a when-and-if-available basis. Our customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits of these support services as we perform.

Service revenue is typically recognized over time. Where we stand ready to provide the service (such
as access to learning content), we recognize revenue based on time elapsed and thus ratably over the
service period. Consumption-based services (such as separately identifiable consulting services and
premium support services and classroom training services) are recognized over time as the services
are utilized, typically following the percentage-of-completion method or ratably. When using the
percentage-of-completion method, we typically measure the progress toward complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation in the same way and with the same reasoning and judgment as we do for
customer-specific on-premise software development agreements. We apply judgment in determining
whether a service qualifies as a stand-ready service or as a consumption-based service.

Revenue for combined performance obligations is recognized over the longest period of all promises
in the combined performance obligation.

Judgment is also required to determine whether revenue is to be recognized at a point in time or over
time. For performance obligations satisfied over time, we need to measure progress using the method
that best reflects SAP’s performance. When using cost incurred as a measure of progress for
recognizing revenue over time, we apply judgment in estimating the total cost to satisfy the
performance obligation.

All of the judgments and estimates mentioned above can significantly impact the timing and amount
of revenue to be recognized.

Contract Balances

We recognize trade receivables for performance obligations satisfied over time gradually as the
performance obligation is satisfied and in full once the invoice is due. Judgment is required in
determining whether a right to consideration is unconditional and thus qualifies as a receivable.

Contract liabilities primarily reflect invoices due or payments received in advance of revenue
recognition.

Typically, we invoice fees for on-premise standard software on contract closure and software delivery.
Periodic fixed fees for cloud subscription services, software support services, and other multi-period
agreements are typically invoiced yearly or quarterly in advance. Such fee prepayments account for
the majority of our contract liability balance. Fees based on actual transaction volumes for cloud
subscriptions and fees charged for non-periodical services are invoiced as the services are delivered.
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While payment terms and conditions vary by contract type and region, our terms typically require
payment within 30 to 60 days.
Geographic Information

The amounts for revenue by region in the following tables are based on the location of customers.
The regions in the following table are EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa), Americas (North
America and Latin America), and APJ (Asia Pacific Japan).

Total Revenue by Region

€ millions 2022 2021 2020
Germany 4,504 4,343 4,015
Rest of EMEA 8,577 8,246 8,052
EMEA 13,081 12,589 12,067
United States 10,811 8,870 9,110
Rest of Americas 2,484 2,099 1,996
Americas 13,295 10,969 11,106
Japan 1,242 1,301 1,305
Rest of APJ 3,253 2,984 2,859
APJ 4,495 4,285 4,165
.l SAP Group 30,871 27,842 27,338

Major Revenue Classes by Region

Cloud Revenue Cloud and Software Revenue

€ millions
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
EMEA 4,293 3,308 2,608 11,236 10,931 10,364
Americas 6,687 4,894 4,439 11,333 9,348 9,239
APJ 1,575 1,217 1,033 3,952 3,798 3,625
.l SAP Group 12,555 9,418 8,080 26,521 24,078 23,228

For information about the breakdown of revenue by segment and segment revenue by region, see
Note (C.1).

In 2022, SAP’s business was impacted by the war in Ukraine and SAP’s decision to wind down its
business operations in Russia and Belarus. Compared to the previous year, revenue was
approximately €220 million lower.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Amounts of a customer contract’s transaction price that are allocated to the remaining performance
obligations represent contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized. They include amounts
recognized as contract liabilities and amounts that are contracted but not yet due.

The transaction price allocated to performance obligations that were unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied as at December 31, 2022, was €48.9 billion (December 31, 2021: €39.9 billion). The
transaction price thereof allocated to cloud performance obligations that were unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied as at December 31, 2022, was €34.2 billion (December 31, 2021: €25.3 billion). The
remaining amount mostly comprises obligations to provide software support services. The vast
maijority of software support contracts are contracts in the renewal phase that typically have a one-
year contract term, while cloud subscription contracts typically are multiple-year contracts. The portion
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of remaining performance obligations related to services consists of non-cancelable revenue from
contracts for projects with a predefined output.

Overall, about half of the remaining performance obligations is expected to be recognized over the
next 12 months following the respective balance sheet date. This estimate is based on our best
judgment, as it, for example, needs to consider estimates of possible future contract modifications or
customers’ deployment of the solutions. The amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations, and changes in this amount over time, are impacted by, among others:

— Currency fluctuations

— The contract period of our cloud and software support contracts remaining at the balance sheet
date and thus by the timing of contract renewals

Contract Balances

The following table presents the activities impacting contract liabilities balances during the year ended
December 31, 2022:

Contract Liabilities

€ billions 2022
T 1/1/2022 4.4
Increases resulting from billing and invoices becoming due 10.9
Decreases resulting from satisfaction of performance obligations -10.1
Other* 0.1
T 12/31/2022 5.3

1 Other includes, for example, the impact of foreign currency translation and business combinations.

The amount of revenue recognized in the reporting period that was included in the contract liability
balance at the beginning of the reporting period was €4.1 billion (December 31, 2021: €3.6 billion).

(A.2) Trade and Other Receivables

@ Accounting for Trade and Other Receivables

We measure trade receivables and contract assets from contracts with customers at amortized cost
less expected credit losses. We account for expected credit losses by recording an allowance on a
portfolio basis. We apply the simplified impairment approach. On initial measurement of the
receivables, we consider all credit losses that are expected to occur during the lifetime of the
receivables. We use a provision matrix to estimate these losses.

Additionally, we recognize allowances for individual receivables if there is objective evidence of credit
impairment.

Account balances are written off either partially or in full if we judge that the likelihood of recovery is
remote.

For information about how the default risk for trade receivables is analyzed and managed, how the
loss rates for the provision matrix are determined, how credit impairment is determined and what our
criteria for write-offs are, see the section on credit risk in Note (F.1).

In our Consolidated Income Statements, net gains/losses from expected credit loss allowances are
included in Other operating income/expense, net. Gains/losses from foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations are included in Other non-operating income/expense, net.
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Determining our expected credit loss allowance involves significant judgment. In this judgment, we
primarily consider our historical experience with credit losses in the respective provision matrix risk
class and current data on overdue receivables. We expect that our historical default rates represent a
reasonable approximation for future expected customer defaults. Besides historical data, our
judgment used in developing the provision matrix considers reasonable and supportable forward-
looking information (for example, changes in country risk ratings, and fluctuations in credit default
swaps of the countries in which our customers are located).

The assessment of whether a receivable is collectible involves the use of judgment and requires us to
make assumptions about customer defaults that could change significantly.

By applying this judgment, we record an allowance for a specific customer when it is probable that a
credit loss has occurred and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. Basing the expected
credit loss allowance for the remaining receivables primarily on our historical loss experience likewise
requires judgment, as history may not be indicative of future development. Also, including reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information in the loss rates of the expected credit loss allowance
requires judgment, as they may not provide a reliable prediction for future development.

Trade and Other Receivables

2022 2021
€ miions Current Cu:lrz:; Total Current Cu'r\er:; Total
Trade receivables, net 5,782 0 5,782 5,887 1 5,888
Other receivables 454 169 623 465 146 611
I Total 6,236 169 6,405 6,352 147 6,499

The impact of the war in Ukraine has significantly increased the credit risk on our trade receivables in
Russia and Belarus. The expected credit loss in Russia and Belarus in 2022 was €62 million
(2021: €5 million).

Contract assets as at December 31, 2022, were €343 million (December 31, 2021: €360 million).

For more information about financial risk, how we manage credit risk, and details of our trade
receivables and contract assets allowances, see Note (F.1).

(A.3) Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

Costs of Obtaining Customer Contracts

Capitalized costs from customer contracts are classified as Other non-financial assets in our
statement of financial position.

The capitalized assets for the incremental costs of obtaining a customer contract consist of sales
commissions earned by our sales force and partners as well as amounts paid to employees with non-
sales roles when the payments meet the definition of being an incremental cost to obtain a contract
with a customer. Judgment is required in determining the amounts to be capitalized, particularly
where the commissions are based on cumulative targets and where commissions relate to multiple
performance obligations in one customer contract. We capitalize such cumulative target commissions
for all customer contracts that count towards the cumulative target but only if nothing other than
obtaining customer contracts can contribute to achieving the cumulative target. Commissions for
contracts with multiple performance obligations or for probable renewals thereof are allocated to
these performance obligations and probable renewals relative to the respective standalone selling
price.

Our sales commission payments for customer contract renewals are typically not commensurate with
the commissions paid for new contracts. Thus, the commissions paid for renewable new contracts
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also relate to expected renewals of these contracts. Consequently, we amortize sales commissions
paid for new customer contracts on a straight-line basis over the expected contract life including
probable contract renewals. Judgment is required in estimating these contract lives. In exercising this
judgment, we consider our expectation about future contract renewals which we evaluate periodically
to confirm that the resulting amortization period properly reflects the expected contract life or if there
are potential indicators of impairment. Commensurate payments are amortized over the contract term
to which they relate. The amortization periods range from 18 months to nine years depending on the
type of offering. Amortization of the capitalized costs of obtaining customer contracts is classified

mainly as sales and marketing expense.

We expense incremental costs of obtaining a customer contract as incurred if we expect an

amortization period of one year or less.

Costs to Fulfill Customer Contracts

Capitalized costs incurred to fulfill customer contracts mainly consist of direct costs for set-up and
implementation of cloud products and custom cloud development contracts as far as these costs are
not in scope of other accounting standards than IFRS 15. These costs are amortized after completion
of the setup and implementation or the development, respectively, on a straight-line basis over the
expected life of the cloud subscription contract including expected renewals. For the life of the
contract, we consider our expectation about future contract renewals which we evaluate periodically
to confirm that the resulting amortization period properly reflects the expected contract life. The
amortization periods range from six to eight years depending on the type of offering. In addition, the
capitalized costs include third-party license fees which are amortized over the term of the third-party
license contract. Judgment is required in evaluating whether costs are directly related to customer
contracts and in estimating contract lives.

Amortization of capitalized costs to fulfill contracts for custom cloud applications and extensions is

included in the cost of cloud.

Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

2022 2021

€ millions

Current Non-Current Total Current  Non-Current Total
Capitalized cost of obtaining 871 2812 3684 667 2,158 2.826
customer contracts
Capitalized cost to fulfill 164 206 370 126 175 201
customer contracts
Capitalized contract cost 1,036 3,019 4,054 793 2,333 3,127
I Other non-financial assets 2,139 3,580 5,719 1,633 2,628 4,261
Capitalized contract cost
as % of 2 Other non-financial 48 84 71 49 89 73
assets
Amortization Expense
€ millions 2022 2021

I

Capitalized cost of obtaining customer contracts 762 523
Capitalized cost to fulfill customer contracts 243 171
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(A.4) Customer-Related Provisions

@ Expected Contract Losses

Customer-related provisions mainly include expected contract losses. We adjust these provisions as
further information becomes available and as circumstances change. Non-current provisions are
measured at the present value of their expected settlement amounts as at the reporting date.

The unit of account for the identification of potential onerous customer contracts is based on the
contract definition of IFRS 15 including the contract combination guidance. The economic benefits
considered in the assessment comprise the future benefits we are directly entitled to under the
contract as well as the anticipated future benefits that are the economic consequence of the contract
if these benefits can be reliably determined.

Customer-Related Litigation and Claims

Customer-related provisions also include obligations resulting from customer-related litigation and
claims. We are currently confronted with various claims and legal proceedings, including claims that
relate to customers demanding indemnification for proceedings initiated against them based on their
use of SAP software, and occasionally claims that relate to customers being dissatisfied with the
products and services that we have delivered to them. The obligations arising from customer-related
litigation and claims comprise cases in which we indemnify our customers against liabilities arising
from a claim that our products infringe a third party’s patent, copyright, trade secret, or other
proprietary rights.

Due to uncertainties relating to these matters, provisions are based on the best information available.
Significant judgment is required in the determination of whether and when a provision is to be
recorded and what the appropriate amount for such provision should be. Notably, judgment is
required in the following areas:

— Determining whether an obligation exists

— Determining the probability of outflow of economic benefits

— Determining whether the amount of an obligation is reliably estimable

— Estimating the amount of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation

At the end of each reporting period, we reassess the potential obligations related to our pending
claims and litigation and adjust our respective provisions to reflect the current best estimate. In
addition, we monitor and evaluate new information that we receive after the end of the respective
reporting period, but before the Consolidated Financial Statements are authorized for issue, to
determine whether this provides additional information regarding conditions that existed at the end of
the reporting period. Changes to the estimates and assumptions underlying our accounting for legal
contingencies, and outcomes that differ from these estimates and assumptions, could require material
adjustments to the carrying amounts of the respective provisions recorded and additional provisions.
The expected timing or amounts of any outflows of economic benefits resulting from these lawsuits
and claims are uncertain and not estimable, as they generally depend on the duration of the legal
proceedings and settlement negotiations required to resolve the litigation and claims and the
unpredictability of the outcomes of legal disputes in several jurisdictions.

Contingent liabilities exist in respect of customer-related litigation and claims for which no provision
has been recognized. It is not practicable to estimate the financial impact of these contingent liabilities
due to the uncertainties around these lawsuits and claims as outlined above.
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Section B - Employees

This section provides financial insights into our employee benefit arrangements. It should be read in
conjunction with the compensation disclosures for key management personnel in Note (G.5).

(B.1) Employee Headcount

The following table provides an overview of employee headcount, broken down by function and by
the regions EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa), Americas (North America and Latin America), and
APJ (Asia Pacific Japan).

Employee Headcount by Region and Function

12/31/2022 12/31/2021 12/31/2020

Full-time equivalents
EMEA Americas APJ Total EMEA Americas APJ Total EMEA Americas APJ Total
Cloud and software 5,672 4,617 5,247 15,536 5,947 4,586 5,113 15,646 6,278 4,589 5,525 16,392
Services 8,247 5,580 5,841 19,669 8,229 5,491 5,924 19,644 8,175 5,934 5,733 19,842

Research and 16,606 6,416 11,100 34,122 15,347 6326 10,571 32,244 13,705 6,004 9,781 29,580

development
Sales and
ueio 12,207 12,511 5831 30,548 11,136 11,598 5481 28215 10,348 10,485 5000 25,834
General and 3,466 2,186 1,280 6,932 3,374 2,306 1,199 6,879 3,285 2,161 1,243 6,689
administration
Infrastructure 2,800 1,440 914 5,154 2,609 1,353 824 4786 2,291 1,107 696 4,094

SAP Group

48,999 32,749 30,213 111,961 46,641 31,660 29,113 107,415 44,082 30,369 27,979 102,430
(December 31)

Thereof 188 214 8 410 462 407 45 914 609 97 75 781
vaUlSlthnS
SAP Group
(months’ end 48,408 32,668 29,939 111,015 45359 30,651 28,354 104,364 43,340 30,306 27,830 101,476
average)

(B.2) Employee Benefits Expenses

€ millions 2022 2021 2020
Salaries 12,140 10,635 10,413
Social security expenses 1,894 1,589 1,439
Share-based payment expenses 2,614 2,794 1,084
Pension expenses 479 408 419
Employee-related restructuring expenses 85 25 -7
Termination benefits outside of restructuring plans 44 101 72
Employee benefits expenses 17,256 15,552 13,420
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(B.3) Share-Based Payments

@ Accounting for Share-Based Payments
Classification in the Income Statement

Share-based payments cover cash-settled and equity-settled awards issued to our employees. The
respective expenses are recognized as employee benefits and classified in our Consolidated Income
Statements according to the activities that the receiving employees perform.

Valuation, Judgment, and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

We use certain assumptions in estimating the fair values for our share-based payments, including
expected share price volatility and expected dividend yields. In addition, the final number of
Performance Share Units (PSUs) vesting also depends on the achievement of performance indicators.
Furthermore, the payout for cash-settled share units depends on our share price on the respective
vesting dates. Changes to these assumptions and outcomes that differ from these assumptions could
require material adjustments to the carrying amount of the liabilities we have recognized for these
share-based payments. The fair value of the share units granted under the LTI 2016 Plan is dependent
on our performance against a group of peer companies (Peer Group Index), the volatility, and the
expected correlation between the price of the index and our share price. The fair value of the share
units granted under the LTI 2020 are dependent on our performance against the total shareholder
return (TSR) for NASDAQ-100 companies, the volatility, and the expected correlation between the
TSR of the NASDAQ-100 companies and our TSR.

Regarding future payout under our cash-settled plans, the SAP share price is the most relevant factor.
With respect to our LTI 2016 Plan, we believe that future payout will be significantly impacted not only
by our share price but also by the relative performance against the Peer Group Index. With respect to
our LTI 2020, we believe that future payout will be significantly impacted not only by our share price
but also by the relative TSR performance against the NASDAQ-100 companies. Future payouts under
our LTI 2020 will also be dependent on meeting non-market-based performance conditions based on
SAP's long-term strategy. The latter, however, is not incorporated into our fair value calculation but
leads to adjustments of the quantity of awards granted. Changes in these factors could significantly
affect the estimated fair values as calculated by the valuation model, and the future payout.

Under certain programs, we grant our employees discounts on share purchases. If those discounts are
not dependent on future services to be provided by our employees, the discount is recognized as an
expense when the discounts are granted.

Presentation in the Statements of Cash Flows

We present the payments of our cash-settled share-based payment plans separately in our
Statements of Cash Flows under Cash flows from operating activities. As a result, the changes in other
assets and in other liabilities presented in the reconciliation of operating cash flow do not consider
share-based payment-related assets or liabilities.

Payments for taxes related to the net share settlement for our equity-settled share-based payment
plans are presented separately in our Statement of Cash Flows under Cash flows from financing
activities.
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The operating expense line items in our income statement include the following share-based payment
expenses:

Share-Based Payment Expenses by Functional Area

€ millions 2022 2021 2020
Cost of cloud 68 59 40
Cost of software licenses and support 70 70 55
Cost of services 281 266 175
Research and development 625 513 296
Sales and marketing 773 655 360
General and administration 798 1,230 157
Share-based payment expenses 2,614 2,794 1,084

Thereof cash-settled share-based payments 355 1,147 893

Thereof equity-settled share-based payments 2,258 1,647 191

Our major share-based payment plans are described below.

a) Cash-Settled Share-Based Payments
SAP Long-Term Incentive Program 2020 (LTI 2020)

The LTI 2020 is a long-term, multiyear performance-based element of Executive Board compensation
that is granted in annual tranches. The LTI 2020 reflects SAP's long-term strategy and thus sets
uniform incentives to achieve key targets from the long-term strategic plans. The LTI 2020 also serves
to reward the Executive Board members for long-term SAP share price performance as compared to
the market, thus ensuring that shareholders’ interests are also honored. In addition, the LTI 2020
includes a component to ensure long-term retention of our Executive Board members.

The LTI 2020 is a virtual share program under which annual tranches with a term of approximately four
years each are granted. When the individual tranches are granted, a certain grant amount specified in
the Executive Board member’s service contract is converted into virtual shares (share units). For this
purpose, the grant amount is divided by the price of the SAP share which corresponds to the
arithmetic mean of the SAP share price on the 20 trading days after scheduled publication of the
preliminary results for the fourth quarter and the year as a whole (grant price). The share units
allocated are composed of 1/3 Financial Performance Share Units (FSUs), 1/3 Market Performance
Share Units (MSUs), and 1/3 Retention Share Units. All three types of share units have a vesting
period of approximately four years. In contrast to Retention Share Units, FSUs and MSUs are subject
to changes in quantity. In this context, the following applies:

The number of FSUs initially awarded is multiplied by a performance factor. The performance factor
consists of three equally weighted individual performance indicators relating to the three non-IFRS
KPIs at constant currencies, derived from SAP’s long-term strategy: total revenue, cloud revenue, and
operating income. The performance period throughout which the target achievement for these three
KPIs is measured starts at the beginning of the financial year in which the FSUs are awarded and
concludes upon the end of the second year following the year in which the share units were awarded.
A numerical target value equaling 100% target achievement is set for each KPI. This constitutes, in
each case, a cumulative value for the three years of the performance period.
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The number of MSUs initially awarded is likewise multiplied by a performance factor. The
performance factor depends on the amount of the TSR on the SAP share, measured for an entire
performance period of approximately three years, compared to the TSR for NASDAQ-100 companies.
If the TSR on the SAP share equals the median, the performance factor will be 100%. If the TSR on
the SAP share over the performance period is negative, the maximum performance factor will,
however, in deviation from the summary above, be 100%.
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The performance of the share units is linked to the performance of the SAP share price, including
dividend payments. Accordingly, an amount is paid out for each share unit which equals the SAP
share price plus those dividends disbursed in respect of an SAP share in the period from the
beginning of the year in which the share units were awarded until the end of the third year following
the year in which the share units were awarded. The arithmetic mean of the SAP share price on the
20 trading days after scheduled publication of the preliminary results for the fourth quarter and the
year as a whole will be used as the SAP share price. The payout amount per share unit, including the
dividend amounts due on the share units, is capped at 200% of the grant price. The tranche is cash-
settled and paid in euros after the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the corresponding year.

If an Executive Board member’s service contract is terminated before the end of the third year
following the year in which the share units were granted, the Retention Share Units and PSUs are
forfeited in whole or in part, depending on the circumstances of the relevant resignation from office or
termination of the service contract.
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Long-Term Incentive 2016 Plan (LTI 2016 Plan)

The purpose of the LTI 2016 Plan was to reward our Executive Board members for the annual
achievement of SAP’s operating profit (non-IFRS at constant currencies) targets, to ensure long-term
retention of our Executive Board members, and to reward them for the long-term SAP share price
performance as compared to its main peer group (Peer Group).

An LTI tranche was granted annually and has a term of four years (2016-2019 tranches). Each grant
started with determining a grant amount in euros. The grant amount was based on the Executive
Board members’ contractual LTI target amount and the operating profit target achievement for the
previous year. The Supervisory Board set the grant amount at a level between 80% and 120% of the
contractual LTI target amount, taking into account the operating profit target achievement. This grant
amount was converted into virtual shares, referred to as share units, by dividing the grant amount by
the grant price. The grant price was the arithmetic mean of the XETRA closing prices of the SAP share
on the 20 trading days following the publication of SAP'’s fourth-quarter results.

All share units granted in this way, comprising 60% PSUs and 40% Retention Share Units, have a
vesting period of approximately four years. At the end of the vesting period, the corresponding share
units are non-forfeitable. The payout price used for the settlement is the arithmetic mean of the
XETRA closing prices of the SAP share on the 20 trading days following the publication of SAP’s
fourth-quarter results subsequent to the end of the vesting period. The payout price is capped at
300% of the grant price. The LTI tranche is cash-settled and paid in euros after the Annual General
Shareholders’ Meeting of the corresponding year.

The number of PSUs ultimately paid out depends on the performance of the SAP share — absolute
and relative to the Peer Group Index. In contrast, the final number of Retention Share Units is fixed.
SAP’s absolute share price performance is measured by comparing the grant price against the payout
price. If the SAP share price performance equals the Peer Group Index performance over the same
period, the performance factor is set at 100%. If the SAP share price performs better than the Peer
Group Index (measured as difference between SAP share price performance and Peer Group Index
performance), the performance factor is increased by the percentage point of the outperformance of
the SAP share price. The percentage point is doubled if, additionally, the payout price is higher than
the grant price. The performance factor is capped at 150%. If the Peer Group Index performs better
than the SAP share price, the performance factor is decreased by the percentage point of the
outperformance of the Peer Group Index. All PSUs lapse if the performance factor is below 50%.

Cash-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move) Including Grow SAP Plan

To retain and engage executives and certain employees, we granted virtual shares under Move
representing a contingent right to receive a cash payment determined by the SAP share price and the
number of share units that ultimately vest. Under our previous policy, we serviced obligations arising
from the plan with cash payments, but starting in 2022, we intend to settle share units granted from
then on predominantly in shares. For more information about the terms and conditions of the equity-
settled Move SAP Plan, see section b) Equity-Settled Share-Based Payments in this Nofe (B.3).
Obligations from outstanding share units granted before 2022 will continue to be settled in cash.

In June 2020, 2021, and 2022 respectively, we granted share units under the Grow SAP Plan that we
intend to settle in cash. This fixed term plan has broadly the same terms and conditions as the
Move SAP Plan, recognizes all employees’ commitment to SAP’s success, and deepens their
participation in our future company performance. In previous years, grants under the COVID-19
Recognition Plan and the Restricted Stock Unit Plan were also included.

Different vesting schedules apply to specific share units. Granted share units under the respective
plans will vest in different tranches, as follows:

— Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) with service condition only

- Over a half-year period,
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- Over a three-year period on annual basis,
- Over a three-year period on a quarterly basis after a waiting period of six months, or

— Performance Share Units (PSUs) with service condition and upon achieving certain key
performance indicators (KPIs)

- Over a three-year period, or
- Over a three-year period on a quarterly basis after a waiting period of 12 months.

From 2021 onwards, the number of PSUs that will vest under the different tranches is mainly

contingent upon achievement of two equally weighted KPIs in the year of grant: operating profit (non-
IFRS at constant currencies) and cloud revenue (at constant currencies). Until 2021, operating profit

(non-IFRS at constant currencies) was the only KPI. Depending on the weighted average

performance, the number of PSUs vesting ranges between 0% and 200% of the number initially
granted. Performance against the KPI target was 84.3% in 2022 (2021: 130.9%, 2020: 100.4%). The

share units granted as cash-settled PSUs are paid out in cash upon vesting.

The valuation of our outstanding cash-settled plans was based on the following parameters and

assumptions:

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2022

€, unless otherwise stated (2L0T1I92$r1a6nzfl1aer; (20;:—;8;2 (2019—'\28\2/2
Tranches) Tranches)
Weighted average fair value as at 12/31/2022 67.81 94.83 94.78
Information how fair value was measured at measurement date
Valuation model used Monte Carlo Monte Carlo Other*
Share price 96.39 96.39 96.39
Risk-free interest rate, depending on maturity (in %) 0.37 NA NA
Expected volatility (in %) 27 2410 31 NA
Expected dividend yield (in %) 2.03 NA 2.03
Weighted average remaining life of awards outstanding as at 12/31/2022 (in years) 0.2 23 0.8

1 For these awards, the fair value is calculated by subtracting expected future dividends, if any, until maturity of the respective award from

the prevailing share price as at the measurement date.

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2021

LTI 2016 Plan LTI 2020 Move
€, unless otherwise stated (2018-2019 (2020-2021 (2018-2021
Tranches) Tranches) Tranches)
Weighted average fair value as at 12/31/2021 64.16 118.73 122.88
Information how fair value was measured at measurement date
Valuation model used Monte Carlo Monte Carlo Other*
Share price 124.90 124.90 124.90
Risk-free interest rate, depending on maturity (in %) —0.72t0 -0.12 NA —0.72t0 -0.32
Expected volatility (in %) 21 30to 32 NA
Expected dividend yield (in %) 1.52 NA 1.52
Weighted average remaining life of awards outstanding as at 12/31/2021 (in years) 0.7 2.8 11

* For these awards, the fair value is calculated by subtracting expected future dividends, if any, until maturity of the respective award from

the prevailing share price as at the measurement date.

For the LTI 2016 Plan valuation, the Peer Group Index price on December 31, 2022, was US$432.27
(2021: US$593.37); the expected dividend yield of the index of 1.16% (2021: 1.00%), the expected
volatility of the index of 32% (2021: 17% to 18%), and the expected correlation of the SAP share price
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and the index price of 39% (2021: 35% to 36%) are based on historical data for the SAP share price
and index price.

For the LTI 2020 valuation, the NASDAQ-100 Total Return Index on December 31, 2022, was
US$12,994.57 (2021: US$19,217.94). The expected volatility of the NASDAQ-100 companies of 36%
to 41% (2021: 36% to 38%), and the expected correlation of SAP and the NASDAQ-100 companies of
269% to 32% (2021: 31% to 34%) are based on historical TSR data for SAP and the NASDAQ-100
companies.

The risk-free interest rate is derived from German government bonds with a similar duration. The SAP
dividend yield is based on expected future dividends.

Changes in Outstanding Awards

LTI 2016 Plan LTI 2020 Move
Thousands, unless otherwise stated (2018-2019 (2020-2022 (2018-2022
Tranches) Tranches) Tranches)
12/31/2020 767 172 16,993
Granted 0 238 12,204
Adjustment based upon KPI target achievement -150 NA 153
Exercised -92 0 —-8,092
Exchanged NA NA -1,309
Forfeited -57 -70 -1,165
12/31/2021 469 340 18,783
Granted? 0 206 2,997
Adjustment based upon KPI target achievement -122 NA -36
Exercised =77 0 —8,869
Forfeited 0 0 -1,016
12/31/2022 270 546 11,859
Total carrying amount (in € millions) of liabilities as at
12/31/2021 28 15 1,260
12/31/2022 18 23 752
Total intrinsic value of vested awards (in € millions) as at
12/31/2021 38 4 0
12/31/2022 22 3 0
Weighted average share price (in €) for awards exercised in
2021 106.68 NA 107.69
2022 106.59 NA 97.35
Total expense (in € millions) recognized in
2020 -9 6 760
2021 -11 9 1,139
2022 -2 8 346

2 We have changed the classification of some share units granted under the Move plan with the initial intention to settle in shares from
equity-settled to cash-settled because a cash outflow became probable. Share units with switched classification are considered in the
number of granted share units.
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Share-Based Payment Balances

2022 2021

€ millions
Current Non-Current Total Current Non-Current Total
Share-based payment liabilities 524 279 803 839 462 1,302
I Other non-financial liabilities 4,818 705 5,523 5,203 860 6,063
Share-based payment liabilities 11 0 15 16 54 21

as % of 2 Other non-financial liabilities

b) Equity-Settled Share-Based Payments
Equity-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move)

Starting in 2022, we decided to grant share units under Move that we intend to settle in shares instead
of cash. Most of the share units vest quarterly over three years after a six-month waiting period. In
addition, PSUs are subject to the achievement of two equally weighted KPIs in the year of grant:
operating profit (non-IFRS at constant currencies) and cloud revenue (at constant currencies).

Different vesting schedules apply to specific share units. Granted share units will vest in different
tranches as follows:

— RSUs with service condition only
- Over a half-year period,
- Over a three-year period on a quarterly basis after a waiting period of six months, or
— PSUs with service condition and upon achieving certain key performance indicators (KPIs)
- Over a one-year period,
- Over a three-year period on a quarterly basis after a waiting period of 12 months.

We intend to settle the share units classified as equity-settled by reissuing treasury shares upon
vesting (for more information, see Note (E.2)).

Own SAP Plan (Own)

Under Own, employees have the opportunity to purchase, on a monthly basis, SAP shares without
any required holding period. The investment per each eligible employee is limited to a percentage of
the respective employee's monthly base salary. SAP matches the employee investment by 40% and
adds a subsidy of €20 per month for non-executives. As part of SAP’s 50th anniversary celebration,
SAP’s contribution was temporarily doubled from 40% to 80% from January to March 2022,
contributing to the peak in 2022. This plan is not open to members of the Executive Board.

Numbers of Shares Purchased

Millions 2022 2021 2020

Oown 9.2 5.7 55

As a result of our Own SAP Plan, we have commitments to grant SAP shares to employees. We have
fulfilled and intend to continue to meet these commitments through an agent who administers the
equity-settled programs and purchases shares on the open market.

Qualtrics Equity Awards
Qualtrics Omnibus Plan (Qualtrics Plan)

Quialtrics grants equity awards settled with Qualtrics shares to eligible employees and the executive
officers of Qualtrics. Qualtrics intends to meet these commitments by issuing shares. Granted units
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are either RSU awards subject to a time-based vesting, or PSUs subject to the achievement of certain
performance conditions, as established by Qualtrics’ board of directors and measured annually
(Qualtrics RSUs).

Granted share units will vest in different tranches as follows:
— RSUs with service condition only
- Over a four-year period on a quarterly basis,
- Over a four-year period on a quarterly basis after a waiting period of six or 12 months, or

— PSUs with service condition and upon achieving certain non-market-based Qualtrics performance
conditions

- Over a four-year period on an annual basis.
Pre-Acquisition Qualtrics Awards and Exchange Offer

In conjunction with the acquisition of Qualtrics in 2019, under the terms of the acquisition agreement,
SAP exchanged unvested Restricted Share Awards (RSAs), Restricted Share Units (RSUs),
Performance Share Units (PSUs), and options held by employees of Qualtrics into cash-settled share-
based payment awards of SAP (Qualtrics Rights). After completion of a voluntary exchange offer for
eligible Qualtrics employees in conjunction with the IPO on January 28, 2021, 5.4 million cash-settled
Qualtrics Rights and 1.3 million SAP RSU awards were exchanged into 12.8 million equity-settled
Quialtrics RSU awards. The terms and conditions of the voluntary exchange offer, including the
exchange ratio, were designed to preserve the intrinsic value of the Qualtrics Rights and SAP RSUs
that were tendered. The modification date fair value of the Qualtrics RSU awards was US$30.00,
which is equivalent to the Qualtrics IPO price. Furthermore, a subsequent exchange offer for certain
Qualtrics employees in Australia took place in September 2021.

Recognized Expense

€ millions 2022 2021 2020
Own 307 200 191
Quialtrics Plan 1,164 1,426 NA
Move (2022 Tranches) 768 NA NA
Others 19 21 0
Total 2,258 1,647 191

The valuation of our outstanding equity-settled plans at grant date was based on the following
parameters and assumptions:

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Grant Date in 2022

Move .
herwi: P
€, unless otherwise stated (2022 Tranches) Qualtrics Plan

Weighted average fair value as at grant date 93.80 US$ 20.69

Information how fair value was measured at grant date

Valuation model used Other® Other®
Weighted average share price 97.61 US$20.69
Weighted average expected dividend yield (in %) 2.43 0
Weighted average initial life at grant date (in years) 1.6 2.1
Weighted average remaining life of awards outstanding as at 12/31/2022 (in years) 1.2 24

3 For these awards, the fair value is calculated by subtracting expected future dividends, if any, until maturity of the respective award from
the prevailing share price as at the measurement date.

The weighted average remaining life of Qualtrics Plan awards outstanding as at December 31, 2021
(in years) was 3.0 years and the weighted average grant date fair value was US$44.27. The fair value
of the equity-settled share unit rights at grant date was estimated by taking the share price of the

185/335



SAP Integrated Report 2022

To Our Combined Group Consolidated Financial Further Information on Additional
Stakeholders Management Report Statements IFRS Sustainability Information

underlying shares on that date less expected dividends. The fair values of our equity-settled Qualtrics
Plan equal the Qualtrics share price at grant date, as the expected dividend yield is 0%.

Changes in Outstanding Awards

Thousands, unless otherwise stated (2022 Tranz/lhoevse; Qualtrics Plan
12/31/2020 NA 0
Exchanged NA 12,872
Granted NA 80,856
Exercised NA 7,467
Forfeited NA -2,241
12/31/2021 NA 84,018
Granted* 15,371 35,490
Adjustment based upon KPI target achievement -139 0
Exercised -3,258 -34,320
Forfeited -470 -7,048
12/31/2022 11,504 78,140

“We have changed the classification of some share units granted under the Move plan with the initial intention to settle in shares from
equity-settled to cash-settled because a cash outflow became probable. Share units with switched classification are considered in the
number of granted share units.

(B.4) Pension Plans and Similar Obligations
Defined Contribution Plans

Amounts for domestic and foreign defined contribution plans are based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries or on the amount of contributions made by employees. In Germany and some
other countries, we make contributions to public pension sche